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Ladies and gentlemen: 

We close a period of great change and evolution 
for the OHL Group, fundamentally marked by 
the signing of the agreement for the sale of 100% 
of the social capital of OHL Concesiones S.A.U. 
to IFM Investors, a fund which is a reference at 
an international level that has 71,000 million 
dollars under its management. Due to this trans-
action, the activity of OHL Concesiones has 
been classified as interrupted activity in the Con-
solidated Annual Accounts of the OHL Group.

The operation was approved, after the closing of 
this tax year, by the Special General Shareholders 
Meeting of the OHL Group, held on January 9, 
2018. Among other conditions, it is subject to 
the obtainment of the perceptive authorization 
of the competent Mexican authorities, of other 
consents from financial entities and public ad-
ministrations and the approval and launching by 
IFM or an affiliate, of a takeover bid on the so-
cial capital of OHL México, S.A.B. de C.V. that 
is not property of IFM at the time of the closing 
of the operation.

The closing of the transaction took place accord-
ing to the terms of the share purchase agreement 
signed on November 30th 2017, that values 
OHL Concesiones in 2,775 million euros (Enter-
prise Value), resulting in a net cash consideration 
in favor of OHL, after the adjustments estab-
lished in the Agreement (net debt, exchange rates 
and cash contributed to greenfield projects), of 
2,158 million euros. The amount of net capital 
gains of the transaction is 48 million euros.

This operation opens a new stage characterized 
by a solid financial position and a simplified 
debt structure. This has led the qualification 
agency Moody’s to improve, for the first time in 
over six years, our company’s qualification situ-
ating it this past December at B3 from Caa1 and 
keeping it in revision to value possible raises.

With respect to the operation of the OHL 
Group, during the 2017 tax year, we have been 
obligated to make very painful decisions that 
have had an important impact on the organiza-
tion. Outstanding is the application of a collec-

Juan Villar-Mir de Fuentes. Chairman of the Board of Directors.
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tive dismissal procedure in OHL, S.A. and OHL 
Industrial S.L. due to economic, productive 
and organizational reasons, in the framework 
of measures to reduce costs that allow assuring 
the sustainability of the company and guarantee 
its viability.

At an operative level, the activity of OHL Con-
strucción shows evident signs of recuperation in 
terms of the improvement of the EBITDA and 
the generation of cash flow. The contracting ca-
pacity stands out totaling 2,300 million euros, 
having a healthy and diversified project portfo-
lio, after narrowing down and almost eliminat-
ing the so called legacy projects. Likewise, the 
principal magnitudes of the OHL Group exper-
iment a change in scale after the sale of OHL 
Concesiones.

Beyond the operative level, I would like to make 
a brief reflection on the fact that in the first part 
of the 2018 tax year, hand in hand with our 
new CEO, D. Juan Osuna, we will be centered 
on the closing of the sale of OHL Concesiones 
to IFM Investors to subsequently start a new or-
ganizational model that will permit us to adapt 
to our new business reality, which is one of a 
company principally centered in the construc-
tion business.

We will try to implement a more simplified 
organizational model, prioritizing the pairing 
rentability-risk in the face of growth, with an 
efficient geographic focus and reinforcing man-
agement by projects and the risk control mech-
anisms.

In the terms of sustainability, we total nearly 15 
years demonstrating our voluntary commitment 
with sustainable development and the creation 
of economic, social and environmental value. 

We materialize our efforts in this area through 
corporate policies and with the adhesion to 
the principal international initiatives and rec-
ommendations, led by organizations such as 
the United Nations (Global Compact, Guid-
ing Principles on Business and Human Rights 
and the Sustainable Development Objectives), 
the Guidelines for the Organization and Co-
operation of Economic Development (OCDE) 
for multinational companies and the Tripartite 
Declaration of the International Labor Organ-
ization (OIT).

To this we add our commitment with RDI as 
a growth and productivity factor – we have 12 

families of patents in 26 countries and maintain 
alliances with over 40 centers of investigation 
and universities in 14 countries– and our com-
mitment for an economy low in carbon, after 
obtaining the maximum “A” qualification for 
the third consecutive year, in the CDP Climate 
Change List, composed of only 9% of the com-
panies with the highest score in the world.

In the matter of labor integration of vulnerable 
groups, we have seen our work receive recog-
nition obtaining important distinctions and we 
will keep working in this area with the collab-
oration of Voluntarios OHL, who celebrated 
their tenth anniversary in 2017 and benefiting 
over 20,000 persons in this period.

To finish, ladies and gentlemen, I would like to 
highlight our absolute commitment with Good 
Governance, having as a priority the transpar-
ency and compliance of the recommendations 
in this matter for directors and employees as a 
whole, in their daily activity. 

Likewise, I have to manifest my appreciation to 
all those persons that make up the human team 
of this Group and that, with their talent and 
commitment, contribute daily to the growth 
and development of the communities in which 
we work. To all of them, as well as to our share-
holders and the whole of our interest groups, 
I want to transmit our most sincere apprecia-
tion, in my name as well as in the name of the 
Board of Directors which I am honored to pre-
side. Their confidence is what motivates us to 
continue working with enthusiasm and effort, 
providing our best service to society.

Chairman of The Board of Directors
Juan Villar-Mir de Fuentes
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GROUP PROFILE

Obrascón Huarte Lain (OHL), an international concessions and construction group, 
carries on its activity primarily in the US, Canada, Mexico, Colombia, Peru, Chile, 
Spain and Central Europe. 

•	 A strategic promotor of public-private partnerships. 
•	 The thirty-seventh largest international contractor, tenth in the US and fourth in 

Latin America .
•	 A benchmark in hospital and railway construction. 
•	 A member of the FTSE4Good IBEX sustainability stock market index. 
•	 A reference in the low-carbon economy: Leader in CDP Climate Change (A List) 

and in water resource management (A List Water). 

In the framework of a responsible performance of its activity, OHL is committed to 
the main initiatives and guidelines led by international organisations such as the 
United Nations - Global Compact, Guiding Principles for Business and Human Rights 
and Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs), the Organisation for Economic Coop-
eration and Development (OECD) and the Tripartite Declaration of the International 
Labour Organization (ILO).
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WORLDWIDE PRESENCE

Home markets
Other countries 
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GLOBAL OHL GROUP DATA                                                    Data at 31/12/2017

Sales: 3,216.4 Mn€
Employees: 21,464
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GROUP PERFORMANCE AND 
MAIN MILESTONES IN 2017 

2017 represents a year of transition for the OHL 
Group, marked by the signing of an agreement 
(Share Purchase Agreement) for the sale of all 
the share capital of OHL Concesiones, S.A.U. 
(OHL Concesiones) to the fund IFM Investors 
(IFM).

As a result of this transaction, the Concessions 
business was classified as a discontinued oper-
ation in the consolidated financial statements, 
the profit or loss from these operations was in-
cluded separately in the statement of profit or 
loss, along with that corresponding to non-con-
trolling interests and the figures for 2016 were 
restated. Both the non-current assets and liabil-
ities of this activity are classified as held for sale 
in the consolidated balance sheet.

The enterprise value of the transaction was EUR 
2,775.0 million (net of project finance), which 
will be paid on completion of the transaction, 
subject to the usual price adjustments in trans-
actions of this nature (net debt, exchange rate, 
and cash contributed from greenfield projects). 
The Group estimates that after these adjust-
ments the net price paid will be approximately 
EUR 2,235.0 million. 

The transaction was approved by the share-
holders at an Annual General Meeting of OHL 
held on 9 January 2018, and is conditional 

upon, inter alia, the obtainment of the required 
authorisation from the competent Mexican 
authorities, the obtainment of a waiver from 
certain financial creditors, and the approval 
and launch of a tender offer by IFM Investors 
or a subsidiary for the share capital of OHL 
México, S.A.B. de C.V. not owned by IFM at 
the transaction closing date. The process of ob-
taining the authorisation is in progress and the 
transaction will foreseeably be completed in the 
first quarter of 2018.

This is an exceptional transaction for the OHL 
Group, as it makes it possible to repay gross re-
course borrowings and leave an excellent cash 
position. From this sound financial position, the 
Group is embarking on a new era that will be 
focused on its Construction business, strength-
ening its capacity in this area in the regions in 
which it is currently present, concentrating its 
efforts on generating sustainable cash flow and 
prioritising profitability over growth.

The execution of the transaction led to a rise 
in the rating from the Moody’s rating agency, 
which on 1 December 2017 improved OHL’s 
rating to B3 from Caa1, and keeps it under re-
view to assess possible further increases, which 
represents the endorsement by a third party of 
the Group’s successful divestment policy.

At the operating level, the Group’s main aggregates show a change of scale when the Concessions busi-
ness was eliminated, showing signs of recovery in terms of the EBITDA margin and cash generation in 
the Construction business:
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Revenue amounted to EUR 3,216.4 million, a 
slight decrease compared to 2016, due mainly 
to lower construction activity in the US as a re-
sult of the end of contracts during the period 
which was not offset by the production under 
new contracts that are in their initial phase. The 
delays in the commencement of the construc-
tion phase of certain concession projects in Lat-
in America also contributed to this fall.

EBITDA in 2017 amounted to EUR -56.5 mil-
lion, -1.8% as a percentage of sales, affected 
primarily by:

1.	 A lower than expected contribution in 
terms of production and EBITDA by start-
up projects in the US and Latin America 
(construction work for concessions in 
Chile and Colombia) that will bring high-
er margins in the future and that did not 
offset the lower contribution from projects 
completed in the period.

Torrespacio. Madrid, Spain.
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At 31 December 2017, net recourse borrowings 
amounted to EUR 943.5 million, representing 
an increase of EUR 195.1 million in 2017, a 
significant improvement on the EUR 369.0 mil-
lion increase seen in 2016, due primarily to the 
worsening of cash due to the legacy projects.

Of particular note was the sound performance 
of the net recourse borrowings in the Con-
struction business, which in 2017 used only 
EUR 46.4 million of cash in comparison with 
the EUR 281.4 million used in 2016, demon-

2.	 Losses recognised on projects in the Indus-
trial business.

3.	 The extraordinary recognition of losses at 
the Gustavo Fricke Hospital (Chile), a lega-
cy project awarded in 2013.

4.	 The cost of the collective redundancy pro-
cedures (CRP) at OHL, S.A., OHL Indus-
trial, S.L. and other factors. 

The aggregate of the latter two one-off impacts 
on EBITDA, relating to the losses recognised at 
Gustavo Fricke Hospital (Chile) and the cost 
of the CRP and other, was EUR -76.5 million. 
Excluding this effect, EBITDA would stand at 
EUR +20.0 million.

It is worth recalling that the EBITDA for 2016 
was EUR -576.3 million, affected mainly by 
the reorganisation process, which included 
EUR -520.2 million of one-off losses on legacy 

projects, due to the re-estimation of objectives 
carried out. In comparable terms, eliminating 
one-off effects, EBITDA in 2017 improved by 
EUR 76.1 million compared to 2016, marking 
a turning point for the Company this year, with 
a healthy backlog that aims to obtain higher 
margins in the coming years.

The attributable net loss was EUR -12.1 mil-
lion, affected by the aforementioned impacts. 
Excluding one-off impacts, there would be a 
net attributable profit of EUR 64.4 million.

In the financial area, the following matters 
should be noted:

Changes in net recourse borrowings
The changes in the net recourse borrowings in 2017 were as follows:  

strating the effort made to contain the deteri-
oration in cash flow and opening a new stage 
towards the generation of sustainable cash flow 
at project level. In turn, the legacy projects used 
less cash than expected. In the fourth quarter 
of 2017 the Construction business performed 
excellently, generating cash amounting to EUR 
172.3 million. 

Of particular note is the reduction in net cash 
outflows in the Corporate area, showing the 
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first effects of the cost reduction initiatives im-
plemented.

The execution of the asset rotation plan con-
tributed funds amounting to EUR 355.0 million 
and the new equity investments resulted in a 
cash outflow of EUR 236.8 million, with Con-
cessions being the main investor division, with 
expenditure of EUR 164.6 million.

Drawable Recourse Liquidity
The Company continues to enjoy financial flex-
ibility thanks to a drawable recourse liquidity 
position of EUR 748.4 million at the end of De-
cember 2017, measured as cash and cash equiv-
alents plus the available recourse financing, 
which ensure that the working capital needs are 
covered for being able to carry on the business 
activities in 2018.

As regards the asset rotation process, various divestments were made during 2017:

Negotiations are ongoing for the possible sale of the Czech sleeper factory ŽPSV and other assets in 
Mayakoba, which could be completed in the first half of 2018. 

In this connection, mention should be made 
of the support received by the OHL Group 
from the main banks with which it works with 
the signature, on 30 March 2017, of the mul-
ti-product syndicated financing agreement (no-
vated on 29 November 2017) for an aggregate 
amount of EUR 684 million, for the issue of 
guarantees (EUR 402 million) and reverse fac-
toring (EUR 92 million), which also includes a 
revolving credit line of EUR 190 million.

Additionally, the execution of the sale of 100% 
of OHL Concesiones will enable the Group to 
simplify and significantly reduce its structure of 
total gross recourse borrowings, thereby giving 
a positive cash position and an excellent drawa-
ble recourse liquidity position. 
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2017 IN FIGURES

Main aggregates
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Profit/loss by division

OHL Concesiones
In view of the process underway to sell all of the 
shares of OHL Concesiones, S.A.U., this busi-
ness is carried as a discontinued operation in 
the consolidated financial statements.

The agreed-upon transaction excludes the sale 
of the two OHL concessions in liquidation, 
Cercanías Móstoles Navalcarnero S.A. (CEM-

ONASA) and Autopista Eje Aeropuerto, for 
which OHL will be entitled to future collection 
of all compensation received arising from these 
liquidation processes.

For information purposes, please find attached 
as an Appendix in Chapter V the main operat-
ing aggregates of this business.

OHL Engineering and Construction

With the sale of OHL Concesiones, the Engineering and Construction division accounts for 98.5% 
of the Group’s sales, with sales of EUR 3,168.2 million, slightly lower than in 2016. EBITDA for the 
year was EUR +18.0 million, compared to -84.5 million euros in 2016, after eliminating the one-off 
recognition of losses in legacy projects. Performance, by activity segment, is as follows:

Construction

I-405 Highway. California, USA.
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Construction, with sales amounting to EUR 
2,660.7 million, accounts for 84.0% of Engi-
neering and Construction sales and 82.7% of 
the Group’s total sales.

The volume of activity decreased by -4.1% 
compared to 2016. This decrease is due main-
ly to the recent commencement of production 
in the new North American projects that will 
bring more activity in the near future (expan-
sion of the I-405, Canarsie tunnel and others) 
and that have not offset the decrease in sales 
due to the completion of other projects between 
both periods. The decrease was exacerbated by 
the delay in starting work on the concessions in 
Latin America, due to causes not attributable 
to OHL, which led to a reduction in the sales 
in 2017.

Legacy projects represented sales of EUR 265.7 
million, 10.0% of the total.

EBITDA amounted to EUR 54.9 million, 2.1% 
of sales (compared to -1.6% in 2016), affect-
ed mainly by the negative results of certain 
projects and the completion of projects in the 
period, not offset by the margin on new con-

tracts in the initial phase in North America and 
concessions in Latin America that will provide 
higher margins in the future. The improvement 
in the EBITDA margin reinforces the viability 
and sustainability of the regular Construction 
business.

Operating cash flow used by legacy projects in 
2017 totalled EUR -26.0 million (EUR -53.9 
million, including Gustavo Fricke Hospital), 
improving the initial forecast for the year of 
EUR -64.0 million. 

The short-term backlog at 31 December 2017, 
EUR 5,568.3 million, represents 25.2 months 
of sales, which guarantees the future growth of 
this activity. The backlog has a balanced profile 
both geographically and in terms of the size of 
the construction projects, with 91.4% coming 
from the home markets (including most nota-
bly 37.3% from the US and 32.4% from Latin 
America), and with only 22.5% of the projects 
of more than EUR 300 million.

The geographical distribution of the short-term construction backlog is as follows:

Based on the size of the construction project, the distribution of the backlog is as follows:
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Of the total construction backlog, 25.6% corresponds to construction projects to be performed for conces-
sions. The current backlog of the ten principal contracts1at 31 December 2017 is as follows:

The diversification of the backlog by type of project should be noted, where 44.3% corresponds to 
roads, 21.8% to railways, 18.3% to building and 15.6% to other activities. Contracts in 2017 amount-
ed to EUR 2,342.3 million, 64.2% of the projects in the US, compared to EUR 2,310.0 million of 
contracts in 2016. The book-to-bill ratio stands at 0.9 times.

The new awards obtained in 2017 include most notably:

In addition to the foregoing, OHL won two significant contracts as part of a joint venture without 
effective control and, therefore, they are accounted for using the equity method: the extension of the 
track on the Lund-Arlov railroad, in Sweden (EUR 106.3 million), and the National Forensic Mental 
Health Service Hospital, in Ireland (EUR 62.0 million). These amounts are not included in the data 
furnished on contracts and the backlog. 
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Industrial

The Industrial business recorded sales of EUR 
269.8 million, which represents an increase of 
10.8%% with respect to 2016.

The main activity is located in the new EPC 
mining and cement projects, mainly Cementos 
Molins, as well as the renewable energy projects 
at the solar PV plants in Jordan (Al Mafrag and 
Empire) and the condensate recovery and cycle 
unit project in Oman (Saih Rawl). The falloff in 
activity in the oil and gas EPCs continued, fol-
lowing the division’s decision not to enter this 
market segment.

EBITDA stood at EUR -40.5 million, -15.0% 
of sales, up 6.5% on the same period in 2016.  

The improved margins on the new projects are 
contributing to this, partially offsetting the ad-
verse margins on certain oil and gas EPC pro-
jects and other services, as well as a structure of 
fixed costs that are not yet being absorbed, al-
though they are in the process of being reduced.

Industrial’s backlog at 31 December 2017 
stands at EUR 312.1 million, with the main 
project being Cementos Molins (EUR 132.0 
million), scheduled for completion period in the 
second half of 2019.

Services

Sales of this division amounted to EUR 237.7 
million, with growth of +22.3%, due mainly to 
the positive performance of facility management 
activities (cleaning, maintenance, energy efficien-
cy and urban services) at the national level. The 
latter urban services segment, which the division 
is introducing, enables higher returns to be ob-
tained which compensate for the lower margins 
in the other segments, all of which are affected by 
increased competition. 

EBITDA totalled EUR 3.6 million, 1.5% of sales, 
slightly higher than in 2016 (1.3%), reflecting 

the strong competitive environment of a very  
mature sector. 

The backlog at 31 December 2017 totalled EUR 
355.8 million, having contracted EUR 236.8 mil-
lion in 2017, the most important contracts being 
the maintenance of court buildings in Galicia, the 
urban waste collection service (Lot 2) in Madrid, 
the cleaning and maintenance contract for 

Benidorm Municipal Council, the stations and 
trains in the Barcelona metro network, and the in-
tegral cleaning of Spanish Government buildings 
and offices.
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OHL Development

The economic aggregates of this division under-
went a significant change in scale following the 
asset rotation transactions at Mayakoba, which 
means that most of its assets are accounted for 
using the equity method as a result of the loss 
of control. Thus it posted sales of EUR 48.2 
million that, in comparable terms and adjust-
ing the recent transactions, would be similar to 
those of 2016. EBITDA totalled EUR +2.0 mil-
lion, compared to EUR +28.4 million in 2016, 
which included that generated by the divested 
Mayakoba companies. In comparable terms, it 
is approximately 12% higher due to increased 
real estate sales.

The assets of this division include: 

Mayakoba Tourism Development
On 21 December 2016, OHL Desarrollos and 
RLH Properties S.A.B. de C.V. entered into an 
agreement for the partial sale of the Group’s in-
terest in the main hotel subsidiaries of Mayako-
ba. The sale agreement includes a percentage of 
up to 80% of Fairmont and Rosewood (guar-
anteed minimum of 51%) and 51% of Banyan 
Tree, Andaz and Golf. On 24 April 2017, the 
sale was completed on 51% of these assets and 
on 18 May 2017 the sale was increased to 80% 
of the more mature assets (Fairmont and Rose-
wood).

The cash inflow at the end of June 2017 amount-
ed to EUR 179.1 million -not yet collected- sub-
ject to the achievement of certain milestones, 
EUR 7.9 million. The gain obtained on this 
transaction, excluding the revaluation gain on 
the interest retained, was EUR 2.7 million.

The hotel subsidiaries in which the develop-
ment business holds ownership interests in-
clude: 49.0% of the El Camaleón golf club; 
43.3% of Banyan Tree; 9.0% of Andaz; 9.8% 
of Fairmont and 20.0% of Rosewood.  

Ciudad Mayakoba
Worthy of note is the sound evolution of the 
projects being carried out in Ciudad Mayako-
ba, which have continued to advance with an 
excellent pace of sales and development, reach-
ing between 90%-95% of inventory sales up 
for sale, as well as the international recognition 
and awards received (the project has been pre-
sented as a development model at the Habitat 
III congress, organised by the UN).

Centro Canalejas Madrid
On 9 February 2017, OHL entered into an 
agreement to sell 17.5% of Centro Canalejas 
Madrid for EUR 78.8 million. The division con-
tinues to hold an ownership interest of 17.5%.

The transaction was completed on 7 April, EUR 
68.1 million having been collected in 2017 net 
of expenses. The other EUR 3.5 million will be 
received when the project enters into opera-
tion. The gain obtained on this transaction was 
EUR 31.6 million. The project is currently at 
the construction phase and certain areas of the 
complex began to be marketed towards the end 
of 2017.

Old War Office
The emblematic Old War Office project, in 
which Development holds a 49% ownership in-
terest, has successfully completed the licensing 
phase. Preliminary work has recently begun.
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01. OHL EN UN CLIC

The assets of this division had a total carrying amount of EUR 369.7 million at 31 December 2017, 
as detailed below: 

Main significant events after 
2017 year-end

•	 On 9 January 2018, the shareholders at the 
Annual General Meeting approved the fol-
lowing resolutions:

1.	 The transfer of 100% of OHL Conce-
siones, S.A.U. to Global Infraco Spain, 
S.L.U., under the terms and conditions 
of the report of the Board of Directors 
and the information communicated to 
the market, per the relevant event com-
munications published on 16 and 17 
October 2017.

2.	 Ratification of the appointment of Juan 
Luis Osuna Gómez as the Company’s 
CEO.

3.	 Ratification of the appointment of Javi-
er Goñi de Cacho as a proprietary di-
rector of the Company.

4.	 Reduction of share capital by EUR 
7,326,425.4 through the retirement 
of 12,210,709 treasury shares, with a 
charge to unrestricted reserves.

5.	 Amendment to the directors’ remuner-
ation policy, following a favourable re-
port from the Nomination and Remu-
neration Committee. 

6.	 Approval of extraordinary remuner-
ation of EUR 18 million to the CEO 
Juan Osuna Gómez, for his work and 
leadership in the process to sell the 
shares of OHL Concesiones, S.A.U. 

•	 The public deed for the capital reduc-
tion approved by the shareholders at the 
Extraordinary General Meeting was filed 
at the Madrid Mercantile Registry on 6 
February 2018.

Centro Canalejas Madrid. Madrid, Spain.
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OUTLOOK FOR THE NEAR 
FUTURE

After the sale of OHL Concesiones, the Group 
is facing a new stage focused on its main busi-
nesses (Construction, Industrial, Services and 
Development), being eminently a construction 
company focused on achieving priority objec-
tives such as:  

•	 Prioritising profitability over growth.

•	 Ensuring sustainable cash flow generation 
in projects by strengthening the application 
of risk control mechanisms. 

•	 Continuing with the rotation of mature as-
sets to maximise their value.

•	 Simplifying the capital structure and reduce 
corporate debt, strengthening the Group’s 
balance sheet.

•	 Recovering the trust of rating agencies and 
other stakeholders.

To this end, the Group has a solid portfolio of 
Engineering and Construction (E&C) projects, 
comprising the Construction, Industrial and 
Services businesses. Of particular note is the 
diversification of the backlog, both geographi-
cally and by project size, encompassing the ma-
jority of its business in three main geographical 
areas: The US, Latin America and Europe.

The Group has extensive past experience in 
these geographical areas, recurring business and 

the human and technical resources necessary to 
undertake the construction projects in compli-
ance with the established risk control param-
eters. In the future, the Group will value new 
opportunities to invest in concession projects.

As regards Industrial’s business, the company 
is continuing with the process of restructuring 
and integrating this activity into the Construc-
tion business and focuses on cement, mining 
and renewable EPC projects, operation and 
maintenance and fire protection, while with-
drawing from EPC oil and gas and power pro-
jects. Synergies and a more efficient cost struc-
ture are expected as a result of this integration.

With respect to the Services business, this is a 
very mature business in a competitive environ-
ment and the Group must therefore be highly 
selective in the projects and markets in which it 
operates in the future, with priority being given 
to profitability.

In addition, the Group has a number of unique 
and diversified assets in the Developments di-
vision, which are in the development or con-
struction phase and whose value has been rec-
ognised by leading investors. The Company has 
the opportunity to rotate these assets once they 
are mature and maximise their value, which 
can be an additional source of income.

Lund-Arlöv Railroad Line Improvement. Malmö, Sweden.
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02. ESTRATEGIA

BUSINESS MODEL

Strategic Plan

With the focus of its business on its areas of action, the OHL Group strengthened its leadership po-
sition in 2017, reaffirming itself as a Company that stands out for its experience in executing high 
value-added projects in the transport infrastructure and singular building sectors.

Cantabrian Highway.  Lindín-Careira section. Spain.
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US
Following President Trump’s announcement 
in August 2017 of an ambitious infrastructure 
plan, the US is committed to this industry as 
an engine for boosting the economy. This plan 
envisages accumulated investments until 2027 
of up to USD 1.5 trillion. However, the con-
struction market is expected to be affected to 
some extent by the introduction of a restrictive 
migration policy, as well as by the high budget 
deficit.

Currently, the US market represents more than 
a third of the total Construction backlog and 
is currently the Group’s reference market. In 
2017 it continued to strengthen its presence 
with more than EUR 1,500 million of contract 
orders. Notable among the most significant 
awards was the refurbishment of the Canar-
sie tunnel in New York for EUR 312 million 
(69.7% for the Group), the main communica-
tion link between Brooklyn and Manhattan, 
damaged after Hurricane Sandy.

Latin America
The OHL Group’s activity in Latin America was 
affected by the political and economic situation 
of the countries in the region. Worthy of note 
was the change of political cycle in Chile, with 
elections at the end of 2017; and in Mexico and 
Colombia, with general elections in 2018. Ad-
ditionally, the impact of the Odebrecht case and 
the uncertainty created by the arrival of Donald 
Trump slowed down activity in the industry. 
However, from 2018 onwards macroeconomic 
indicators are expected to improve, with aver-
age GDP growth projected at around 2% per 
annum, according to International Monetary 
Fund forecasts.

Chile’s construction industry is expected to be 
revitalised with the arrival of the new president, 
Sebastián Piñera, who will continue to drive 
the country’s economic development through 
the promotion of public infrastructure with a 
programme that foresees the construction of an 
extensive road and motorway network, the ex-
pansion of the underground and the construc-
tion of a new international airport in Concep-
ción or Antofagasta. 

Also, in Peru, after the first year of the presiden-
tial term, infrastructure activity will focus on 

the recovery of the mining sector and the imple-
mentation of the Integral Reconstruction Plan, 
arising from the damage caused by the heavy 
flooding inflicted by the El Niño meteorologi-
cal phenomenon, with planned investments of 
EUR 6,500 million over four years.

In Mexico, projects continue to be developed 
through the National Infrastructure Pro-
gramme, with a percentage of completion of 
nearly 80%. In this Plan, valued at more than 
EUR 43,000 million, the construction of Mexi-
co City’s New International Airport stands out. 

Also, in Colombia the Infrastructure Plan that 
began with the fourth generation of road con-
cessions (4G) in the road sector, is expected to 
be consolidated.

In this context, the OHL Group has contin-
ued to strengthen its leading position in the 
region, through the various contracts awarded 
during 2017. Highlights include the improve-
ment of the Moquegua Omate Arequipa road 
in Peru and the recent award of a contract at 
the world’s largest underground copper depos-
it, the El Teniente mine in Chile. In addition, 
Codelco has awarded the contract for the Tran-
que Talabre expansion project in the Chilean 
city of Calama.

Shahuindo Mine. Río Alto, Peru.
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Europe
In Eastern Europe, of particular note is the 
positive forecast for the construction indus-
try in the Czech Republic and Slovakia, the 
main countries for the OHL Group in the 
region, thanks to the support of the Europe-
an Union through funds for infrastructure 
projects. The recovery of consumer and in-
vestor confidence in this market is evident in 
the consumer confidence index, which has 
been increasing progressively since 2012 
and is expected to lead to a greater increase 
in investment in the country.

In Western Europe, the Nordic countries, 
especially Norway and Sweden, are consol-
idating their position as the main growth 
drivers for the Group in the coming years, 
thanks to the host of opportunities for con-
tracts that are expected to be tendered in 
the coming years. These countries stand out 
for their political stability and the expected 
growth in the infrastructure market, with 
important state plans including the Norwe-
gian government’s National Transport Plan 
and Sweden’s High-Speed Infrastructure 
Development Plan.

Thus, one of the OHL Group’s achievements 
in 2017 was its entry into the Swedish mar-
ket, thanks to the award of the project to 
improve the railway line between Lund and 
Arlöv (Malmö) amounting to EUR 106 mil-
lion (49.3% of the joint venture), which is 
one of the most important railway projects 
in the country in the coming years. 

In Spain, the Extraordinary Road Invest-
ment Plan (PIC), presented by the Prime 
Minister, Mariano Rajoy, in July 2017, and 
the recovery of GDP augur an improvement 
in the construction industry. The PIC envis-
ages construction and maintenance works 
for approximately 2,000 kilometres of dual 
carriageways, with a total planned invest-
ment of EUR 5,000 million.

In 2017 several railway infrastructure main-
tenance contracts were awarded for ADIF.

The Company’s Strategic Plan
2017 was marked by significant changes in 
the Group’s scope: the sale of the Conces-
sions division to the fund Australian IFM was 
agreed on, for an estimated net price of EUR 
2,235.0 million, a transformational transac-
tion for the Company; and the divestment of 
other non-strategic assets continued. The sale 
of Concessions leaves OHL with an important 
cash position, allowing the Group to continue 
its activity with an enhanced strategic position 
in the future.

Thus, OHL will begin a new phase in which 
the construction business, the most experi-
enced in the Company, will be the mainstay 
of the Group’s activity in those countries with 
the greatest competitive advantage and where 
growth prospects are more favourable.

In this context, a number of strategic priorities 
have been established to help the OHL Group 
consolidate its leading position in the markets 
in which it operates: 

1.	 Promote the Group’s construction busi-
ness, focusing on those countries and re-
gions where the Company has the most ex-
perience and minimising exposure to risk.

2.	 Maximise profitability and cash flow gen-
eration of projects in progress. 

3.	 Guarantee a portfolio of profitable pro-
jects, with a commitment to a balanced 
mix of contracts in terms of size.

4.	 Continue the process of disinvestment of 
non-strategic assets.

5.	 Integrate the Industrial and Construction 
businesses.

6.	 Adapt the cost structure to the new size of 
the Company.

7.	 Strengthen recruitment and talent manage-
ment policies.

8.	 Digital transformation: digitisation of pro-
duction processes.



2017 MANAGEMENT REPORT OHL, S.A. AND DEPENDENT COMPANIES 31

Obrascón Huarte Lain, S.A.  and Dependent Companies - 2017 Management Report

02. STRATEGY

CSR management

The OHL Group is aware that the new challenges presented at global scale require sustainable and 
responsible business management, committed to the development and well-being of society. Meeting 
these demands requires taking on challenges and integrating the sustainability strategy along the 
entire production chain of the business, with a long-term perspective of value creation and meeting 
the needs of its stakeholders. 

This approach has meant that the voluntary commitments made since 2003 by the OHL Group in 
the areas of human and labour rights, environmental protection, business ethics and transparency 
in the dissemination of information have led to the drafting of a total of ten corporate policies 
that apply across the entire OHL Group and, in addition to internal regulations, make up OHL’s 
particular framework of action. 

CSR, as a strategic tool for the OHL Group’s sustainability management, is implemented through 
action plans. The 2015-2020 CSR Strategic Plan, articulated around the seven fundamental areas of 
ISO 26000, aims to act as a guide for the fulfilment of CSR commitments and unite efforts within 
the Group. The important changes that took place in 2017 in the business model, structure and or-
ganisation have led to the need to adapt the Plan to the new reality of the Group. This exercise was 
at the planning stage at the time of writing this report. 

Further Information: www.ohlcompromiso.com/presentacion/responsabilidad-corporativa/politicas/

As a signattory of the United Global Compact, the Group works to disseminate and promote 
the Ten Principles.
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The Group-wide management of CSR is conducted through the highest governing body, the Nomina-
tion and Remuneration Committee of OHL’s Board of Directors, which is responsible for promoting 
and monitoring the CSR policy, and the Sustainability Committee, chaired by the CEO and made 
up of the senior management of the OHL Group as the delegated body to coordinate and supervise 
CSR management.

Strategic Plan of the OHL Group
Certain measures in which progress has been made. 
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How we convey CSR
In 2017 the Group promoted internal communication of CSR through the training of all its employ-
ees. In this way, a new call to complete the CSR course has been designed and launched through the 
new training platform for obligatory online courses. 

This has made it possible to strengthen employees’ knowledge in this area and to consolidate its value 
as a transversal pillar of the Group. 

SDGs as a guide to focus efforts on sustainability
In 2017 the OHL Group reaffirmed its commitment to meeting the 2030 Agenda, an action plan 
for people, the planet and prosperity. A total of 17 Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) and 169 
targets to end poverty, fight inequality and injustice and tackle climate change. The OHL Group as-
sumes this role and contributes to tackling the collective challenge of sustainable development when 
carrying out its business activity. It therefore strives to integrate SDGs in its internal management.

The activities described in each chapter os this Report are associated with the SDGs on which 
they have an impact (see logos at the beginning of each section)

Further Information: GRI Tables

2017 CSR training data

Through this course, in 2017 a total of 2,586 people in the Group received CSR training, total-
ling 10,344 hours of training.

In addition, the half-yearly CSR Newsletter disseminates relevant news and events, including inter-
views with Company executives that include the experience of integrating CSR in the development of 
the business.

In this regard, the OHL and Sustainable Development brochure gives visibility to the creation of value 
from the business activity itself. It includes successful CSR initiatives implemented in corporate servic-
es or in the business lines themselves.

Externally, OHL pays attention to requests for information from industry watchers and CSR-linked 
international organisations; it prepares documentation on its management in this area in business 
presentations and tenders, as well as for the working groups, meetings and specific. 
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Directors’ report by division

OHL Concesiones                 
In view of the process underway to sell all of the 
shares of OHL Concesiones, S.A.U., this busi-
ness is carried as a discontinued operation in 
the consolidated financial statements.

The agreed-upon transaction excludes the sale 
of the two OHL concessions in liquidation, 
Cercanías Móstoles Navalcarnero S.A. (CEM-
ONASA) and Autopista Eje Aeropuerto, for 
which OHL will be entitled to future collection 
of all compensation received arising from these 
liquidation processes.

For information purposes, please find attached 
as an Appendix in Chapter V information on 
the Corporate Social Responsibility of this busi-
ness line.

OHL Construction
The OHL Group’s construction activity in 
2017 was shaped by the development of pro-
jects in the fields of transport infrastructure 
and non-residential building construction. 
This activity focuses on eight markets: The US, 

Canada, Mexico, Chile, Colombia, Colombia, 
Peru, Spain and Central Europe -as defined in 
the Group’s Strategic Plan. Added to this was 
OHL’s incursion into Norway, Sweden and Ire-
land.

Activity by Geographical area
North America
This is one of the Company’s main markets, 
with total sales of EUR 1,126.3 million, 42% 
of the total for Construction and 35% of the 
Group’s total. OHL continued to operate in 
key US states: Primarily, New York, California, 
Florida and Texas. 

This fact is reflected in the achievement of out-
standing projects such as the upgrade of the 
I-405 in California, the most important project 
in OHL’s history in the country. Awarded by 
the Orange County Transportation Authority 
(OCTA) for an amount of close to EUR 679.0 
million (56.5% of the joint venture), it repre-
sented for the Group a volume of work execut-
ed in 2017 of EUR 41.6 million. The construc-
tion work covers a 27.4 km stretch of the I-405 
and consists of adding an additional lane in 
each direction and improving the slip roads, ex-

North Subway. New York, USA.

The Group has been included in the FTSE4Good IBEX index since its launch in 2008. Featuring 
in this index distinguishes the Company as a committed value os special interest to investors 
who add to their profitability objetives their concern for ethical, social, enviromental and good 
governance issues in business management.

Further Information: Appendix 1 Relationship with analysts and international CSR bodies.
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its and bridges from State Road 73 to Interstate 
605. This project consolidates OHL’s presence 
in the State of California, where OHL currently 
has more than twelve ongoing projects with a 
value of EUR 1,300 million.

In New York, OHL is carrying out, through 
its subsidiary Judlau, the refurbishment of the 
Canarsie tunnel, damaged by Hurricane Sandy. 
Awarded by the New York Metropolitan Trans-
portation Authority (MTA), for EUR 312.1 mil-
lion, it includes the refurbishment and upgrade 
of infrastructure considered to be the main 
connection between Brooklyn and Manhattan, 
which also provides service to subway line L. 

Other projects won in the USA in 2017 include:

•	 New York Outfall Replacement Project, for 
EUR 66.5 million.

•	 Illinois O’ Hare International AirportChi-
cago, for EUR 42.8 million.

•	 Florida Medical Campus Center, for EUR 
39.8 million.

Pacific Alliance
The Group’s activities are focused on the mar-
kets that form part of the Pacific Alliance - Mex-
ico, Peru, Colombia and Chile. Its joint activity 
translates into revenue that represents 19.2% of 
the total for Construction.

In Mexico, the construction of the first section 
of the Mexico-Toluca intercity train is note-
worthy, with revenue of EUR 84 million. The 
project includes the construction of 36.15-km 
section.

In Chile, the Company is carrying out actions 
on Route 60 (Section 2, Sector 1, Variante Pan-
quehue), on which the work performed totals 
EUR 80 million. 

In Peru, OHL is upgrading the Moque-
gua-Omate-Arequipa road, in a 118-kilometre 
section of the Moquegua-Sierra Sur in Peru, 
between the departments of Arequipa and Mo-
quegua; and is working on cleaning and elim-
inating material from the Piura river (Peru) in 
the 14-kilometre section that runs from Laguna 
San Ramón to the Cordillera sector, within the 
framework of the Amended 

Reconstruction Plan (Plan de Reconstrucción 
con Cambios) of the Peruvian Government to 
reconstruct the areas of the country most affect-

ed by the 2016–17 South America floods (El 
Niño Costero). 

Europe
The Company’s activity in Europe (Spain, 
Czech Republic and Slovakia and the Nordic 
countries) represents 32% of Construction rev-
enue. It should be noted that projects in this 
area are of lower volume and the revenue is 
more fragmented among a greater number of 
initiatives.

After OHL’s entry into Norway in 2016, thanks 
to winning the EUR 67.4 million EPC Ski pro-
ject, OHL made its way into another Nordic 
country, Sweden, in 2017, where it will im-
prove the railway line between Lund and Arlöv 
stations in Malmö, one of the country’s busiest 
rail routes. The contract, awarded by Trafikver-
ket (Swedish Transport Administration), for 
EUR 106 million (49.3% of the joint venture), 
will cover the construction of the first 8 km sec-
tion between the Swedish cities of Arlöv-Flack-
arp, as well as the construction of three new 
stations, four overpasses and two underpasses.

In Ireland, the Company is carrying out its first 
hospital contract in Ireland, the construction of 
the National Forensic Mental Health Hospital 
(NFMHS) in Portrane, north of Dublin, for 
more than EUR 120 million (50% of the UTE). 
The project was awarded by the Health Service 
Executive and includes the construction of a fo-
rensic hospital for the mentally ill within the St. 
Ita’s Hospital complex. It will have an area of 
24,000 m2 distributed among 170 rooms; a 30-
bed intensive care rehabilitation unit, 13 hospi-
tal wards and a primary health care centre.

Other European projects:

•	 Marmaray CR3 Project (Turkey), with 
work performed in the year of EUR 122.3 
million.

•	 Expansion of the port of Bilbao (Spain), 
with more than EUR 34.3 million of pro-
duction in the year.
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Main contracts awarded in 2017
In 2017 Construction won contracts amounting to EUR 2,342.3 million, broken down as follows:

Distribution of the backlog by type of project (millions of euros):

These results reinforce the OHL Group’s commitment to its home markets, where contracting repre-
sents 93.8% of the total number of new contracts.

Construction division backlog at 2017 Year-end 
2017 ended with a backlog of EUR 5,568.3 million, the distribution of which by market and type of 
project is as follows:
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According to these data, 83% of the backlog is oriented towards civil engineering work and building 
construction, with the backlog of building construction being practically all non-residential building 
construction.

In relation to the size of the projects, within the Strategic Plan, it was decided to diversify risk 
through the distribution of the backlog into smaller projects. Currently, 77.5% of the total amount 
of projects in the backlog corresponds to projects with a size of less than EUR 300 million.

Success stories

Second Avenue Subway. New York, USA

Innovation, sustainability and accessibility are 
three of the features on which the construction 
project for stations 72 and 63 is based, integrat-
ed into the new subway line on Second Avenue, 
which extends the services of the Q and F lines 
of the New York subway. The project, award-
ed by the Metropolitan Transport Authority 
(MTA) to Judlau, the Group’s New York sub-
sidiary, is the first major expansion of the city’s 
subway system in the last six decades. 

The project includes the use of the BIM (Build-
ing Information Modelling) methodology in the 
construction of station 72. This is an innovative 
platform that incorporates collaborative mod-
elling techniques in multiple dimensions; they 
cover the entire project life cycle and make it 
possible to visualise changes in each of the di-
mensions and areas simultaneously and dynam-
ically.

From the accessibility standpoint, the new in-
frastructure has a design that conforms to the 
standards of the Americans with Disabilities 
Act (ADA) and its image responds to the cultur-
al diversity that characterises New York, thanks 
to decoration by artists from several countries, 
within the framework of the Arts for Transit 
program promoted by the MTA.

In addition, Judlau received a commemorative 
award by Friends of the New York Transit Mu-
seum in November 2017, which recognises the 
benefit of its construction for the more than 
200,000 users who use it every day.

EPC SKI. Ski, Norway

The Group is carrying out the EPC Ski contract 
in Norway as part of the Follo Line high-speed 
railway project, one of the leading transport 
initiatives in Norway. The work covers a 3.5 
km-long stretch of track, which will enable 
trains to reach 250 km/h, and includes the re-
construction of the Ski city railway station, the 
redevelopment of its surroundings and all rail-
way facilities related to the reconstruction of 
the existing line and the new line. 

The project will lead to an improvement in the 
quality of life of the inhabitants and the com-
mercial development of the area where the in-
frastructure is located, by reducing the travel 
time of the Oslo-Ski route by 50% (11 minutes 
compared to the 22 minutes in which the jour-
ney was being made). It will also reduce CO2 
emissions through reduced use of private trans-
port while decongesting traffic in southern Oslo 
at peak times of day. In addition, the use of this 
new infrastructure will make it possible to in-
crease the capacity of rail traffic arriving to and 
departing from Oslo.

EPC Ski, Follo Line project. Ski, Norway.
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OHL Industrial
In 2017 Industrial continued with the process of 
its integration with the Construction division, 
with which it has significant synergies (e.g. min-
ing sector), with a view to training in Engineer-
ing and Construction.

Completion and optimisation of EPC 
projects already contracted
In Mexico, where, in recent years Industrial has 
carried on most of its activity, the completion 
of the Cydsa II 60-MW cogeneration plant in 
Coatzacoalcos is noteworthy. To this are added 
the two completed project management con-
tracts for the gas pipelines of the Ramones north 
and south segments.

Also in Mexico and for Pemex, the Company 
completed, from a mechanical standpoint, a sul-
phur solidification plant; and by the end of 2017, 
it had practically completed (99.4%) of the 30-
MW cogeneration plant at the Madero refinery, 
for which early completion was requested. 

In addition, the Degollado pumping station and 
the Cadereyta hydrogen generation plant are 
also in the final mechanical phase. In addition, 
the Empalme I 770-MW combined cycle plant 
in Sonora, which Industrial executed for CFE 
during 2017, is scheduled to be provisionally ac-
cepted in 2018.

In Guatemala, Industrial brought the 55-MW 
Xacbal hydroelectric plant into service in the 
fourth quarter of 2017. In Colombia, the con-
struction of the cement plant for the company 
Ecocemento, in which the Molins Group holds a 
stake, is proceeding, with an estimated produc-
tion of 3,150 tonnes of cement per day. 

In Jordan, Industrial is constructing a storage 
terminal for oil-based products, which is sched-
uled to be completed in 2018. In addition to this 
initiative, there are two solar PV projects in the 
country for Al Mafraq Empire; and in Oman, 
the Group is carrying out the condensate re-
covery unit for the state-owned company PDO, 
which will be completed at the beginning of 
2018, as well as performing the cycle closure of 
Saih Rawl.  

Outlook
Mining and cement
The worldwide recovery of the raw materials 
sector is making it possible to redirect part of In-
dustrial’s commercial objective towards mining 
projects in international markets. This triggered, 
in 2017, commercial activities with the large 
mining undertakings from Chile (Codelco) and 
Peru (CB Holdings or Brocal). 

Renewable energies
The Middle East and Latin America are be-
coming target markets for the development of 
renewable energy projects (mainly solar PV and 
wind power). In this regard, of particular note is 
the obtainment, at the beginning of 2017, of the 
renewable energy projects in Jordan for Fotowa-
tio, a recurring customer of Industrial.

Operation and Maintenance  
The aforementioned activities will be comple-
mented by the opportunities identified in the 
areas of O&M, as well as those of industrial 
services, in the home markets in which the Com-
pany operates. 

Fire safety systems
In 2017 reduced activity was maintained in the 
adaptation of the nuclear sector in Spain. How-
ever, greater activity was detected in the field of 
fire safety systems inspection, 

which would make it possible to increase the 
commercial demand for these services and com-
ply with market requirements and the legislation 
in force in this area.

Most significant Awards
The main contracts in Industrial amounted to 
EUR 150 million in 2017 and reflect the new ap-
proach described above.

To the two solar PV projects in Jordan for Foto-
watio, amounting to EUR 68.3 million, are add-
ed the Shauhindo mining crushing project (Peru) 
totalling EUR 17 million and the transport and 
crushing machinery for Power Machines (Viet-
nam) amounting to EUR 15.6 million. To this 
must be added the EUR 23 million derived from 
fire safety business in Spain and Mexico, and 
EUR 27 million achieved through the activity of 
O&M and industrial engineering carried out in 
habitual industrial markets in Latin America, es-
pecially in Chile.
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Valiente Wind Farm. Gurrea de Gallego. Huesca, Spain.

Success stories

Valiente wind farm. Gurrea de Gállego, Huesca, Spain

The Group will be responsible for the engineering, civil engineering works and power evacuation in-
frastructure of the Valiente wind farm. The facility will be fitted with ten 2.0-MW G114 WTGs and 
has a total rated capacity of 20 MW. 

In its construction and design, measures will be applied to minimise the environmental impact, re-
sulting in significant savings in emissions compared to other technologies, which will in turn have an 
effect on the protection of native species and respect and guarantee the continuity of agricultural ac-
tivity in the area. In addition, the project will encourage local employment during its construction and 
operation phases. This is the first project of its kind to be built in this area, after the energy reform, 
and it will be the first of several projects planned for construction in the region next year.



2017 MANAGEMENT REPORT OHL, S.A. AND DEPENDENT COMPANIES 40

Obrascón Huarte Lain, S.A.  and Dependent Companies - 2017 Management Report

02. STRATEGY

OHL Services
In 2017 Services followed a recovery trend in 
the Spanish market while continuing to make 
progress in its internationalisation in countries 
such as Mexico and Chile. 

As regards the division’s activity, the year was 
used to consolidate the activities in the urban 
services area, thanks to the incorporation of 
new contracts in cities where no such work was 
being carried out: Huelva, Granollers and Bil-
bao, which exceed EUR 25 million.

On the other hand, the cleaning sector, with 
EUR 9,970 million managed in Spain, experi-
enced growth of 1.8% compared to 2016; and 
for 2018 and 2019 growth is expected to be 
slightly below 2%. 

The building maintenance sector generated rev-
enue of EUR 8,170 million, and registered an 
increase of 1.7% with forecast growth of 1.7% 
and 1.6% for 2018 and 2019, respectively.

The urban services market in 2017 confirmed 
the slight increase experienced in 2016, after 
five consecutive years of declines. It generated 
revenue of EUR 5,475 million, 2% up on 2016, 
when the change was 1.4%. Growth is expected 
to be around 2.5% in 2018.

In the home-based care services sector, it is ex-
pected that business will increase by 2.9% in 
2018, reaching EUR 1,500 million.

Despite this incipient improvement in the mar-
kets in which Services operates, profitability in 
these sectors has fallen. Particularly significant 
was the loss of profitability due to the political 
instability in Catalonia. Even so, the Company’s 
billings were higher than those of the leaders in 
the sector, rising 13% from EUR 175 million 
in facilities management to EUR 198 million. 
Billings in urban services (EUR 39 million) also 
grew by 56% compared to 2016, consolidating 
the strong growth in this activity that generates 
a higher operating margin.

OHL Services maintained its EBITDA in 2017 in 
Spain, rising from 1.3% to 1.5%, despite the re-
duction in profitability experienced by leading 
companies in the sector, thanks to the division’s sig-
nificant effort in terms of reducing structural costs.

Contracts and Backlog
In terms of contracts, Services achieved revenue 
of EUR 237.7 million in 2017, consisting of 
a backlog of EUR 355.8 million, equal to 18 
months, well above the average for comparable 
companies in the sector.

New contracts awarded in 2017
With a backlog of more than 500 contracts in 
force, of particular note in the various business 
lines are the following:

Cleaning
•	 Cleaning service for Metro de Madrid sta-

tions. Lot 4 (lines 8 and 10) for EUR 26.0 
million (48-month period).

•	 General cleaning services and related ser-
vices at the Ministry of Defence facilities 
(includes all offices in Extremadura, An-
dalusia and Murcia) for EUR 21.4 million 
(24-month period). 

•	 Comprehensive cleaning service for local 
buildings and offices of the Spanish Gov-
ernment, located in the Community of 
Madrid, for EUR 15.6 million (30-month 
period).

Social and health care sector
•	 Management and administration of the 

Fortpienc municipal assisted residence and 
day centre. Barcelona City Council for 
EUR 8.7 million (24-month period).

•	 Management under a concession arrange-
ment of the “Mossen Vidal i Aunos” resi-
dence and day care centre, Department of 
Welfare and Family, Barcelona. Catalonia 
Autonomous Community Government, for 
EUR 4.0 million (24-month period).

Maintenance
•	 Maintenance, repair and conservation con-

tracts in several districts of the Madrid City 
Council, for EUR 11.5 million (period be-
tween 12 and 24 months). 

•	 Maintenance service of the administrative 
buildings of the Galicia Autonomous Com-
munity Government and the energy supply 
of the administrative complex of San Cae-
tano, for EUR 6.7 million (28-month peri-
od). 
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Urban services
•	 Street and beach cleaning service in the 

municipalities of Isla Cristina and Cartaya, 
Huelva, for EUR 10.4 million (48-month 
period).

•	 Service for the conservation of green and 
wooded areas in several districts of Torre-
jón de Ardoz, Madrid, for EUR 8.7 million 
(48-month period). 

Outlook

Cleaning
The sector has shown moderate growth in Spain, 
thanks to the increase in GDP. Services has con-
solidated itself in the public sector and is begin-
ning its expansion in the private sector with an 
extension to more specialised sectors, such as 
industrial, transport, hospitality, retail or food.

Social and health care sector
This sector has a positive growth outlook thanks to family spending power and greater dynamism as 
regards public-sector contracts. 

Building maintenance
There is a marked improvement in this market in terms of investment. It is expected that the brand 
will be consolidated in this sector through geographical positioning, with the aim of continuing to 
grow in the energy efficiency sector and incorporating it into new areas such as public lighting and the 
industrial environment.

Energy efficiency
Worthy of note are the new criteria for calculating the debt relating to the investments made in con-
tracts for public authorities through energy service companies and the new Public Procurement Law. 

OHL Services will continue to back:

•	 Efficiency in buildings and facilities.

•	 Street lighting, in medium-sized towns.

Urban services
This sector will continue to base its development on strong competition due to the extension of the 
deadline for the resolution of public tenders. 

One of the main challenges for this year is the entry into the activity of waste treatment that closes the 
urban management cycle.

Management improvements
Con el fin de mejorar la rentabilidad de los contratos y reducir los riesgos de gestión se encuentran: 

•	 Improvement of processes in the commercial area, introducing the use of a CRM (Customer Re-
lationship Management) in the commercial process of planning the sales process, preparation of 
the offer, follow-up of the commercial action and analysis of results. 

•	 Strengthening of risk management with the implementation of the due diligence review process 
and analysis of relations with third parties, and the implementation of actions to reduce accidents 
at work and absenteeism, among others 

Urban cleaning service. Madrid, Spain.
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Success stories

Responsible residence management Residència i Centre de Dia Fort Pienc. Barcelona, Spain

The OHL Group’s commitment to the well-being of society is evident, among other aspects, in its 
management of homes for the elderly, distinguished with the Joint Commission International (JCI) 
accreditation, awarded to UTE OHL Servicios-Ingesan and Mensajeros de la Paz, responsible for 
the Fort Pienc Residence and Day Care Centre of the Barcelona City Council. It acknowledges com-
pliance with the requirements of quality of care, safety in high-risk medication, reducing the risk of 
infections associated with health care or reducing the risk of injury to residents caused by falls.

Complementarily, the centre carried out projects aimed at making the elderly socially visible and pro-
moting intergenerational exchange. The Viure millor a casa (Living better at home) programme is of 
particular note, as it provides professional advice at home to users of day centres in order to inform 
them about mobility techniques, patterns of stimulation in daily life, the elimination of architectural 
barriers and the day-to-day life of people in a situation of dependency and their families. Also, in 
order to promote generational exchange, residents and users of the day centre share weekly leisure 
time with students from the children’s education centre and the El Tren de Fort Pienc municipal 
nursery school. 

Furthermore, the Bici sense edat (Cycling without age) activity has also been carried out at the centre, 
organised by the Barcelona City Council and has been used to promote the ability of older people to 
ride a bicycle, thanks to the use of electric tricycles.

Vivir mejor en casa Project. Barcelona, Spain.
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OHL Development
In 2017 the division continued to develop its activ-
ity with the aim of entering into preliminary phase 
projects and, at the same time, disinvesting in 
those projects that have reached a sufficient degree 
of maturity to capitalise on value creation.

Significant activities in 2017

Inclusion of an investor in the 
Mayakoba tourism development 
hotel projects
Located 10 km from Playa del Carmen, in an 
area of approximately 240 hectares, stands 
Mayakoba, a tourism development that boasts 
four hotels in operation, operated by some of the 
most prestigious international hotel chains, all 
of them in the 5 star luxury category: Fairmont 
(401 rooms), Rosewood (128 rooms), Banyan 
Tree (132 rooms) and Andaz (213 rooms), as 
well as the El Camaleón golf course, designed 
by Greg Norman and the only one to host, until 
2017, an official tournament of the prestigious 
circuit PGA outside the USA and Canada.

In September 2016, a market survey process be-
gan that culminated in the first quarter of 2017, 
after completing the transaction with the Mexi-
can investment group RLH Properties, S.A.B. de 
C.V. (RLH). 

The transaction consisted of the acquisition by 
RLH of an 80% stake in the share capital of the 
companies owning the Rosewood Mayakoba 
and Fairmont Mayakoba hotels, as well as 51% 
of the share capital of the companies owning the 
Banyan Tree Mayakoba, Andaz Mayakoba and 
the El Camaleón golf course. This heterogeneity 
in the divestment of investments is due to the dif-
ferent levels of maturity achieved, with greater 
divestment in the more mature assets. 

Celebration of the 11th Anniversary of the OHL 
Classic at Mayakoba. In November 2017, the 
11th OHL Classic at Mayakoba, the only PGA 
Tour sponsored and named by the Group, was 
hosted by the El Camaleón Golf Course. The 
tournament featured a field of 132 players and 
was won by the American Patton Kizzire. 

Progress of the Ciudad Mayakoba 
projects
In 2017 Ciudad Mayakoba continued to make 
progress in its consolidation in the Playa del 
Carmen real estate market, in its different pro-
jects -Mayakoba Trails, Lagunas de Ciudad 
Mayakoba and Jardines de Ciudad Mayakoba-.

In addition, agreements were reached in 2017 to 
launch additional projects for the global devel-
opment and consolidation of Ciudad Mayako-
ba: La Ceiba de Ciudad Mayakoba, houses of 
innovative design that will begin to be marketed 
in February 2018; Altos de Ciudad Mayakoba, 
characterised by having 100% vertical, medi-
um-high level housing, which will foreseeably be 
launched commercially in February 2018; and 
Mayakoba Country Club, the most relevant and 
largest project in all of Ciudad Mayakoba, with 
more than 500,000 m2 of single-family and mul-
ti-family lots for sale. This large medium-high 
and high housing project will begin to be sold 
commercially in 2018.

Awards and prizes In 2017 Ciudad Mayakoba 
participated again in the Habitat III congress, 
organised by the UN, an event of the utmost im-
portance that takes place every 20 years and is 
a meeting point and discussion point for deter-
mining urban development policies for the next 
two decades. Ciudad Mayakoba was invited as 
a model of planned community development in 
tourism development centres, and as an exam-
ple of joint participation between business, gov-
ernment and UN-Habitat in the generation and 
management of public spaces that integrate the 
community. 

Progress at Centro Canalejas,  
Madrid
Throughout 2017 and after the inclusion of 
Mohari Ltd as a new shareholder in the capital 
of the project in March, the progress of Centro 
Canalejas, Madrid continued in accordance with 
the action plan, with the aim of opening to the 
public in mid-2019. 

The project has all the necessary permits for the 
completion of the works, and the City Coun-
cil approved the Special Plan for Underground 
Transport Infrastructure of Sevilla-Canalejas, 
which provides a solution to the entrances and 
exits, both for parking and loading and unload-
ing of Centro Canalejas, Madrid. 
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Success stories

Jardines de Ciudad Mayakoba. Ciudad 
Mayakoba. Playa del Carmen, México.

In the vicinity of Playa del Carmen, in the Rivi-
era Maya, lies Jardines de Ciudad Mayakoba, 
an innovative residential project of affordable 
and protected housing located in a natural en-
vironment of 38.7 ha. Its use is intended for 
personnel who work in hotels at the Mayakoba 
complex, with the aim of helping to reconcile 
work and personal life, and to prevent them 
from travelling for up to three and four hours 
a day. 

Jardines de Ciudad Mayakoba is part of the Ci-
udad Mayakoba development, an initiative man-
aged by the Group through Development. It will 
house residences and educational, hospital, com-
mercial, cultural, and sports services, extensive 
green areas, biological corridors and pedestrian 
and bicycle paths. It will also have a golf course 
and a large 10 ha metropolitan park. 

The first phase, currently under development, in-
cludes the construction of 3,576 dwellings that 
correspond to five models of houses and flats, 
with an extension that ranges from 45 m2 to 98 
m2, distributed in two, three and four heights. Its 
surroundings are characterised by a neighbour-
hood park of 11,459 m2, a basic commercial 
area and 5.36 hectares of green areas.

At the end of 2017 sales of the Canalejas Com-
mercial Gallery and the residences started, and 
has been warmly received.

Progress on the Old War Office  
project  
There were many and very important achieve-
ments in 2017 in the Old War Office project that 
Development is carrying out in London, together 
with the Hinduja Group. 

First of all, there is a binding proposal for the 
financing of the project, in addition to the design 
and urban procedures with the incorporation of 
two interior design firms of the highest interna-
tional prestige. 

In February 2017 the City Council approved 
the project and in July the final agreement was 
signed with it and the Directorate General of 
Historical Heritage, which consolidated all ap-
provals in addition to the changes of use and 
all the necessary urban planning requirements. 
Worthy of note is the substantial increase in built 
surface area, which improves the economic via-
bility of the project. 

2017 was also very important in terms of defin-
ing the various businesses to be developed in the 
building. The first major milestone was the selec-
tion and signing of contracts with the hotel oper-
ator Raffles. Once the partner had been selected, 
every effort was made to define the best strategy 
for the residential component.

Construction work has now commenced. Cer-
tain preliminary tasks (soft strip) were started in 
December 2016 and in July 2017 the contractor 
was selected to execute the first work package 
(demolition, excavation and structure). Work 
commenced in October and, in parallel, the se-
lection process for the general contractor was 
initiated, which is expected to end in 2018.
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Mayakoba Resort. Riviera Maya, Mexico
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Financial value

As a result of the decision to sell all the shares of OHL Concesiones, this business is presented as a 
discontinued operation, and the profit or loss of this operation and that corresponding to non-con-
trolling interests are presented separately in the consolidated statement of profit or loss, with the 
adjustment of the figures for 2016. Also, in the consolidated balance sheet the non-current assets and 
liabilities of this operation are presented as discontinued operations.

Statement of profit or loss
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The Group’s revenue in 2017 amounted to EUR 
3,216.4 million, down 3.8% from 2016, due 
largely to the decrease in Construction activity.

The Engineering and Construction Division ob-
tained revenue of EUR 3,168.2 million in 2017, 
which represents a decrease of 1.4% and ac-
counts for 98.5% of the Group’s total revenue. 

OHL’s main line of business after the discontin-
uation of the Concessions business is that relat-
ing to the Construction division, whose sales of 
EUR 2,660.7 million represent 82.7% of total 
sales and a drop of 4.1% with respect to 2016, 
due mainly to the fall in activity in the US and 
the delay in the commencement of concession 
projects in Latin America.

The revenue of the Development Division, 
which accounts for a comparatively much 
smaller 1.5% of total sales, decreased by 63.2% 
with respect to 2016, principally as a result of 
the sale in April and May 2017 of the hotel 
companies and the El Camaleón golf course in 
Mayakoba (Riviera Maya, Mexico). In like-for-
like terms, sales would be virtually unchanged 
between periods.

In 2017 77.3% of revenue was generated out-
side Spain, as compared with 78.4% in 2016. 

As regards the distribution of sales by geograph-
ical area, the US and Canada represent 34.7% 
of the total, Spain 22.7%, Central and Eastern 
Europe 8.4% and Mexico 8.3%.

Total operating income amounted to EUR 
3,383.2 million in 2017, a drop of 4.0% with 
respect to 2016.

EBITDA totalled EUR -56.5 million in 2017, 
-1.8% of revenue.

May 2017 saw the ratification of the collective 
redundancy agreement between OHL, S.A. and 
OHL Industrial, S.L. and the workers’ repre-
sentatives that led to the elimination of 457 
jobs. The estimated expenses associated with 
this and other similar collective redundancy 
procedures, amounting to EUR 40.1 million, 
and the loss of EUR 36.4 million on the Gus-
tavo Fricke Hospital project in Chile were de-
ducted from EBITDA. Disregarding these two 
effects, EBITDA totalled EUR +20.0 million.

Substantially all of the Group’s positive EBIT-
DA was generated outside Spain, primarily in 
Mexico and the US.

EBIT amounted to EUR -132.7 million, al-
though without the effect of the collective re-
dundancy procedure mentioned above and 
other similar procedures it would have totalled 
EUR -56.2 million.

Finance income minus finance costs totalled 
EUR -50.9 million in 2017, the improvement 
with respect to the EUR -68.4 million record-
ed in 2016 being due to lower average interest 
rates in 2017. 

The gross recourse borrowings amount to EUR 
68.0 million.

Kralovo Pole Tunnel. Brno, Czech Republic.
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Main disposals of investments in companies

The most significant disposals of ownership interests in companies in 2017 were:

•	 On 7 April 2017, 17.5% of the shares of Centro Canalejas Madrid, S.A. were sold. 

•	 On 28 April 2017, a 51% ownership interest in the hotel companies and El Camaleón golf 
course in Mayakoba was sold, and on 18 May an additional interest of 29% in two of the hotel 
companies (Fairmont and Rosewood), also in Mayakoba, was sold.

The following table details the impact on each statement of profit or loss line item:

The changes in fair value of financial instru-
ments amounted to EUR 32.6 million due to 
the effect of the increase in the value of the for-
eign currency derivatives. In 2016 EUR -74.0 
million were recorded, due mainly to the sale 
of Construction concession operators that in-
curred losses as a result of the revaluation of 
derivatives associated with those assets.

Exchange differences amounted to EUR -26.8 
million in 2017, a negative change with respect 
to the EUR 8.4 million recognised in 2016.

In addition, in 2017 the exchange differences 
included EUR +38.3 million as a result of the 
sale of the Mayakoba companies, which par-
tially offset the negative effect of the transac-
tions mainly in Qatari reals, Canadian dollars 
and Algerian dinars.

The impairment and gains or losses on dispos-
als of financial instruments amounted to EUR 
-1.5 million and include mainly EUR +8.7 mil-
lion relating to the principal divestments indi-
cated above, plus an impairment loss of EUR 
-10.0 million on the shares of Banco Popular, 
S.A. owned by the Group.

The figure in 2016 included the gain of EUR 
+90.9 million on the sale of the construction 
concession operators.

The result of companies accounted for using 
the equity method totalled EUR -45.5 million 
in 2017 and includes most notably the loss aris-
ing from the revaluation of the ownership inter-
est retained in Mayakoba, amounting to EUR 
-11.6 million, and the loss of EUR -26.7 mil-
lion of the consortium carrying out the Toronto 
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subway project. It should be noted that in 2016 
a loss of EUR 149.4 million was recognised in 
relation to the Centre Hospitalier de l’Universi-
té de Montréal (CHUM) construction project.

The loss before tax amounted to EUR -224.8 
million in 2017.

Income tax totalled EUR 7.3 million in 2017, 
reflecting an effective tax rate of 27.7%, as 
compared with 27.9% in 2016.

This rate was calculated by eliminating the re-
sults of companies accounted for using the eq-
uity method and other items without any tax 
effect, and it must be taken into consideration 
that the Group does not recognise tax assets if 
it is not certain that they will be recovered. The 
change in tax rates in the US had practically no 
effect on the Group.

The profit for the year from discontinued op-
erations net of tax relates to the Concessions 

activity and amounted to EUR 497.6 million 
in 2017, as compared with EUR 622.3 million 
in 2016. The detail of the main aggregates is 
shown in the Appendices.

Theprofit attributed to non-controlling inter-
ests amounted to EUR 292.2 million, of which 
EUR -0.4 million relate to continuing opera-
tions and EUR 292.5 million to discontinued 
operations.

The loss attributable to the Parent totalled 
EUR -12.1 million in 2017. Disregarding the 
impact of the collective redundancy procedure, 
legacy projects and other effects, totalling EUR 
-76.5 million, plus other impairment losses on 
financial assets, amounting to EUR -10.0 mil-
lion, it would totalled EUR 74.4 million, 2.3%  
of revenue.

Port of Granadilla. Santa Cruz de Tenerife, Spain.



2017 MANAGEMENT REPORT OHL, S.A. AND DEPENDENT COMPANIES 54

Obrascón Huarte Lain, S.A.  and Dependent Companies - 2017 Management Report

03. GENERATING VALUE

Balance sheet



2017 MANAGEMENT REPORT OHL, S.A. AND DEPENDENT COMPANIES 55

Obrascón Huarte Lain, S.A.  and Dependent Companies - 2017 Management Report

03. GENERATING VALUE

Concession infrastructure: this line item includes 
all of the Group’s concession infrastructure.

The balance of EUR 66.8 million at 2017 year-
end represents a decrease of EUR 6,372.8 million 
with respect to 31 December 2016, due largely 
to the transfer to “Non-Current Assets Classified 
as Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations” 
of the assets of the Concessions Division, which 
at 31 December 2016 amounted to EUR 6,386.3 
million.

At 31 December 2017, the main concession op-
erator was Sociedad Concesionaria Aguas de 
Navarra, S.A., contributing a balance of EUR 
66.2 million to this line item.

Investments accounted for using the equity meth-
od: the balance of EUR 303.1 million at 2017 
year-end represents a decrease of EUR 210.5 
million with respect to 31 December 2016, due 
largely to the transfer to “Non-Current Assets 
Classified as Held for Sale and Discontinued Op-
erations” of the companies in the Concessions 
Division, which at 31 December 2016 amounted 
to EUR 296.4 million.

Non-current assets and liabilities classified as 
held for sale and discontinued operations: At 31 
December 2017, these line items related to the 
assets and liabilities of the companies in the Con-
cessions Division in the process of being sold. 

At 31 December 2016, these line items related to 
the assets and liabilities of the hotel companies 
and the El Camaleón golf course in Mayakoba 
that were in the process of being sold, with the 
sale ultimately taking place in April and May 
2017.

Trade and other receivables: at 31 December 
2017, the balance of this line item amounted to 
EUR 1,753.5 million, accounting for 13.9% of 
total assets.

Progress billings receivable and amounts to be 
billed for work performed represented 80.4% 
of the total “Trade and Other Receivables” bal-
ance and amounted to EUR 1,410.8 million (5.4 
months of sales). 

The balance relating to the projects the revenue 
from which was re-estimated in 2016 (legacy 
projects) accounted for 14.0% of the balance at 
31 December 2017 (31 December 2016: 14.7%).

The balance of “Trade and Other Receivables” 
was reduced by EUR 40.8 million (31 Decem-
ber 2016: EUR 53.3 million) in relation to trade 

receivables factored without recourse (which is 
why they were deducted from the balance).

The Equity attributable to the Parent amounted 
to EUR 2,166.7 million at 31 December 2017, 
which represents 17.2% of total assets and a de-
crease of EUR 273.0 million with respect to 31 
December 2016, due to the net effect of:

•	 The decrease in the attributable profit 
for 2017, which amounted to EUR -12.1  
million.

•	 The decrease in reserves of EUR 200.7 
million arising from the translation of the 
financial statements in foreign currency, 
mainly of the Mexican companies.

•	 The increase of EUR 15.1 million in re-
serves due to the effect of the net fair value 
of the financial instruments transferred to 
profit or loss.

•	 The drop of EUR 2.5 million relating to 
treasury shares. At 31 December 2017, 
12,531,939 treasury shares with a value 
of EUR 48.6 million were held.

•	 The decrease of EUR 72.2 million relating 
to other changes in reserves, due mainly 
to changes in the scope of consolidation.

Non-controlling interests: at 31 December 2017, 
this item amounted to EUR 2,016.6 million, re-
lating substantially in full to the non-controlling 
interests of the discontinued Concessions business. 

The balance was EUR 413.4 million higher than 
at 31 December 2016 due to the net effect of:

•	 The increase of EUR 292.1 million as a result 
of the profit for 2017 attributable to non-con-
trolling interests. 

•	 The decrease of EUR 233.9 million arising 
from the translation of the financial state-
ments in foreign currency.

•	 The increase of EUR 2.0 million due to the 
effect of the remeasurement of financial in-
struments.

•	 The increase of EUR 399.4 million as a result 
of the sale of 24.01% of Concesionaria Mex-
iquense.

•	 The decrease of EUR 31.0 million relating to 
the Mayakoba hotel companies, which start-
ed to be accounted for using the equity meth-
od in 2017.

•	 The drop of EUR 15.2 million relating to oth-
er changes in the scope of consolidation.
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Bank borrowings: the comparison of the bank borrowings at 31 December 2017 compared with 
those at 31 December 2016 is as follows:

The gross recourse borrowings amounted to EUR 1,517.0 million at 31 December 2017, similar to 
the balance at 2016 year-end.

The net recourse borrowings amounted to EUR 943.5 million in 2017, up EUR 195.1 million on 
2016. Worthy of mention is the significant inflow of cash arising from the implementation of the 
Group’s divestment plan, which partially offset the investments made and the operating needs of the 
various businesses. 

The detail of the maturities of the Group’s gross recourse borrowings and available recourse 
liquidity: 

Long-term provisions: the balance of EUR 50.1 million at 2017 year-end represents a decrease of EUR 
149.3 million with respect to 31 December 2016, due largely to the transfer to “Liabilities Associated with 
Non-Current Assets Classified as Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations” of the companies in the 
Concessions Division. At 31 December 2016, the balance amounted to EUR 199.4 million, of which EUR 
134.1 million related to Concessions. 
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The Group’s drawable recourse funds amounted to EUR 1,691.9 million. 

The Group’s recourse liquidity, measured as cash and cash equivalents and available recourse financ-
ing, amounted to EUR 748.4 million.

56.8% of the total gross bank borrowings falls due at long term and the remaining 43.2% matures 
at short term.

Following the transfer to “Liabilities Associated with Non-Current Assets Classified as Held for Sale 
and Discontinued Operations” of the gross borrowings relating to the Concessions Division, the 
gross non-recourse bank borrowings amounted to EUR 57.2 million, only 3.6% of the total gross 
borrowings. 

The Group’s financial risk management is explained in Note 4.2.1. to the consolidated financial 
statements.

Guadalajara Light Rail Line. Line 3. Section “R” Tlaquepaque. Jalisco, Mexico.
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Shareholder and investor relations in 2017

Stock market information
OHL’s share performance was positively affected in 2017 by the asset rotation carried out, by the 
launch and settlement of the OHL México IPO and by the signing of an agreement with IFM for the 
sale of all the shares of OHL Concesiones.

OHL on the Spanish Stock Market Interconnection System:
OHL on the stock market
OHL stock market indicators in 2017:
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•	 Price (2017 closing price and change with respect to 2016: high, low and average), shares traded, 
turnover, days traded and average daily turnover.

•	 Share capital of the Company and number of ordinary shares.

•	 Treasury shares at year-end and par value.

•	 Share performance of OHL and of the construction industry in 2017.

At 31 December 2017, the share capital of 
OHL, S.A. amounted to EUR 179,255,398.8, 
represented by 298,758,998 shares of EUR 0.6 
par value each, all of the same class and series.

The share price of OHL S.A. was EUR 3.295 
per share at the beginning of 2017. The share 
price increased by +51.2% over the year, clos-
ing at EUR 4.981 per share. 

In 2017 the share price reached a high of EUR 
5.455 per share, a low of EUR 2.300 per share, 
and the average price for the period being EUR 
3.935 per share. 

At 31 December 2017, OHL S.A. held 
12,531,234 treasury shares, i.e., 4.194% of the 
Company’s current share capital, which at the 
closing market price amounted to EUR 62.4 
million. In 2016 a total of 643,366,934 shares 
were traded on the stock market (215.3% of 
the total shares admitted for trading) with an 
average daily volume of 2,523,008 shares.

The performance of the Ibex-35 and construc-
tion indexes in Spain was more modest during 
the period, with increases of +7.4% and +9.9%, 
respectively.

Historically, until 2016 OHL had a pay-out of 
25% of the recurring net profit. In 2016 the 
Group, due to the re-estimation of the final ob-
jectives of several Construction projects due to 

the negative evolution of the situation of var-
ious claims and of the Industrial Division, in-
curred a significant loss, as a result of which no 
dividend was distributed.

At 31 December 2017, OHL S.A. owned 
12,531,939 treasury shares, i.e., 4.195% of the 
Company’s share capital (see Note 3.13 to the 
consolidated financial statements).

Although the activity of the Concessions Divi-
sion is presented as a discontinued operation in 
the Group’s consolidated financial statements, 
we detail in this section the information relat-
ing to the stock market performance of OHL 
México S.A.B. de C.V., a subsidiary of OHL 
Concesiones, S.A.U.
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•	 Share performance in 2017.

•	 OHL México share and S&P/BMV IPC market prices in 2017.

•	 Number of shares and par value.

•	 Market price at 31/12/17, market capitalisation in Mexican pesos at 2017 year-end.

OHL México on the stock market
OHL México stock market indicators in 2017:

The OHL Group, through its Concessions Divi-
sion has a 56.85% stake in OHL México S.A.B. 
of C.V., which is listed on the stock market in 
Mexico and whose share price increased by 
+60.0%from the share price of MXN 20.39 at 
the beginning of 2017 to MXN 32.63 per share.

The performance of the OHL Mexico share 
price was positive for most of 2017, thanks 
in part to the takeover bid launched jointly by 
OHL Concessions and IFM. 

It was in the last quarter of the year when the 
bid launched by the Australian fund IFM for 
OHL Concessions (the parent of OHL Mexico 
S.A.B. de C.V.) was made public that the share 

was at its strongest, close to MXN 35 per share 
in November 2017 (the low of around MXN 
19 per share was seen at the beginning of Febru-
ary). The market capitalisation of OHL México 
at 2017 year-end was MXN 56,521,205,327.5.

At 31 December 2017, the share capital of 
OHL México S.A.B. de C.V. amounted to 
MXN 15,334,502 thousand, represented by 
1,732,185,269 ordinary shares, all of the same 
class and series.
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OHL bond issues currently outstanding in the market
OHL, S.A. currently has outstanding in the market three bond issues listed in London, the most rel-
evant data at the end of the year being as follows:

Communication with shareholders, 
investors and analysts
•	 Main channels of communication and dia-

logue with shareholders, investors and an-
alysts.

•	 New developments in 2017, if any.

•	 Most important communications in 2017.

The OHL Group has an Investor Relations De-
partment at the corporate headquarters of the 
Group -Paseo de la Castellana 259-D, Torre 
Espacio, 28046 Madrid-, and at its subsidiary 
OHL México. These teams manage communi-
cation with shareholders, investors and analysts 
with a clear objective: maximum transparency 
with the dissemination of relevant information 
for these stakeholders.

To this end, the Group promotes various on-
site meetings during the year (meetings with 
analysts, national and international roadshows, 
Investor Day and ad-hoc informative meetings) 
and offers several communication channels (e.g. 
the email account: relación.accionistas@ohl.es).

In 2017 several national and international 
roadshows were held (London, Paris and New 
York), and the Group also participated in var-
ious forums and seminars (e.g. Spain Investors 
Day 2017), and organised the traditional an-
nual presentation of the Group’s results for the 
year, together with the Annual General Meeting 
and Investor Day. These presentations, due to 
their importance, are always broadcast on the 
website so that they can be followed by the 
Group’s various stakeholders.

Currently, around 15 financial analysts on 
the equities side and about 10 analysts on the 
fixed-income side (bonds) from various banks 
regularly monitor the OHL Group and the In-
vestor Relations Department maintains ongo-

ing communications with them in response to 
market needs.

Since 2011 OHL has made quarterly results 
presentations through conference calls in Eng-
lish, in which the Group’s executive team an-
swers the questions of the participants and 
establishes direct communication with the fi-
nancial community, without vetoing questions 
of any kind.

Over the rest of the year communication with 
analysts, shareholders and investors is guar-
anteed through the email address: relacion.
accionistas@ohl.es and the shareholder hotline 
+34 91 348 41 57.

Puebla Elevated Bypass. Puebla, Mexico.
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Value for the customer

Digital transformation

The infrastructure industry has been slower than others in adapting to new technologies and for 
many years has undergone few significant transformation processes. In today’s global environment 
companies in the industry have to face bigger and more complex challenges and, therefore, techno-
logical and digital innovation are considered to be strategic pillars in the infrastructure field. 

The OHL Group is prepared for this transformational process since innovation and technology have 
always been part of its culture, and the Group has been a pioneer for more than 20 years in the de-
velopment of proprietary information technologies aimed at optimising its processes and giving it a 
competitive edge over its competitors.

Also, in 2017 work continued in the field of in-
formation security and privacy, with the adop-
tion of various initiatives aimed at adapting the 
systems and processes to current and future leg-
islation. The following initiatives are particu-
larly worthy of mention:

•	 Adaptation to the new European General 
Data Protection Regulation (GDPR), with 
the aim of complying with this legislation 
and increasing the privacy of the Group’s 
data.

•	 Implementation of the Information Secu-
rity Risk Management processes, which 
facilitate better monitoring and treatment 
of the cybersecurity risks in the face of ex-
ternal threats and potential technological 
vulnerabilities. 

In this context, one of the main projects in-
itiated in 2016 consists of implementing BIM 
methodology in the Company’s construction 
processes. With this objective, a total of 27 pi-
lot projects have been designed which started 
to be implemented in 2017 and from which it 
is expected that the first results will be obtained 
in 2018.

In 2017 these pilot projects focused on:

•	 Improving and completing the foundations 
for the Construction value chain, adapting 
OHL’s operating processes and developing 
the appropriate technological platform to 
improve process efficiency and competitive-
ness in the various different phases of the 
project life cycle.

•	 Obtaining predictive and analytical capac-
ity from the projects implemented by the 
Group in the past so that knowledge re-
mains within a homogeneous platform that 
in turn allows the results of the experiences 
to be extrapolated to future projects.

OHL Group digitisation strategy
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Innovative culture and R&D+i

The OHL Group embraces research, development and innovation as fundamental pillars of its strat-
egy, aware of their importance in long-term value creation. 

2017 saw the continuation of the implementation of the 2016-2020 Strategic Innovation Plan. In 
addition, this plan covers both the technology and management fields. 

Priority R&D+i activities
In the civil engineering area, work was per-
formed on the development of new construc-
tion solutions, especially for railways and mar-
itime works. 

Work in the emblematic building construction 
sphere focused mainly on development work 
and experimentation in the energy efficiency 
field. 

In the industrial area, R&D focused on the de-
velopment and validation of Fresnel-type ther-
mosolar technology and on innovation in in-
dustrial system design. 

Cubipods. Punta Langosteira Port. A Coruña, Spain.

2017 Start-up of 22 R&D+i projects. Investment of EUR 10,2 million.

Results that create value

•	 12 patent families in 26 countries

•	 Cubipod was distinguished with the 
Quality Award (QIA)

•	 Signing of a new agreement for the con-
struction of a Port in Denmark  using 
Cubipod technology

Partnerships with more than 40 research 
centres and universities in 14 countries.

Renewal of certification under the UNE 166 
002 standard at the six companies.

Innovation management model
The implementation of a common innovation 
management model for the entire Company 
and the promotion of the culture of innovation 
among its employees have been basic principles 
of the OHL Group in its R&D+i activities.

In the promotion of intrapreneurship, innova-
tive proposals have been gathered from all the 
lines of activity. Worthy of particular mention 
are those received through the programmes to 
facilitate the generation of innovative ideas:

•	 VI award for the + Innovative idea. Organ-
ised by the Group.

•	 V LIDERA! programme, organised by the 
Construction Division. 

In addition, the Construction Division pro-
moted the following models: open innovation, 
flexible development, collaborative intelligence, 
incubation of new businesses and improvement 
to intangible asset management.

Industry Benchmarks in R+D+i
In the commitment to play a leading role in 
identifying challenges and defining innovation 
policies, the OHL Group actively participates 
in various international groupings, including: 

European Network of Construction Companies 
for Research and Development (ENCORD), 
the Spanish Technological Construction Plat-
form (PTEC) and the SEOPAN R&D+i Com-
mission, in the construction area. 
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Quality management

OHL offers the best designs and services to respond to customers’ needs. 

Quality management at the OHL Group is based on processes and on managing risks and oppor-
tunities. It is implemented through a management system integrated with other areas and meets the 
requirements of the ISO 9001 international standard. Additionally, it has external quality standard 
certification for 75% of Sales.

Quality plans include control and specific assurance of the activity and location, as well as commu-
nication with customers and users, continuous improvement and innovation. 

Particularly important factors in contract qual-
ity are the supervision of critical activities by 
specialised personnel, document management 
to guarantee fast and secure access to documen-
tation and adequate coordination with suppli-
ers.

Furthermore, OHL maintains dialogue with 
its customers and users and provides them 
with assistance through periodic meetings, the 
management of their claims and consultations 
regarding their degree of satisfaction. Other 
stakeholders such as government, analysts and 
investment groups are served through the web-
site, periodic reports, email and telephone hot-
lines.

All complaints from clients and users are pro-
cessed by the channel through which they are 
received, and all are answered. The time periods 
and measures needed to resolve each case de-
pend on the type of claim, although the Group 
maintains a firm commitment to ongoing infor-
mation on the progress made. 

Also, when assessing satisfaction, various re-
sources are used, such as: interviews, question-
naires, market analysis, extension of contracts 
and services and new awards. 

All employees and outside collaborators as-
sume the quality of their activities as a working 
principle, as set forth in the Code of Ethics and 
corporate policies. The Group facilitates train-
ing, resources and technology to offer the best 
possible service.

Satisfaction was measured on the basis of the 
result obtained from quality surveys for certain 
customers of the Construction, Industrial and 
Development Divisions. The figures were not 
weighted on the basis of the sales of each com-
pany. 

The customer satisfaction measurement figure 
for the Construction Spain Division relates to 
2016.

Results in 2017

•	 The quality management systems are 
certified by 8 external entities such as: 
SGS, TUV Rheinland, BV, BSI, Aenor and 
JCI. 

•	 75% of sales certified, corresponding to 
markets and customers. 

•	 Almost 400 days of quality audit without 
any serious breaches.

Customer satisfaction rate: 7.9/10 78% of 
end users consider themselves satisfied and 
73% would recommend working with the 
OHL Group.

0.54 claims per million euros of Construction 
sales. The average response period is 4 days 
and the average resolution period is 17 days.

2016-2020 Strategic Quality Lines
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Supply chain
Key purchasing indicators of the OHL Group

Responsible supply chain 
management

The quest for global synergies in hiring and 
the establishment of a collaborative network 
among projects that allows information to be 
shared on suppliers and subcontractors are fun-
damental aspects for OHL. To this end, frame-
work agreements of a global nature are being 
prepared in the Construction Division with a 
view to achieving economies of scale at Group 
level.

In this scenario, the Code of Ethics, the An-
ti-corruption Policy, the Responsible Purchas-
ing Policy and the internal Purchasing regula-
tions continue to be the main pillars of supply 
chain management at the OHL Group. 

All contracts include a clause on compliance 
with the Code of Ethics, and knowledge and 
compliance with the ten Principles of the Glob-
al Compact. Also, under the supplier accredita-
tion requirements, suppliers must not have been 
adjudged in a final decision to have breached 
of any of these Principles during the last three 
years.

These policies governing the supply chain are 
part of the clauses and general purchasing con-
ditions for the supply of general services, while 
the signature of the supplier, which infers its 
knowledge and compliance, is an essential re-
quirement to be able to work with the OHL 
Group. 

As a common requirement for all Group compa-
nies, suppliers considered critical are subject to 
a Third Party Due Diligence analysis, in which 
their suitability is assessed from the technical, 
financial and compliance standpoints.

Purchasing management tools

The Computerised Purchasing System (SIC) 
permits the automated registration of the entire 
purchasing process and guarantees the trans-
parency of the process and equal opportunities 
for all OHL suppliers.

2017 saw the launch of Ariba, a purchasing 
management system that will foreseeably re-
place, in the medium term, the system that has 
been used until now. Ariba will streamline and 
optimise processes, increase control and pro-
vide more value and traceability to the busi-
ness. Moreover, it will produce time and cost 
savings in the processes involved in documenta-
tion analysis and validation, will increase legal 
security and will provide a centralised database 
for all the OHL Group companies.

During the year Ariba was implemented in 
some of the corporate divisions, and is at the 
trial phase at the Hospital de Fuenlabrada (Ma-
drid, Spain).

Green purchases

The standard purchasing terms of the Gener-
al Services Division place special emphasis on 
environmental criteria and incorporate, in their 
records, environmental management factors 
and even certifications of their suppliers, align-
ing them with the objectives of accessibility, 
sustainability and security of the Group’s work 
spaces.

95% Purchases of stationery and consum-
ables at the OHL head offices are environ-
mentally friendly.
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Employee equipped with PPI (personal protective equipment).



2017 MANAGEMENT REPORT OHL, S.A. AND DEPENDENT COMPANIES 67

Obrascón Huarte Lain, S.A.  and Dependent Companies - 2017 Management Report

03. GENERATING VALUE

The value of people
 	  	  	  	  	  

In a year of significant changes in structure and internal organisation, the OHL Group continued 
with talent management materialised in opportunities for professional development and mobility in 
a global environment, promoting ethics, diversity and equal opportunities. 

At 31 December 2017, the OHL Group had 21,464 employees, 2.6% fewer than in 2016. 53% of 
the total workforce is outside Spain. 

Directly employed by the OHL Group

In 2017, and in response to the OHL Group’s 
need to adapt to the new business and economic 
context, Obrascón Huarte Lain, S.A. and OHL 
Industrial, S.L. each implemented a collective 
redundancy procedure for economic, produc-
tion and organisational reasons, framed within 
cost reduction measures aimed at ensuring the 

sustainability of the companies and guarantee-
ing their future viability. 

Both procedures were concluded with an agree-
ment with the respective workers’ representa-
tives, with a total of 381 employees affected at 
the end of the year.

Employee equipped with PPI (personal protective equipment).
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Although these collective redundancy proce-
dures involved the adoption of restructuring 
measures, both companies implemented social 
support measures in order to minimise the so-
cial impact of the redundancies. Thus, it should 
be highlighted that in both cases an outplace-
ment and professional support programme was 
set up for the affected employees in order to 
minimise their unemployment time. 

Diversity

OHL understands diversity as an enriching element that increases and augments the company’s ca-
pacity to meet the expectations of stakeholders and adapt to the different scenarios in which it op-
erates.

Breakdown of employees by pro-
fessional category, age and gender 
With regard to gender equality, the II Equality 
Plan is in force, which underlines the Company’s 
commitment to the promotion of professional 
development and the enhancement of skills and 
competencies, without any gender distinction. In 
2017 work was carried out on the preparation of 
these training materials to sensitise the Group’s 
employees. 

The Equality Committee is responsible for moni-
toring the plan and the various projects that arise 
in this area.

Employment integration plan 
for vulnerable groups
The Group has a firm commitment to the inclu-
sion of people in situations of social vulnerabil-
ity. The Services Division is the most active in 
this connection. In 2017 the Company generated 
80 job opportunities for these groups, especially 

people with disabilities, at risk of social exclu-
sion and victims of gender violence.

In addition to the generation of job opportuni-
ties, the Group participates in other initiatives to 
promote the employability of these groups, such 
as the development of professional volunteering 
in HR or through calls for the presentation of 
social projects by employees.

In the case of Obrascón Huarte Lain, S.A., 
thanks to this outplacement programme, up to 
the end of 2017 43% of those included in it 
had found work; at OHL Industrial, S.L. this 
percentage was 29%. This programme is still 
up and running today with a view to increasing 
the percentage of employees affected by the col-
lective redundancy procedures.

OHL Servicios-Ingesan was awarded the 2017 
Estela Prize, the 2017 Integra Prize and a dis-
tinction awarded by Obra Social La Caixa for 
its commitment to society and its most vul-
nerable groups.
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Remuneration and benefit systems

The purpose of the remuneration system is to define, implement and execute the remuneration pol-
icies and practices of the OHL Group in accordance with its business strategy, based on a total 
compensation approach that guarantees internal fairness and external competitiveness, as well as its 
capacity to attract, retain and obtain the commitment of executives and employees, based on criteria 
of objectivity and equality.

In this regard, the Group has carried out a job analysis and description process, assessing and clas-
sifying it into organisational levels, defining a salary structure by division and geographical area for 
these levels, with a specific positioning with respect to the market, based on the level of competitive-
ness required by the business in each case.

In 2017 work was also performed on the digitisation of the Group’s processes and training manage-
ment data through the implementation of both the knowledge profiles of the job positions and of the 
training associated with these positions and their internal management. 

Training in 2017 (data in Spain)

The remuneration policy of the OHL Group is based on criteria of fairness, competitiveness, 
objectivity and equality.

Further information:    
Appendices:
•	 Appendix 2. OHL Group employee benefits.
•	 Appendix 3. Information on freedom of association and collective bargaining.

Training and development

Within the framework of the Training Plan, a new training model has been implemented (Knowledge 
Map), aimed at continuous professional development and adaptation to technological, organisation-
al and market changes, to achieve maximum training and excellent performance. 

Training Model Process
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Training by professional category

Knowledge profiles and associated training 
In 2017 the Group developed, with internal experts from all areas, knowledge profiles in order to 
tailor them -as well as the associated training- to the specific needs of the job positions.  

Job positions by knowledge profile 

Escuela OHL (OHL School) 
2017 saw the creation of the OHL Group School, a platform that responds to the internation-
al growth being experienced by the Company and where employees with technological means 
can access online training. In this area, specific actions linked to the business model and the legal 
changes affecting the Company have been promoted, including the Fundamentals of Information  
Security  course.

SR826-836 Miami Highway Interchange. Miami, USA.
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Other initiatives
Also in 2017, the EPI programme (individual 
protection equipment) was launched, in con-
junction with the Group’s Occupational Risk 
Prevention team, from which 556 students have 
now benefitted. 

Personal development
In 2017 the first competency development programme was launched, which is carried out in three 
phases:

•	 Phase 1. Identification of people with initial capacity to assume greater responsibilities within 
the organisation.

•	 Phase 2. Proposal of individual measures for the development of the people identified with indi-
cations of potential (knowledge, skills and assumption of greater responsibilities).

•	 Phase 3. Group succession map. Identification of risks due to lack of succession and inclusion of 
the key positions for which a successor is needed. 

Performance evaluation 
In 2017 the Performance Evaluation Model 
was consolidated for management positions, 
service heads and middle management, and was 
extended to technical positions.

Communication 
2017 saw the first anniversary of the launch of 
the Group’s new intranet, OHL Link. A tool de-
signed to promote the corporate culture and the 
participation and collaboration of the Compa-
ny’s employees. The intranet currently has more 
than 9,500 users in 20 countries.

In 2017 the number of followers of the OHL 
Group LinkedIn account passed 70,000, there-
by strengthening its reputation. In addition, the 
100th and 200th editions of the corporate pub-
lications Tecno and Mosaico, respectively, were 
published.

Health and safety
The internal and external audit process contin-
ued in 2017. In the external certification process 
all the certificates obtained in 2016 were retained 
and the scope thereof was extended to Ireland. It 
should be noted that that no “non-compliance” 
classifications were received in the year in the 
Construction and Industrial areas, demonstrat-
ing their commitment to safety.

Also, the internal audit process initiated in 2016 
continued, constituting the best tool for self-con-
trol and self-assessment in the safety area.  

21 countries certified under the OHSAS 
18001 standard.

36.3 days of external audit in Occupational Risk 
Prevention (ORP). 19.8 in Construction, 5 in In-
dustrial, 6.5 in Services and 5 in General Services
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OHL Group accident rates 

Standards manual and IPP
At the end of 2016 the standards manual was finalised to standardise OHL’s preventative criteria 
worldwide. In 2017 its implementation commenced.

Similarly, the Inspection Point Programme (PPI) was developed to import concepts from the quality 
assurance world into the preventive management field. The Programme was developed jointly with 
the School of Civil Engineering of the Universidad Politécnica de Madrid through the Agustín de 
Betancourt Foundation.

Training
Safety training is a fundamental tool for the Group. In 2017 training continued in the various busi-
ness areas. 2,823 hours of ORP training were taught in the corporate areas in Spain. Also, the fol-
lowing training was provided at construction sites:

In 2017 21 ORP courses were given consisting of 2,823 hours of training.
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At the end of 2017 work commenced on the integration of the Construction Division’s prevention 
management system with those of the Industrial and Services Divisions. This integration will simplify 
the audit processes and make it possible to achieve a worldwide multi-site certificate.

Participation in forums
•	 Fundación Prevent: to promote and con-

tribute to the social and occupational in-
clusion of people with disabilities, and to 
promote a preventative culture at the Com-
pany, through greater social awareness that 
guarantees safer work environments and 
more responsible companies.

•	 Conference on Health and Safety in the 
Workplace and Environmental Protectionin 
Gulf Cooperation Council (GCC) states. 
Madrid, Spain

•	 Florida State Associated General Contrac-
tors, US.

Human rights

The OHL Group’s commitment to the protection 
of Human Rights (HR) materialised with the ap-
proval in February 2017 of the Group’s Human 
Rights Policy, through which it reaffirms its com-
mitment to respecting and protecting the human 
rights of the people at the Company, those in its 
supply chain and those in the communities af-
fected by the activity of OHL. 

This commitment is reinforced by the adhesion 
of OHL to the main international HR initiatives 
and guidelines.

•	 UN Universal Declaration of Human Rights.

•	 UN Global Compact (Member and found-
ing partner of its Spanish network).

•	 International Labour Organization (ILO) 
Tripartite Declaration on fundamental prin-
ciples and rights at work.

•	 OECD guidelines for multinational enter-
prises.

•	 UN guiding principles on business and hu-
man rights.

The Audit and Compliance Committee is ulti-
mately responsible for ensuring compliance in 
the HR area at the OHL Group and it performs 
the associated monitoring and control functions 
through the Group’s Internal Audit Department.

In 2017 the Internal Audit Department verified 
compliance with procedures relating to human 
rights in projects in Mexico, Peru, Algeria, Chile 
and the Czech Republic. 
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National Forensic Health Services Hospital. Portrane, Ireland.
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The OHL Group, through its activities, promotes the consolidation of a circular and low-carbon 
economy, aligning itself with the main global initiatives focused on procuring the progress and wel-
fare of society under conditions of sustainability such as Caring for Climate, the Nazca platform, 
Neutral Climate Now and CDP. 

To this end, it incorporates into its strategy the responsible use of natural resources and practices 
aimed at reducing the carbon footprint, water footprint and waste. It also strives towards the conser-
vation of biodiversity and heritage and works in favour of resilience.

03. GENERATING VALUE

Environmental risk management
The Group’s environmental management establishes the resources for controlling risks, compliance 
with regulations and performance improvement.  

In 2017 the significant environmental issues 
were energy consumption, water consumption, 
consumption of raw materials, greenhouse gas 
emissions and waste generation. The Group 
identified as being of secondary importance 
noise and vibration emissions, the impact on 
flora, fauna, biodiversity and ecosystems. A life 
cycle analysis perspective was used in the iden-
tification and evaluation process, taking into 
account the main activities and assessing, inter 
alia, origin, destination and use by third parties 

The activities that so require adjust their man-
agement to benchmark international standards 
such as: ISO 14001, EMAS Registers, ISO 
50001, ISO 14064-1 and ISO 14046. In 2017 a 

total of six external entities, including most no-
tably SGS, TUV Rheinland and Bureau Veritas, 
certified the Group’s environmental manage-
ment in response to customers’ requirements. 
The volume of business certified was 61% and 
highlights the successful conclusion, in all busi-
ness lines and locations, of the process to renew 
the 2015 ISO 14001 certification one year be-
fore the 2018 deadline. 

Internally, the best environmental practices are 
encouraged through the Environment Prize, 
which is awarded annually and is aimed at all 
employees. This initiative acknowledges the 
most significant actions and promotes replica-
tion at the Group.  
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International climate change credentials
The OHL Group has been working for some years now on transparency through its participation in 
various initiatives:
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Sustainable construction
OHL has a firm commitment to sustainable construction and to this end it harnesses the experience of 
renowned professionals to carry out projects subject to the LEED (Leadership in Energy & Environ-
mental Design), BREEAM (Building Research Establishment Environmental Assessment Methodolo-
gy) or CES (Certificación Edificio Sustentable) reference guides in Chile.

Environmental performance and innovation
The OHL Group evaluates its environmental performance through economic indicators (expenditure, 
investment and penalties), environmental indicators (number of protected natural areas, restored sur-
face area and affected animal and plant species) and socio-environmental indicators (consumption of 
natural resources, waste generation and land occupation, among others).

It is important to note that the Construction activity is characterised by taking on projects that vary 
widely in economic and time horizon terms. Development activities are more homogeneous, but their 
maturation period and asset rotation period makes it difficult to make year-on-year comparisons. 

The Group places particular importance on production process and support activity improvement in-
itiatives. Some outstanding examples are the purchase of energy with certificates of origin; investment 
in energy efficiency improvements in headquarters and offices; the re-use of construction waste or sus-
tainable office and sustainable mobility plans in Spain. 

Climate change and energy

For a decade now OHL has been a leader in the 
transition towards an energy efficient economy 
and in the improvement of air quality in cities.

The scope 1 (fuels) and scope 2 (electricity) 
GHG reduction objectives, updated in 2017, 
use Science-Based Target methodology and aim 
to reduce 1+2 emissions by 35% in 2020, by 
55% in 2030 and by 65 % in 2040. In the case 
of scope 3 (indirect emissions), the objective is 
to reduce emissions in 2030 by 10% with re-
spect to 2015. 

In its analysis of risks and opportunities linked 
to climate change, the Group uses carbon pric-
ing estimated on the basis of the cost of the off-
setting plan. In 2017 3,050 t CO2e were offset 
in Chile, Mexico, Peru, Colombia, Canada and 
the US. 

To date OHL has built 26 projects that have been certified as sustainable

705 GJ of electricity with 100% renewable 
source guarantee

119,084.18 tCO
2
e of scope 1+2 emissions are 

produced by Construction.
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Circular economy and water 
management

The OHL Group promotes the responsible con-
sumption of resources and the minimisation of 
waste generation as measures for economic and 
production efficiency. These principles are the 
pillars of the circular economy, whose objec-
tive is to achieve a low carbon and competitive 
economy that makes efficient use of resources.

In line with its strategy, OHL works to promote 
the consumption of responsible products from 
source, promoting recycling and their reincor-
poration into the waste production cycle. The 
main types of materials consumed are concrete 
and cement, and earth, rocks and aggregates, 
with 27% of the latter obtained from recycling 
and re-use activities.

The waste generated relates to earth and aggre-
gates (99.6% of the total), with a high percent-
age of recycling (41%) vs. dumping. This per-
centage cannot readily be improved due to the 
difficulty involved in locating profitable alterna-
tive uses in the vicinity of the construction sites. 
Most of the rest of the non-hazardous waste is 
managed by recycling and re-use as a result of 
the development of a by-product market.

In the Development activities, the waste gener-
ated is mostly urban and organic sent to special-
ist recycling managers.

In 2017 OHL formalised its adhesion to the 
Pact for a Circular Economy promoted by the 
Spanish Ministry of Agriculture and Fisheries, 

Food and the Environment, and collaborated 
in the process of drafting the Spanish Circular 
Economy Strategy with the Government. 

In water management priority is given to loca-
tions where it is a scarce resource, is difficult to 
access or is a key factor for the ecosystem. OHL 
uses an innovative scarce water footprint calcu-
lation protocol, based on the main internation-
al standards of reference, namely ISO 14046, 
WFN and CEO Water Mandate, as a result of 
which OHL intends to publish a Scarce Water 
Footprint report. 

Biodiversity

Lastly, as regards biodiversity and ecosystem 
conservation, it should be noted that the OHL 
Group’s impact on protected natural spaces (or 
unprotected but high-biodiversity value natural 
spaces) arises from projects on which it works 
as a partner or contractor. 

In 2017 OHL worked in protected areas or ar-
eas of high biodiversity that are not protected. 
The impacts are controlled through measure-
ment plans and with offsetting actions includ-
ed in the corresponding Environmental Impact 
Assessment. 

Lago Machado. California, USA.

Further information: Other supporting and 
supplementary documents (available on the 
website):

•	 Appendix 4. GRI Table - Environmental 
performance indicators. 

•	 Appendix 5. Methodologies, assump-
tions and sources used in the environ-
mental indicators.
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Social and relationship value

The OHL Group is aware of the role it plays as an engine of economic and social development and 
an agent that transforms environments; consequently, it implements a social management policy that 
covers the entire life cycle of the projects, from their initial stages right up to their completion, defin-
ing appropriate means of dialogue with the communities in which it works, as well as with society 
in general. 

Also, it adopts specific measures to prevent and minimise the possible adverse effects, and to amplify 
the positive effects, that may arise from its activities, promoting the creation of shared values in all 
the countries in which it operates.

Distribution of generated and distributed value*

Tax contribution

Tax transparency
The non-delegable powers of the Board of Di-
rectors of OHL, S.A. established by Article 249 
bis of the Spanish Limited Liability Companies 
Law includes “The determination of the general 
policies and strategies of the company”.

Similarly, under Article 529 ter of the afore-
mentioned Law, it may not specifically delegate, 

among others, the following decision-making 
powers:

•	 The determination of the risk control and 
management policy, including tax risks, 
and the supervision of the internal report-
ing and control systems.

•	 The approval of investments or other 
transaction that, due to their high amount 
or special characteristics, are of a strategic 
nature or involve a particularly significant 
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tax risk, unless their approval corresponds 
to the shareholders at a General Meeting.

•	 Approval of the creation or acquisition of 
equity interests in special-purpose entities 
or entities domiciled in countries or terri-
tories classified as tax havens or territories 
with low or no taxation, as well as any oth-
er transactions or operations of a similar 
nature that, due to their complexity, could 
undermine the transparency of the compa-
ny and its group.

To comply with the foregoing, the Board of 
Directors updated and approved on 29 March 
2017 a tax policy (see www.ohl.es) the main 
objectives of which are as follows:

•	 To publicise the OHL Group’s commitment 
to observing and fully complying with all 
laws and regulations applicable to it in the 
scope of its activity and, in particular, those 
of a tax nature in all the territories in which 
it operates.

•	 The reputation of the OHL Group is based, 
inter alia, on promoting the actions of all 
the people who represent it in accordance 
with the highest ethical standards, which 
includes strict compliance with the tax leg-
islation applicable to the Group.

•	 One of the basic pillars of the OHL Group’s 
contribution to society is that of returning 
to it, through taxes, a portion of the wealth 
generated and, therefore, it must take ac-

tive measures to guarantee responsible be-
haviour in this connection.

This tax policy of the OHL Group is applicable 
to all its subsidiaries and permanent establish-
ments in all the countries in which it operates, 
and compliance with it is also encouraged at 
those entities in which the Group has non-con-
trolling interests.

The points contained in the tax policy include 
most notably the requirement that the Group 
include among its customary practices all those 
that reduce significant tax risks and prevent 
behaviour likely to generate such risks, with a 
transfer pricing policy that faithfully respects 
the legislation applicable in each country, as 
well as the principles established by the OECD 
in its transfer pricing guidelines.

Moreover, in its relations with the tax author-
ities, the OHL Group promotes a relationship 
based on the principle of transparency and mu-
tual trust, which gives rise to a relationship in 
accordance with the principle of good faith and 
loyalty between the parties, and this is promot-
ed in all jurisdictions in which it has adhered 
to any cooperation agreement with the tax au-
thorities, in order to establish a collaborative 
relationship with society, as represented by 
those institutions.

To further its achievement of this commitment 
to tax transparency, the OHL Group is actively 
working to be able to make voluntary disclo-
sures of tax contributions in the countries in 
which it has a permanent presence; however, 
the corporate transactions carried out in 2017 
(disinvestments of significant subsidiaries or 
highly significant divestments of other subsidi-
aries in progress) made it advisable to postpone 
this process in order to obtain a better under-
standing of the Group’s tax contribution.

In 2018 the methodology to be used will be 
defined and the reporting procedures of all 
the subsidiaries will be established for the pur-
pose of report on own and third-party tax-
es, detailing the total tax contribution of the 
 OHL Group.

Torrespacio. Madrid, Spain
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Social investment 
                                               

The priority objective of OHL’s social investment 
is to foster economic and social progress and im-
prove the quality of life of people, through the 
promotion of social action, patronage and spon-
sorship activities. To these initiatives was added, 
exceptionally, the support that the Group has lent 
to countries such as Peru, Mexico and the US, as 
a result of the natural disasters that occurred in 
2017.

In Peru, employees of the Group participated in 
the Una sola fuerza, (A single force) campaign, 
aimed at the population affected by the floods 
that ravaged the country in March 2017. Worthy 
of particular mention in this connection were the 
primary care, road assistance and the distribution 
of essential goods among the population affected. 

OHL’s contribution in emergency situations and humanitarian aid EUR 315,819 invested

8,200 direct beneficiaries.

Social integration through education about more than EUR 320,470 invested, more than 1,600 
beneficiaries in Spain, Mexico and Colombia in 13 educational projects.

World Environment Day. Madrid, Spain.

Other initiatives
In 2017 the Company promoted initiatives aimed at giving several groups of people access to an inclu-
sive, fair and quality education. To this end, educational scholarship programmes were launched from 
which disadvantaged families have benefited; and the Group worked with schools and universities to 
achieve social integration through education. 

The humanitarian aid provided by the Group 
in Mexico in September 2017 as a result of the 
earthquake that took place there took the form of 
Company employees working alongside the Red 
Cross. The implementation of safety and civil 
protection protocols is one example of the work 
carried out. In addition, the Group is a member 
of the Fuerza México Trust set up to mitigate the 
effects of earthquakes. 

In the US, following the passage of Hurricanes 
Harvey and Irma, a damage assessment proto-
col was implemented at the Houston (Texas) and 
Fort Meyers (Florida) work centres, and assis-
tance was provided to Group employees and their 
families as well as to other affected groups. The 
Group also participated in cleaning tasks in the 
area hit by the earthquake.
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Corporate volunteering

The Group promotes social initiatives in collaboration with its employees, thus strengthening corporate 
volunteering and, through it, the commitment of its employees to society. 

Noteworthy in this context is the OHL Volunteers programme which in 2017, celebrated its tenth an-
niversary. Currently, OHL Volunteers is made up of more than 400 employees from Spain and Mexico.  
In addition, the Group engages in volunteering, on a more sporadic basis, in the US, Canada, Chile, Peru 
and Colombia. 

In 2017 more than 10,000 people benefitted from 32 social initiatives carried out by the Group. More than 
500 employees assisted the Group in promoting this work.

Further information: Appendix 6. Social investment report pursuant to LBG methodology

Investment in 2017: EUR 1.8 million invested 21,661 beneficiaries 679 cooperating and benefi-
ciary organisation.

Social investment in 2017
The Group’s total social investment in 2017 amounted to EUR 1.8 million and took the form of 
134 social actions. To measure this investment, the Group applies the London Benchmarking Group 
(LBG) methodology, which makes it possible to determine its social impact. 81% of the investment 
made meets the requirements established by that methodology.
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Anniversary of OHL Volunteers. OHL Volunteers website: www.voluntariosohl.com
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Relationship with stakeholders 
and alliances

The OHL Group values its reputation as a fun-
damental intangible asset, since it evidences the 
trust that its stakeholders place in the Compa-
ny. The OHL Group’s stakeholders are: custom-
ers, shareholders, the financial community, the 
media, employees, suppliers, local communi-
ties, R&D partners, industry associations, gov-
ernment agencies, employer branding influenc-
ers, trade unions, consulting firms, NGOs and 
Foundations and the general public. In order to 
promote active management of the Company, 
in 2017 a specific management body was set up, 
namely, the Reputation Working Group, made 
up of senior management (CEO, Division Gen-
eral Managers and Corporate General Manag-
ers), as well as those responsible for the areas 
most linked to the relationship with stakehold-
ers, such as the Communication, Compliance, 

OHL Volunteers X Anniversary Celebration. Madrid, Spain.

Risks and Internal Control, Investor Relations 
and CSR. 

Through this working group, the reputation 
management model and a plan that includes 
specific initiatives focused on improving the 
perception, at short term, of the Company were 
defined. 

In addition to these management mechanisms, 
OHL has channels for continuous interaction 
and dialogue with its main stakeholders. Wor-
thy of particular mention are the customer 
satisfaction and claims management analysis 
systems; the face-to-face meetings with senior 
management and other channels of commu-
nication with shareholders and investors; the 
supplier hotlines; the local community interac-
tion projects; and the performance evaluation 
meetings with employees.

10 years of OHL Volunteers in figures: more than 6,500 participating employees, more than 150 
initiatives and more than 20,000 beneficiaries

Further information:    
Appendix 8. OHL Group alliances
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Good Governance

Ownership structure (percentages of ownership). At 31 December 2017

Governing bodies  

Board of Directors
Composition at 31 December 2017: 

Chairman
Juan Villar-Mir de Fuentes (proprietary)

First Deputy Chairman
Silvia Villar-Mir de Fuentes (proprietary)

Second Deputy Chairman and CEO
Juan Luis Osuna Gómez (executive)

Directors
Álvaro Villar-Mir de Fuentes (proprietary)

Ignacio Moreno Martínez (independent)

Javier Goñi del Cacho (proprietary)

José Luis Díez García (independent)

Juan Antonio Santamera Sánchez (proprietary)

Juan José Nieto Bueso (independent) (coordi-
nating director)

Manuel Garrido Ruano (proprietary)

Mónica de Oriol Icaza (independent)

Reyes Calderón Cuadrado (independent)

In 2017 the Board approved the appointment 
through co-optation of two new directors: Ig-
nacio Moreno Martínez, independent director, 
and Javier Goñi del Cacho, proprietary director, 
subsequently ratified by the shareholders at a 
General Meeting. 

The appointment of Ignacio Moreno Martínez 
increased the percentage of independent direc-

tors on the Board, the number rising from 4 to 
5, representing more than 45% of the non-ex-
ecutive directors, in accordance with the Good 
Governance recommendations.

Further information in the Annual Corporate 
Governance Report (ACGR) for 2017.

Board Committees
Audit and Compliance Committee (ACC)
Composition at 31 December 2017:

Chairman   	
José Luis Díez García (independent)

Directors  	
Manuel Garrido Ruano (proprietary)

Reyes Calderón Cuadrado (independent)

On 29 March 2017, the Committee appointed 
José Luis Díez García as its Chairman.

Main business transacted by the ACC 
in 2017:
•	 Review of the separate and consolidated 

financial statements for the year ended 31 
December 2016 and periodic, quarterly 
and half-yearly information, provided to 
the market, together with information de-
manded from the Company by the Spanish 
National Securities Market Commission 
(CNMV) and the replies thereto.

•	 Submit to the Board of Directors, for au-
thorisation for issue, the Annual Corporate 
Governance Report for 2016.

•	 Sustainability Report for 2016.
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•	 Analysis of internal auditor’s reports includ-
ed in its annual plan and other reviews con-
ducted in the year. 

•	 2016 tax report.

•	 Analysis of the independence and proposal 
for the appointment of the external auditor.

•	 Proposal for the appointment of the external 
auditor for 2017.

•	 Supervision of the risk control systems and 
actions in relation to the OHL Group’s Risk 
Management Model. 

•	 Supervision of the actions of the Compliance 
Department in its work in relation to the 
Code of Ethics, surveillance measures, man-
agement model and crime prevention and 
management of incidents reported through 
the Ethics Channel.

•	 Self-assessment of the functioning of the 
Committee.

For further information please see the Annu-
al Corporate Governance Report (ACGR) for 
2017.

Nomination and Remuneration Commit-
tee (NRC)
Composition at 31 December 2017:

Chairman  
Mónica de Oriol e Icaza (independent)

Directors 
Juan Antonio Santamera Sánchez (proprietary)

Juan Villar-Mir de Fuentes (proprietary)

Juan José Nieto Bueso (independent)

Reyes Calderón Cuadrado (independent)

On 29 March 2017, Juan Antonio Santamera 
Sánchez and Reyes Calderón Cuadrado became 
members of the Committee.

Main business transacted by the NRC  
in 2017:
•	 Evaluate competencies, knowledge and ex-

perience needed by the candidates to cover 
the vacancies arising on the Board of Direc-
tors during the year, actively participating in 
the independent director selection process, 
and reporting on the proposals relating to 
the other directors appointed in 2017.

•	 Analyse and report on the appointments to 
the Board of Directors in 2017 as a result 

of the replacement of the Chief Executive 
Officer of the Board.

•	 Report on the director remuneration policy 
approved at the Annual General Meeting 
for 2017 and subsequent years pursuant to 
article 529 novodecies of the Spanish Limit-
ed Liability Companies Law.

•	 Propose to the Board of Directors the remu-
neration of the executive director and the 
other contractual terms and conditions.

•	 Report on the appointment and removal of 
senior executives and the basic terms and 
conditions of their contracts.

•	 Submit to the Board of Directors for au-
thorisation for issue the Board Directors 
Remuneration Report for 2016.

•	 Analyse and report on transactions with re-
lated parties carried out in 2017 in accord-
ance with Group regulations.

•	 Actions in relation to the Group’s Corpo-
rate Social Responsibility Policy.

•	 Self-assessment of the functioning of the 
Committee.

•	 Autoevaluación del funcionamiento de la 
propia Comisión.

Further information in the Annual Corporate 
Governance Report (ACGR) for 2017.

Incompatibilities and conflicts of interest 
(Regulations of the Board of Directors)
The Regulations of the Board of Directors of the 
OHL Group regulate situations of incompatibil-
ity and conflicts of interest of its directors. They 
also address, in detail, those situations in which, 
due to the existence of a possible conflict of in-
terests, the director must inform the Board of 
Directors of any situation of direct or indirect 
conflict that they may have with the interests 
of the Company; and they must refrain from 
attending and intervening in deliberations and 
voting that affect matters related to the conflict.

The Company has a specific rule that, imple-
menting the provisions of the Regulations of 
the Board of Directors and approved by the 
Board of Directors, reinforces and details the 
procedures and controls of transactions that the 
Company or any of the companies in its Group 
wish to carry out with the directors, with the 
significant shareholders or with persons related 
to them. 
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The transactions affected by this procedure are 
all transfers of resources, services, rights and 
obligations, regardless of whether or not there 
is any consideration, made by any of the per-
sons referred to in the previous section, with the 
Company or with any of the Group companies.

Neither the directors nor the executives of the 
Company reported any incompatibility or con-
flict of interest in 2017. The Company reports 
in the financial statements and the corporate 
governance report the significant related party 
transactions performed by it or by Group com-
panies with significant shareholders, directors, 
executives or parties related to them.

Further information in the financial statements 
and Annual Corporate Governance Report 
(ACGR) for 2017.

Management Committee
Composition at 31 December 2017:

Chairman
Juan Luis Osuna Gómez

Second Deputy Chairman and CEO of the OHL 
Group

Directors
Ignacio Botella Rodríguez ·
General Manager of the Engineering and 
Construction Division

Jose Antonio de Cachavera Sánchez
General Manager of the Services Division

Alfonso Gordon García ·
General Manager of Human Resources and 
Organisation

Alfonso Orantes Casado de Amezúa ·
General Manager of Strategy, Systems and 
Innovation

Andrés Pan de Soraluce Muguiro
General Manager of the Development Division

Enrique Weickert Molina
General Economic and Financial Manager of 
the OHL Group

José María del Cuvillo Pemán*
General Manager of Legal Services of the OHL 
Group

Gonzalo Targhetta Reina**
Risk and Internal Control Manager of the OHL 
Group

*Acts as secretary
** Standing invitee.

 ·Not senior executives at the date of this report.

Diversity Policy Applied in connection with 
the Board of Directors

In 2017 the Group also approved the Direc-
tor Selection Policy, which ensures that the 
proposals for appointment or re-election of 
these positions are based on a prior analysis 
of the needs of the Board of Directors and fa-
vour the diversity of knowledge, experience 
and gender.

Specifically, the policy establishes the mech-
anisms required for the selection procedure 
not to be afflicted by bias hindering the ap-
pointment of women directors and for it to 
deliberately seek women who could poten-
tially be candidates for the post. This policy 
also provides for the goal that in 2020 wom-
en directors represent at least 30% of the 
total number of directors.
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Ethics and compliance

Code of Ethics and Anti-Cor-
ruption Policy

Ethics, integrity, honesty, spirit of improvement, 
continuous improvement and transparency are 
the corporate values of the OHL Group that 
guide the conduct of all its directors and em-
ployees in the performance of their work.

The Code of Ethics, approved by the Board 
of Directors in 2010 and revised in 2012 and 
2015, is an express and precise indication of the 
values, principles and behavioural guidelines, in 
order to:

•	 Develop the models and guidelines for pro-
fessional, ethical and responsible behaviour 
that should guide all the people who make 
up the OHL Group in the performance of 
their work

•	 Prevent the commission of criminal acts 
and any unlawful behaviour by the persons 
bound by this Code in the performance of 
their professional activity.

•	 Establish the monitoring and control mech-
anisms necessary to guarantee compliance 
with it.

The Code of Ethics constitutes one of the cor-
nerstones of OHL’s Corporate Social Respon-
sibility management and is the channel for the 
development of its corporate values, which are:

•	 Professional ethics, integrity, honesty, loy-
alty, efficiency and responsibility vis-à-
vis stakeholders, in all the actions of the 
Group, while at all times fully complying 
with the law in force.

•	 Will to succeed and continuous improve-
ment in professional performance, while 
striving at all times for excellence.

•	 Transparency in the dissemination of infor-
mation, which must be adequate, accurate, 
checked and complete.

•	 Creation of value with a quest for profita-
bility and sustainable growth.

•	 Constant promotion of committed quality, 
innovation, safety and respect for the envi-
ronment.

All OHL employees must know and sign the 
Code of Ethics; therefore, since 2012 a clause 
has been included in the employment contract 
for new hires and a copy of the document is 
given to them when they sign it.

The Group signed the United Nations Global 
Compact and, accordingly, it is committed to 
working anywhere in the world against corrup-
tion and bribery and following the recommen-
dations in this field of international organisa-
tions such as the OECD. 

These values constitute the foundations on 
which the Code of Ethics is based and estab-
lish the general action guidelines that must 
be observed by all OHL Group employees in 
performing their professional duties. In 2017, 
although there was no specific training on the 
Code of Ethics and the Anti-Corruption Policy, 
e-mails and informative bulletins were sent to 
the Group’s employees. Also, the course on the 
Code of Ethics and Anti-Corruption Policy was 
updated by migrating it to an interactive online 
platform.

Ethical Communications 
Channel

The Ethical Channel is available to all the peo-
ple that form part of the OHL Group, as well 
as to the stakeholders, for any consultation or 
for the communication in good faith of any 
professional conduct that may involve, by ac-
tion or omission, irregularities, breaches or acts 
contrary to the rules and principles set forth in 
the Code of Ethics, to all the other rules and 
procedures making up the Group’s internal reg-
ulatory system or to law.

The Audit and Compliance Committee guaran-
tees the proper management of the complaints 
made, which ensures that they will be treated 
with complete confidentiality and in accord-
ance with the internal procedure that regulate 
its modus operandi. Also, it is responsible for 
implementing such disciplinary, enforcement 
and legal actions as might be required until 
such time as they have been resolved.

The Ethics Channel provides, inter alia, for the 
processes for dealing with complaints to ensure 
confidentiality, fair treatment (and the absence 
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of reprisals), notification, analysis, investigation 
and resolution. 

In 2017 a total of 60 complaints were received, 
48 of which were made through the Ethical 
Communications Channel, the other 12 being 
made through other channels. A total of 29 of 
the complaints were investigated and 31 were 
dismissed because they did not represent any vi-
olation of the Code of Ethics. In 11 of the cases 
investigated disciplinary measures were taken.

Crime Prevention Model

OHL has an Organisation and Management 
Model for the Crime Prevention (CPM) in 
Spain, which was updated in 2017 to adapt it 
to the organisational changes at the Group and 
which has the following characteristics:

•	 The model is ordered on the basis of the or-
ganisational structure of the OHL Group, 
highlighting, in specific sections, the crim-
inal risks and the corresponding controls, 
both for the corporation and for each of the 
divisions.

•	 Based on this structure, the model identifies 
the criminal risks to which there is expo-
sure for each activity or support function 
in Spain.

•	 Internal controls have been associated with 
each risk identified that mitigate or de-
crease the probability of each criminal risk 
materialising.

•	 The model documents these internal con-
trols with the attributes that characterise 
them, including the area or department 
responsible for implementing them, a spe-
cific description of the control activity and 
the evidence supporting that activity. Also, 
where applicable, each control is accompa-
nied by the policy, rule, process or proce-
dure setting forth and specifying the crite-
ria followed for adopting decisions relating 
to the management of the Group’s activity.

The CPM includes controls relating to the 
OHL Group’s system of Internal Control over 
Financial Reporting (ICFR), which also has the 
capacity to prevent crimes, including most no-
tably those associated with the management of 
financial resources.

The model is updated on the basis of the organ-
isational and legal changes that take place and 
will gradually be implemented in the various 
countries in which it has a presence, adapting it 
to local legislation.

Toledo University Hospital. Spain.
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Effective risk management

Risk management is a strategic priority for the OHL Group. Through advanced analysis and control 
systems, it aims to minimise exposure to such risks, ensure compliance with the profitability targets 
of each project and that the new contracting is in line with the risk control parameters set by the 
managing bodies. 

In this context, in 2017 progress was made in the following lines of action: 

Stronger and more organised management structure
The organisational units required for risk management in each division were strengthened and the 
Risk Monitoring Committee was consolidated as a forum for ensuring the alignment of the initiatives 
launched in each of them with the strategy set by the Corporate Risks Department and for sharing 
good practices among the various divisions. 

Business risk identification and prioritisation process risk maps
In addition to risk maps, the OHL Group has mechanisms for controlling exposure to key risks. 
Thus, to manage its expansion in new markets, OHL has defined a Country Risk Model, with the 
inclusion of two new types of risk (weather risk and cybersecurity risk) which will be consolidated 
in the risk assessment of each country under study. The results of the model, which is periodically 
updated, serve to make investment decisions. 

In addition, in order to manage the operational performance risks, there is a system of red lines that 
mark the risk tolerance level of the OHL Group in relation to commercial and contractual issues. In 
2017 these red lines were updated for the projects of the Engineering and Construction Division and 
were approved by the Board of Directors. 
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Risk exposure control systems: country risk and red lines
In addition to risk maps, the OHL Group has mechanisms for controlling exposure to key risks. 
Thus, to manage its expansion in new markets, OHL has defined a Country Risk Model, with the 
inclusion of two new types of risk (weather risk and cybersecurity risk) which will be consolidated 
in the risk assessment of each country under study. The results of the model, which is periodically 
updated, serve to make investment decisions. 

In addition, in order to manage the operational performance risks, there is a system of red lines that 
mark the risk tolerance level of the OHL Group in relation to commercial and contractual issues. In 
2017 these red lines were updated for the projects of the Engineering and Construction Division and 
were approved by the Board of Directors. 

Project risk management system: managing risks in day-to-day 
operations
In addition to the tools for managing the aforementioned high-level risks, the OHL Group also has 
systems for managing the specific risks of the projects carried out by the Company, which cover the 
entire life cycle of the project, from the bidding phase right through to performance and closing.

In this regard, in 2017 the Engineering and Construction Division defined a new risk management 
process for projects at the bidding phase and a specific tool was designed to optimise that manage-
ment, which is being implemented in various pilot markets. 

This tool not only makes management more flexible, but it also establishes a homogeneous and co-
ordinated model for action, decision making and control throughout the life of the project. 

Technological solutions: digitising risk management
The OHL Group’s Risk and Internal Control Department continued to make progress on the digiti-
sation of risk management by designing new tools and updating existing ones. 

Worth noting in this connection are the design and implementation of the new tool that supports 
the third-party due diligence process, an in-house development of the OHL Group to integrate the 
technical, financial and compliance risk analyses performed before formalising relationships with 
customers, shareholders and subcontractors/critical suppliers, among other third parties.

In addition, progress continues to be made in the implementation of a risk management tool for 
projects at the performance phase, which was launched in prior years.
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Internal audit

The Internal Audit Department is an independ-
ent and objective assurance, internal control 
and consultation service to provide support to 
the organisation in the effective fulfilment of its 
responsibilities and objectives. Moreover, it is 
not an executive body within OHL and oper-
ates in accordance with the policies established 
by the Board of Directors, through its Audit 
and Compliance Committee.

Its basic functions are:

Sus funciones básicas son:

•	 To review the veracity, reliability and com-
pleteness of the financial and operating re-
cords and information.

•	 To report on the proper performance of 
processes and the efficient use of resources.

•	 To verify the reliability of the risk manage-
ment and internal control systems and the 
quality of the information.

•	 Specifically, to review the system of Internal 
Control over Financial Reporting (ICFR).

•	 To verify the existence and status of assets 
and their protection.

•	 To verify the existence of internal rules and 
procedures that adequately regulate the 
main activities and that make it possible to 
correctly measure the economy and effec-
tiveness thereof.

•	 To evaluate the degree of compliance with 
internal and external rules and procedures.

•	 To propose modifications, revisions or ad-
aptations of the set of internal regulations 
required to enhance operations.

•	 To monitor investment and divestment 
transactions.

•	 To maintain coordinated relationships with 
the work performed by the external auditor 
as a complementary activity.

•	 To make recommendations to help correct 
the anomalies detected and monitor their 
implementation.

•	 To prepare their work plans and keep them 
updated, including the preparation of the 
annual activity report, etc.

•	 To keep an inventory of fraud risks and the 
associated controls, and test the effective-
ness of those controls on a rotating basis.

•	 To participate as a guest on various com-
mittees: Management, Investments, Quali-
ty and Environment and Systems Security.

The Audit and Compliance Committee reviews 
all the reports it issues and they are presented at 
its monthly meetings.

In 2017 audits were carried out in all the 
Group’s divisions and in most of the countries 
in which operates. The scope of those audits en-
compasses mainly the following:

•	 Concessions, construction projects and in-
dustrial projects and services.

•	 Regular obtainment of indicators/alerts on 
specific parameters (preventative audit).

•	 System of Internal Control over Financial 
Reporting.

•	 Economic control and other significant as-
pects of the implementation of new systems.

•	 Insurance.

•	 Variable remuneration.

•	 Verification that investments approved by 
the Investments Committee have actually 
been made.

Also, the Committee has a specialist fraud pre-
vention and investigation unit, which performed 
actions in this connection throughout the year. 
It also continued with the verification of compli-
ance with human rights policies. 

For the most significant recommendations and 
corrective measures, monthly monitoring activi-
ties are performed in the Management Commit-
tee and in the Annual Internal Audit Report sub-
mitted to the Audit and Compliance Committee.
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Scope
 

The scope of this report for the purposes of the 
Global Reporting Initiative (GRI) is the same 
as that of the consolidated financial statements, 
which includes OHL, S.A. and subsidiaries. 

In the case of the Concessions business and in 
view of the decision to sell it, it is included as 
a discontinued operation and, therefore, the in-
formation thereon has been excluded from the 
Group’s indicators. The most significant non-fi-
nancial information relating to this discontin-
ued operation is presented in Chapter III, CSR 
in the Concessions Division.

Any difference with respect to the scope de-
scribed, due to the fact that the information is 
not available in a given country, has been indi-
cated in each of the corresponding sections and 
in the table of GRI contents.

US environmental information was not includ-
ed in 2017 due to the unavailability thereof at 
the time of preparation of this report. The rela-
tive weight of the US in total consolidated em-
ployees is 10%. 

Preparation methodology 

The process of preparing the OHL Group’s 
2017 consolidated directors’ report followed 
the recommendations of the International Inte-
grated Reporting Framework (IR) of the Inter-
national Integrated Reporting Council (IIRC) 
and regulatory guidance in this area . 

The quality of the information collected at 
source is a key element in the preparation of 
the 2017 consolidated directors’ report. The 
collection and consolidation of information at 
source is done through the Enablon software 
application. 

The principles of inclusiveness, materiality and 
responsiveness, included in the AA1000 stand-
ard, which includes the AA1000APS Accounta-
bility Principles, are used in its preparation. 

For the first time, this report has been prepared 
in accordance with the reporting principles in 
the new version of the GRI-Standards, with re-
gard to determining the content of the report 
(stakeholder inclusiveness, sustainability con-

text, materiality, completeness) and the quality 
of the report (balance, comparability, accuracy, 
timeliness, clarity and accuracy). In cases where 
some of these principles have not been applied, 
this is specifically indicated in the content in 
question.

With this Report, the OHL Group aims to ad-
dress the demands for information from the 
Company’s stakeholders and demonstrate the 
relevance of CSR to it.

In order to provide complete, transparent and 
rigorous communication, the OHL Group sub-
mits the contents of its Sustainability Report and 
its adaptation to GRI-Standards to various in-
ternal and external control and audit processes.

The verification of the contents collected and 
included in this report has been carried out by 
Deloitte, following the ISAE 3000 standard 
with a limited assurance scope.

 

Materiality 

The OHL Group analyses the most relevant 
issues for the Company and its stakeholders 
in order to define the axes of its strategic CSR 
plan and to prioritise the contents to be report-
ed in this 2017 consolidated directors’ report. 
With this exercise, the Group seeks to enhance 
its sustainability efforts and respond to the de-
mands for information from its key stakehold-
ers. This ensures that the issues addressed in 
this report cover the main expectations of the 
stakeholders identified by OHL, thus following 
the principle of materiality of international re-
porting standards such as the Global Reporting 
Initiative or Integrated Reporting. 

In 2017 the materiality analysis used to define 
the 2015-2020 CSR strategic Plan was updated. 
For this purpose, external sources were consult-
ed, such as regulations on reporting of non-fi-
nancial information, international standards, 
questionnaires from the main sustainability an-
alysts, reports on the sustainability challenges 
of our industry or monitoring reports on media 
and social networks. In addition, the material-
ity matrices published in the integrated reports 
and CSR reports of the main companies in our 
industry and other leading companies were ex-
haustively benchmarked. 
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Lastly, in order to complete this analysis, a series 
of internal interviews were conducted with those 
responsible for key areas of the organisation. 
Particular emphasis was placed on those that 
have a direct relationship with the main stake-
holders, who also manage and know first-hand 

their concerns and information requirements 
(quality, HR, investor relations, CSR, commu-
nication and compliance, among others).

As a result of this external and internal analy-
sis, the following list of material matters was 
updated: 
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Contact details
 

For any clarification, suggestion or additional 
information about this publication please con-
tact the following addresses:

OHL Group

Torrespacio, Paseo de la Castellana, 259 D

28046 Madrid

Tel.: +34 91 348 41 00

www.ohl.es

Corporate Social Responsibility Service
rsc@ohl.es
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Appendix. OHL Concesiones (discontinued operation)

For information purposes, the main operating aggregates of this division are presented.

The changes in sales and EBITDA of Concesiones with respect to the prior period are as follows:

The main factors that influenced the growth in sales and EBITDA were as follows:

Sales and EBITDA in comparable terms (at a constant exchange rate and without the effect of the 
change in the method used to account for Metro Ligero Oeste and Autovía de Aragón) increased by 
+8.3% and +17.8%, respectively.

The trend in traffic and tolls in the Group’s concessions is shown in the table below:
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The 65.7% decrease in sales under IFRIC 12 (construction activity carried out by the concession op-
erators themselves) is due to the reduction in the amounts invested in 2017, mainly in Concesionaria 
AT-AT, compared to 2016.

The appreciation/depreciation of the average exchange rate of the euro in December 2017 vis-à-vis 
the Latin American currencies compared to December 2016 was as follows:

CSR in the Concessions Division

The detail of the principal CSR parameters of this division is as follows:

Human capital

The human capital of the Concessions Division at 31 December 2017 was made up of 2,229 people 
compared to 2,211 in 2016.

As a result of these factors, the changes in sales and EBITDA of the main concession operators, 
grouped together by country, were as follows:
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Health and safety

Investment in R&D+i 

Environmental value
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Social and relationship value

Centro Botín. Santander, Spain.
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Alternative performance 
measures

The OHL Group presents its results in accord-
ance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRSs) and also uses certain Alterna-
tive Performance Measures (APMs) that facili-
tate a better understanding and comparability 
of the financial information. In order to comply 
with the guidelines of the European Securities 
and Markets Authority (ESMA), we hereby dis-
close the following: 

EBITDA: profit from operations before the de-
preciation and amortisation charge and changes 
in provisions and allowances, deducting, where 
appropriate, extraordinary/non-recurring gains 
or losses with no impact on cash. 

Recourse EBITDA: total EBITDA (including 
interest income and excluding non-recurring 
extraordinary losses), less the EBITDA of the 
project companies, and including, where ap-
propriate, dividends paid to the Parent by the 
project companies.

Project companies: companies for whose debt 
there is no recourse to the Parent OHL, S.A.

EBIT: calculated on the basis of the following 
line items in the consolidated statement of prof-
it or loss: “Revenue”, “Other Operating In-
come”, “Operating “Expenses”, “Staff Costs”, 
“Depreciation and Amortisation Charge” and 
“Changes in Provisions and Allowances”.

Gross borrowings: groups together the balanc-
es of the “Non-Current Liabilities - Debt In-
struments and Other Marketable Securities”, 
“Non-Current Liabilities - Bank Borrowings”, 
“Current Liabilities - Debt Instruments and 
Other Marketable Securities” and “Current 
Liabilities - Bank Borrowings” headings on the 
liability side of the consolidated balance sheet, 
including bank borrowings and bonds.

Net borrowings: made up of gross borrowings 
less “Other Current Assets” and “Cash and 
Cash Equivalents• on the asset side of the con-
solidated balance sheet.

Non-recourse borrowings (gross or net): the 
borrowings (gross or net) of the project com-
panies. 

Recourse borrowings (gross or net): total bor-
rowings (gross or net) less non-recourse bor-
rowings (gross or net).

Backlog: short-and long-term unearned reve-
nue from contracts awarded. Once they have 
been formalised, these contracts are included in 
the backlog.

•	 Short-term backlog: represents the estimat-
ed unearned Construction, Industrial and 
Services revenue, and also includes expect-
ed revenue from changes in contracts or 
additional work estimated on the basis of 
the percentage of completion of the pro-
jects.

•	 Long-term backlog: represents the estimat-
ed future revenue of the concessions, over 
the concession term, based on the financial 
plan of each concession and including as-
sumptions concerning changes in the ex-
change rates between the euro and other 
currencies, inflation, prices, tolls and traffic 
volumes.

Market capitalisation: number of shares at 
year-end multiplied by the year-end share price.

Earnings per share (EPS): profit or loss attribut-
able to the Parent divided by the average num-
ber of shares in the year.

PER: year-end share price divided by the earn-
ings per share for the last twelve months.

Comparable: sometimes adjustments are made 
to certain figures to make them comparable 
between years, for example by eliminating ex-
traordinary impairment, significant inclusions 
in or exclusions from the scope of consolida-
tion that can distort the comparison between 
years of aggregates such as sales, the exchange 
rate effect, etc. The adjustments made in each 
case are detailed in the corresponding heading.
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GRI table – Environmental performance indicators
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GRI Tables  

General GRI indicators
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Social GRI indicators
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Consolidated balance sheets as at 31 December 2017 and 2016
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Consolidated statements of profit or los for the years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016
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Consolidated statements of changes in equity for the years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016
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Consolidated statements of cash flows for the years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016
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1. GENERAL 
INFORMATION

1.1 Company name and 
registered office

Obrascón Huarte Lain, S.A., formerly 
Sociedad General de Obras y Construc-
ciones Obrascón, S.A., (the Parent), was 
incorporated on 15 May 1911 and has 
its registered office in Madrid, at Paseo 
de la Castellana, 259 D.

1.2 Business activities

The main business activities carried on by 
the companies composing the Obrascón 
Huarte Lain Group are as follows:

Concessions
Operation of administrative infrastruc-
ture concessions, relating mainly to trans-
port, car parks, ports and airports.

This business activity was classified as a 
discontinued operation in 2017 (see Note 
1.3).

Engineering and Construction 
Construction of all manner of civil engi-
neering works and building construction 
for public- and private-sector customers, 
both in Spain and abroad.

Industrial
Industrial engineering, particularly com-
plete industrial plants and systems, includ-
ing the design, construction, maintenance 
and operation thereof and any other ac-
tivity related to oil and gas, energy, solids 
engineering and fire safety systems.

Services
Servicing of properties and infrastructure 
maintenance for all types of properties, 
housing and offices.

Development
Development and operation of top quality 
mixed-use hotel-related real estate projects. 

1.3 Discontinued operation

On 16 October 2017, OHL and IFM Investors 
entered into an agreement for the acquisition by 
IFM Investors of all the share capital of OHL 
Concesiones, S.A.U., the main terms and condi-
tions of which are as follows:

•	 The sale price was set at EUR 2,775 mil-
lion, which will be paid by IFM Investors 
on completion of the transaction, subject 
to the customary adjustments for this type 
of transaction (net debt, exchange rate and 
cash contributed to each project).

•	 The OHL Group estimates that, after these 
adjustments, the amount to be paid by IFM 
Investors will be EUR 2,235 million.

•	 Cercanías Móstoles Navalcarnero and Au-
topista Eje Aeropuerto, companies in liq-
uidation, were excluded from the scope of 
the transaction and, as a result, they will be 
transferred to OHL, S.A. at the net cost at 
which they were recognised by OHL Con-
cesiones, S.A.U. Therefore, OHL, S.A. will 
be entitled to receive all the compensation 
arising from the liquidation processes.

On 30 November 2017, the corresponding 
agreement was signed with IFM Investors 
(through its subsidiary Global Infraico, S.L.U.), 
pursuant to which the acquisition will take ef-
fect.

This agreement also includes certain customary 
indemnity clauses whereby OHL is responsible 
for meeting any liabilities and obligations aris-
ing from events prior to the agreement that may 
be settled in the future.

As provided for in Article 160 f) of the Spanish 
Limited Liability Companies Law, an Extraordi-
nary General Meeting was called for 9 January 
2018, at which the transaction was approved.

The transaction is conditional upon, among 
other factors, the obtainment of the required 
authorisation from the competent Mexican au-
thorities, the obtainment of a waiver from cer-
tain financial creditors, and the approval and 
launch of a tender offer by IFM Investors or a 
subsidiary for the share capital of OHL Méxi-
co, S.A.B. de C.V. not owned by IFM Investors 
at the transaction completion date.

On the basis of the foregoing, and pursuant 
to IFRS 5, in 2017 the assets and liabilities of 
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the discontinued Concessions line of business 
were recognised under “Non-Current Assets 
Classified as Held for Sale and Discontinued 
Operations” and “Liabilities Associated with 
Non-Current Assets Classified as Held for Sale 
and Discontinued Operations”.

The discontinuation of the Concessions line of 
business meant that:

•	 In the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 
December 2017 all OHL Concesiones, 
S.A.U.’s assets were presented as a single 
line item under “Non-Current Assets Clas-
sified as Held for Sale and Discontinued 
Operations” and all its liabilities as a single 
line item under “Liabilities Associated with 
Non-Current Assets Classified as Held for 
Sale and Discontinued Operations”.

•	 In the consolidated statements of profit or 
loss for 2017 and 2016, the profit net of tax 

and before non-controlling interests was 
presented as a single line item under “Profit 
for the Year from Discontinued Operations 
Net of Tax”.

•	 The consolidated statements of cash flows 
for 2017 and 2016 were obtained after ad-
justing the 2016 and 2015 balances in line 
with 2017.

The balance sheet of the Concessions business 
for 2017, broken down by the main items, and 
a detail of the items in its statements of profit 
or loss for 2017 and 2016 that make up “Profit 
for the Year from Discontinued Operations Net 
of Tax” are shown in Note 3.8.

Also, the disclosures on “Employees” and 
“Backlog” do not include data for the dis-
continued Concessions line of business and,  
therefore, the information relating to 2016 was 
restated.

 1.4 Loss for the year, changes in equity attributable to the Par-
ent and changes in cash flows

Loss for the year
The consolidated loss for 2017 attributable to the Parent amounted to EUR (12,076) thousand, 
representing -0.4% of revenue.
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Changes in equity attributable to the Parent
The changes in the equity attributable to the Parent in 2017 and 2016 were as follows:

Changes in cash flows
The cash flows in 2017 compared with those of 2016, classified on the basis of whether they arose 
from operating, investing or financing activities, are summarised as follows:

1.5 Proposed allocation of loss and dividend

The allocation of the loss for 2017 that the directors of Obrascón Huarte Lain, S.A. will propose for 
approval by the shareholders at the Annual General Meeting is as follows:
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1.6 Earnings per share 

Basic earnings per share
Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the consolidated profit or loss for the year attrib-
utable to the Parent by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year, 
excluding the average number of treasury shares held in the year.

Diluted earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share are calculated in a similar way to basic earnings per share;  
however, the weighted average number of shares outstanding is increased by share options, warrants and  
convertible debt.

In 2017 and 2016 there were no differences between the basic earnings per share and diluted earnings 
per share.
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

2.1 Basis of presentation

The consolidated financial statements for 2017 of the Obrascón Huarte Lain Group were formally 
prepared:

•	 By the Parent’s directors, at the Board of Directors Meeting held on 28 February 2018.

•	 In accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the Eu-
ropean Union.

•	 Taking into account all the mandatory accounting principles and policies and measurement bases 
with a significant effect on the consolidated financial statements. The most significant accounting 
principles and policies and measurement bases applied in the preparation of the Group’s 2017 
consolidated financial statements are summarised in Note 2.6.

•	 So that they present fairly the Group’s consolidated equity and consolidated financial position 
as at 31 December 2017, and the consolidated results of its operations, the consolidated com-
prehensive income, the changes in consolidated equity and the consolidated cash flows in 2017.

•	 On the basis of the accounting records kept by the Parent and by the other Group companies.

However, since the accounting principles and policies and measurement bases used in preparing 
the Group’s consolidated financial statements for 2017 differ in many cases from those used by the 
Group companies (local standards), the required adjustments and reclassifications were made on 
consolidation to unify the accounting principles and policies and measurement bases used and to 
make them compliant with IFRSs.

The Group’s consolidated financial statements for 2016 were approved by the shareholders at the 
Annual General Meeting of the Parent held on 9 May 2017.

The 2017 consolidated financial statements of the Group and the 2017 financial statements of the 
Parent and of the Group companies have not yet been approved by their shareholders at the respec-
tive Annual General Meetings. However, the Parent’s Board of Directors considers that they will be 
approved without any changes.

2.2 International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs)

The accounting policies and methods used in preparing these consolidated financial statements are 
the same as those used in the consolidated financial statements for 2016, except for the following 
standards and interpretations which came into force in 2017:

Entry into force of new accounting standards
In 2017 the following standards came into force:

Neither of these standards affected the consolidated financial statements for 2017.
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Standards and interpretations issued but not yet in force
At the date of preparation of these consolidated financial statements, the following standards and 
interpretations had been published by the IASB but had not yet come into force, either because their 
effective date is subsequent to the date of the consolidated financial statements or because they had 
not yet been adopted by the European Union:
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Following the Group’s assessment, set forth below is the possible impact on the consolidated finan-
cial statements of the entry into force on 1 January 2018 of the following International Financial 
Reporting Standards.
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IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with 
Customers
The Group carries on its construction and en-
gineering activities in geographical locations 
that are subject to varying legal and contrac-
tual frameworks. Accordingly, the Group has 
performed an exhaustive analysis, in coordina-
tion with each of its business divisions, aimed 
at assessing the impacts of the new standard 
on the Group’s financial statements. In order to 
determine the impact, certain judgements and 
estimates were taken into consideration, relat-
ing mainly to the probability of customers ap-
proving changes in the scope of contracts and 
accepting claims.

The contractual terms and the way in which the 
Group manages its construction contracts give 
rise mainly to projects that are subject to a sin-
gle performance obligation. Although revenue 
from contracts will continue to be recognised 
over time, the new standard includes new re-
quirements relating to variable consideration 
and the accounting for claims and changes such 
as contract modifications, all of which requires 
the use of a higher probability threshold in 
revenue recognition. Currently, revenue is rec-
ognised when it is probable that the construc-
tion work performed will give rise to revenue, 
whereas under the new standard revenue will 
be recognised when it is highly probable that 
a significant reversal in the amount of revenue 
recognised will not occur as a result of such 
modifications. In this connection, based on the 
assessment performed, at 1 January 2018 an 
adjustment will be recognised to the opening 
balance of reserves attributable to the share-
holders of OHL, currently estimated at around 
EUR 455,000 thousand, relating to both trade 
receivables and other financial assets.

This impact is due mainly to certain projects 
that are involved in court and arbitration pro-
ceedings, of whose future success the Group 
remains firmly convinced, although it is not 
possible to obtain formal evidence that would 
guarantee a high probability that the relevant 
decisions will be in the Group’s favour.

Bid costs and costs of obtaining 
contracts
Currently, in accordance with IAS 11, Con-
struction Contracts, the costs incurred during 
the tender process are capitalised to “Invento-
ries”, provided that it is considered probable 
that the contract will be won. In accordance 
with the new standard, these costs may only be 
capitalised if they are expected to be recovered 
and they would not have been incurred had the 
contract not been obtained, or if they are inher-
ent to the delivery of a project. Therefore, the 
impact of the new standard is not significant 
for the Group.

Tax effect
Adjustments made in conformity with the new 
standard are susceptible to the recognition of 
the related tax effect, although the Group, in 
accordance with the accounting principle of 
prudence, will not recognise the associated tax 
assets.

IFRS 9, Financial Instruments
This standard supersedes IAS 39, Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. 
IFRS 9 contains revised guidelines on the clas-
sification and measurement of financial in-
struments, including a new expected credit 
loss-based model for the calculation of impair-
ment of financial assets, as well as new gener-
al requirements relating to hedge accounting. 
Also, the standard carries forward unchanged 
the guidance in IAS 39 for the recognition and 
derecognition of financial instruments.

In this connection, in the Group’s current envi-
ronment, with the Concessions division in the 
process of being divested (a division with re-
spect to which a significant impact might have 
been identified), an assessment was made of the 
repercussions of the new standard on classifica-
tion and measurement, concluding that it will 
foreseeably not have a significant impact either 
on the classification or measurement of the 
Group’s financial assets and liabilities or on its 
hedge accounting. However, the Group is cur-
rently assessing the standard’s impact in relation 
to the recognition of future losses in terms of 
customers and trade receivables, and it consid-
ers that this impact will not be significant.



156

Obrascón Huarte Lain, S.A. and Dependent Companies - 2017 Consolidated Financial Statements

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

IFRS 16, Leases
The possible impact of applying this standard, 
which will not occur until 1 January 2019, is 
currently being analysed, and the Group con-
siders that it will not be significant.

All the accounting principles or measurement 
bases with a material effect on the consolidated 
financial statements were applied in preparing 
them.

 

2.3 Functional currency

These consolidated financial statements are 
presented in euros since this is the currency of 
the primary economic environment in which 
the Group operates. Foreign operations are ac-
counted for in accordance with the policies es-
tablished in Note 2.6.11.

2.4 Responsibility for the infor-
mation and use of estimates

The information in these consolidated financial 
statements is the responsibility of the Parent’s 
directors.

In the consolidated financial statements for 
2017 estimates were occasionally made by 
the senior executives of the Group and of the 
Group companies, later ratified by their direc-
tors, in order to quantify certain of the assets, 
liabilities, income and expenses reported herein. 
These estimates relate basically to the following:

•	 The impairment losses on certain assets (see 
Notes 2.6.6., 3.2., 3.5. and 3.22.).

•	 The useful life of the intangible assets and 
property, plant and equipment (see Notes 
2.6.1. and 2.6.3.).

•	 The recognition of construction contract 
revenue and costs (see Notes 2.6.15., 3.9. 
and 3.22).

•	 The amount of certain provisions (see Notes 
2.6.14. and 3.19.).

•	 The fair value of the assets acquired in busi-
ness combinations and goodwill (see Note 
3.5.).

•	 The fair value of certain unquoted assets.

•	 The assessment of possible contingencies 
relating to employment and tax risks (see 

Notes 3.19. and 3.21.).

•	 Financial risk management (see Note 4.2.1.).

Although these estimates were made on the 
basis of the best information available at 31 
December 2017, events that take place in the 
future might make it necessary to change these 
estimates in coming   years.   Changes   in   ac-
counting    estimates    would    be    applied,    
pursuant    to   IAS 8, by recognising the effects 
of the change in estimates in the related consol-
idated statements of profit or loss.

As required by IAS 1, the information relating to 
2016 is presented, for comparison purposes, with 
the information relating to 2017 and, accordingly, 
it does not constitute the Group’s complete con-
solidated financial statements for 2017.

2.5 Basis of consolidation
Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are defined as companies over 
which the Parent has the capacity to exercise 
control; control is presumed to exist when the 
Parent has exposure, or rights, to variable re-
turns from its involvement with the investee 
and the ability to use its power over the investee 
to affect the amount of those returns.

Pursuant to IFRS 10, Consolidated Financial 
Statements, the Parent controls an investee if 
and only if it has all of the following:

•	 Power over the investee;

•	 Exposure, or rights, to variable returns 
from its involvement with the investee; and

•	 The ability to use its power over the inves-
tee to affect the amount of its returns.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are 
fully consolidated with those of the Parent, and 
the interest of non-controlling shareholders, 
if any, is recognised under “Non-Controlling 
Interests” in the consolidated balance sheet 
and “Profit or Loss Attributable to Non-Con-
trolling Interests” in the consolidated statement 
of profit or loss.

Additionally, the results on intra-Group trans-
actions are eliminated and are deferred un-
til they are realised vis-à-vis non-Group third 
parties, with the exception of those relating to 
construction work performed for concession 
operators which, in accordance with IFRIC 12, 
are identified as results outside the Group and, 
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accordingly, are recognised by reference to the 
stage of completion.

Joint operations
A joint operation is a contractual arrangement 
whereby two or more entities that have joint 
control of the arrangement have rights to the 
assets, and obligations for the liabilities, relat-
ing to the arrangement.

The financial statements of the joint operations 
are proportionately consolidated (see Note 
3.7.).

The assets and liabilities assigned by the Group 
to joint operations are recognised in the consol-
idated balance sheet classified according to their 
specific nature. Similarly, the Group’s share of 
the income and expenses of joint operations 
is recognised in the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss on the basis of the nature of the 
related items.

Joint ventures
A joint venture is an arrangement whereby two 
or more entities that have joint control of the ar-

rangement do not have rights to the assets, or ob-
ligations for the liabilities, but rather have rights 
to the net assets relating to the arrangement.

In the consolidated financial statements, joint 
ventures are accounted for using the equity meth-
od.

Associates
Associates are companies over which the Par-
ent is in a position to exercise significant in-
fluence, but not control or joint control with 
other shareholders.

In the consolidated financial statements, in-
vestments in associates are accounted for using 
the equity method.

Scope of consolidation
The most significant companies included in the 
scope of consolidation at 31 December 2017 
are detailed in Appendix I.

The activities, registered offices and equity of, 
and the net cost of the investments in, the most 
significant companies composing the consoli-
dated Group are shown in Appendices II and III.

Changes in the scope of consolidation
The changes in the scope of consolidation in 2017 were as follows:
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The most significant changes were the following:

•	 The transfer from full consolidation to equity-method accounting of: Lagunas de Mayakoba, 
S.A. de C.V., Operadora Mayakoba, S.A. de C.V., Operadora Hotelera del Corredor de Mayako-
ba, S.A. de C.V., Servicios Hoteleros del Corredor de Mayakoba, S.A. de  C.V., Islas de Mayako-
ba, S.A. de C.V., Islas de Mayakoba Servicios, S.A. de C.V., Desarrollos RBK en la Riviera, S.A. 
de C.V., Aqua Mayakoba, S.A. de C.V., Lote 3 Servicios, S.A. de C.V., Mayakoba Thai, S.A. de 
C.V., Controladora Hoyo 1, S.A. de C.V., Hotel Hoyo Uno, S. de R.L. de C.V., HH1 Servicios, S. 
de R.L. de C.V., Golf de Mayakoba, S.A. de C.V. and Golf Mayakoba Servicios, S.A. de C.V. At 
31 December 2016, these companies were in the process of being divested, and were classified as 
held for sale, and in 2017, following the sale of majority ownership interests therein, they started 
to be accounted for using the equity method (see Note 3.7).

•	 The exclusion of Cercanías Móstoles Navalcarnero, S.A. from the scope of consolidation fol-
lowing this company’s entry into liquidation and the removal of OHL’s representatives from the 
managing body of this concession operator (see Note 3.6). This change did not have an effect on 
equity for the Group.

All of the inclusions in the scope of consolidation relate to companies incorporated by the Group 
and, therefore, did not have an impact on the consolidated financial statements.

The detail of the companies included in or excluded from the scope of consolidation and of the rea-
sons therefor is disclosed in Appendix IV.

2.6 Accounting principles and 
policies and measurement 
bases applied
The accounting principles and policies and 
measurement bases applied in preparing the 
Group’s consolidated financial statements for 
2017 were as follows:

2.6.1 Intangible assets
Intangible assets are recognised initially at ac-
quisition or production cost.

They are subsequently measured at acquisition 
or production cost less any accumulated amorti-
sation and any accumulated impairment losses.

“Intangible Assets” includes the costs arising 
from the installation and acquisition of comput-
er software, which is amortised on a straight-
line basis over a maximum period of five years.

It also includes development expenditure, 
which is capitalised if it meets the requirements 
of identifiability, reliability in the measurement 
of cost and high probability that the assets cre-
ated will generate economic benefits. This ex-
penditure is amortised on a straight-line basis 
over the useful life of the asset.

Expenditure on research activities is recognised 
as an expense in the year in which it is incurred.

Also, under IFRS 3, all the assets of a business 
combination, including intangible assets, re-
gardless of whether they had been previously 
recognised in the acquiree’s balance sheet, are 
measured at fair value, provided that they meet 
certain identifiability and separability criteria. 
In this regard, this heading includes the amount 
relating to the measurement of the backlog and 
the customer portfolio of the acquirees at the 
date of acquisition, taking as a reference the 
projected margins after taxes, projected ex-
penditure and the term of the contracts. The 
amount relating to the backlog will be amor-
tised over the residual term of the contracts and 
that relating to the customer portfolio will be 
amortised over the estimated average useful life 
thereof.

At the end of each reporting period an analysis is 
conducted to ascertain whether the goodwill allo-
cated to the US companies has become impaired, 
using cash flow projections, which at 2017- year 
end were discounted at a rate of 8.4%.
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2.6.2 Concession infrastructure
Concession infrastructure includes investments 
made by the Group companies that are infra-
structure concession operators, which are rec-
ognised in accordance with IFRIC 12, Service 
Concession Arrangements.

IFRIC 12 relates to the accounting of private 
sector operators involved in providing infra-
structure assets and services to the public sec-
tor. This Interpretation establishes that in con-
cession arrangements, the operator must not 
recognise the infrastructure assets as property, 
plant and equipment but must instead classify 
the assets as intangible assets or financial assets.

2.6.2.1 Concession infrastructure 
classified as an intangible asset
An intangible asset arises when the operator 
provides construction or upgrade services and 
receives a right to operate the infrastructure for 
a specified period of time after the construction 
has been completed, in which the operator’s fu-
ture cash flows have not been specified, since 
they may vary on the basis of the extent that 
the asset is used, for which reason they are con-
sidered to be contingent. In these cases, the de-
mand risk is borne by the concession operator 
and, accordingly, the concession is classified as 
an intangible asset.

The intangible asset is measured at the fair val-
ue of the service provided, equal to the total 
payments made for its construction, including 
the construction costs incurred up to entry into 
service, such as studies and designs, compulsory 
purchases, costs of restoration of constructions, 
facilities and other similar items.

The intangible asset also includes borrowing 
costs incurred prior to the entry into service of 
the concession.

The concession infrastructure recognised as an 
intangible asset is amortised on the basis of the 
pattern of consumption (traffic) of these conces-
sion assets during the term of the concession only.

The contractual obligations to restore the in-
frastructure to a specified level of serviceabili-
ty, pursuant to the terms and conditions of the 
licences or services, before it is handed over to 
the grantor in a specified condition at the end 
of the period of the concession arrangement, 
are covered by the recognition of provisions 

for major maintenance work. These provisions 
are  recognised under “Long-Term Provisions” 
on the liability side of the consolidated balance 
sheet.

The grants financing the infrastructure are 
recognised as “Non-Current Liabilities - Oth-
er Financial Liabilities” until the conditions 
attaching to them have been fulfilled. At that 
time they are deducted from the cost of the in-
frastructure.

2.6.2.2 Concession infrastructure 
classified as a financial asset

Arrangements under the financial asset 
model
These are assets recognised by the concession 
operators, which represent the rights to oper-
ate administrative concessions and the uncon-
ditional contractual right to receive cash or 
another financial asset associated with certain 
concession arrangements where the demand 
risk is borne by the concession grantor.

The financial asset arises when an operator 
constructs or upgrades infrastructure and has 
an unconditional contractual right to receive a 
specified amount of cash or another financial 
asset over the term of the arrangement. This 
asset is subsequently measured at amortised 
cost, based on the best estimates of the flows 
to be received over the term of the concession, 
and the accrued interest, calculated using the 
effective interest rate method, on the expected 
cash inflows and outflows of the concession is 
recognised as “Other Operating Income” in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss, since it 
is considered that these cash flows relate to the 
operating activities of the concessions.

All actions taken in relation to the concession 
infrastructure, such as maintenance and re-
placements, give rise to revenue from services 
which is recognised under “Other Operating 
Income” in the consolidated statement of profit 
or loss.

The operating expenses incurred by the compa-
nies are accounted for on an accrual basis in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss, giving 
rise to the recognition of revenue from services 
under “Other Operating Income”.

The value of the financial asset is increased by 
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the construction services and the effective in-
terest rate, and reduced by the associated net 
proceeds.

If there are significant changes in the estimates 
which are indicative of a material change in the 
effective interest rate applicable to the conces-
sion arrangement, the Group assesses the car-
rying amount of the financial asset and adjusts 
it prospectively, recognising the corresponding 
impairment loss if the net present value of the 
cash flows to be received over the concession 
term is lower than the carrying amount of the 
financial asset.

Arrangements with a guaranteed 
minimum revenue clause
In the case of certain Mexican concessions in 
which the Group holds interests, the concession 

arrangements grant the operator an uncondi-
tional right to recover, as appropriate, either 
the equity invested or the total investment 
made, plus an annual guaranteed internal rate 
of return (IRR), expressed in real terms and 
net of tax (“guaranteed minimum revenue”), 
which would give rise to an unconditional right 
to receive cash if, at the end of the concession 
term, the guaranteed minimum revenue had not 
been obtained.

The difference between the actual revenue, net 
of tax, obtained from operating these conces-
sions and the guaranteed minimum revenue is 
also recognised as a financial asset, with a bal-
ancing entry under “Other Operating Income” 
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

2.6.3 Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are recognised at acquisition cost (revalued, where appropriate, in 
accordance with the applicable legislation prior to the date of transition to IFRSs, including Royal 
Decree-Law 7/1996) less any accumulated depreciation and any recognised impairment losses.

The costs of expansion, modernisation or improvements leading to increased productivity, capacity 
or efficiency or to a lengthening of the useful lives of the assets are capitalised.

Repairs that do not lead to a lengthening of the useful life of the assets and maintenance costs are 
charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year in which they are incurred.

The Group capitalises interest during the non-current asset construction period as indicated in Note 
2.6.18.

Group work on non-current assets is recognised at accumulated cost (external costs plus in-house 
costs, determined on the basis of in-house consumption of warehouse materials and manufacturing 
costs allocated using hourly absorption rates similar to those used for inventory measurement).

Depreciation is calculated, using the straight-line method, on the basis of the acquisition cost of the 
assets less their residual value; the land on which the buildings and other structures stand has an 
indefinite useful life and, therefore, is not depreciated.

The period property, plant and equipment depreciation charge is recognised in the consolidated state-
ment of profit or loss at rates based on the following years of estimated useful life of the various assets:



161

Obrascón Huarte Lain, S.A. and Dependent Companies - 2017 Consolidated Financial Statements

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated 
over their estimated useful lives on the same ba-
sis as owned assets of the same nature.

At the end of each reporting period, the con-
solidated companies assess whether there is any 
internal or external indication that the carrying 
amounts of their property, plant and equipment 
items exceed their recoverable amounts, i.e. the 
higher of the net amount which could be ob-
tained if they were sold and the present value of 
the cash flows. If any such indication exists, the 
carrying amount of the assets is reduced to the 
recoverable amount and the future depreciation 
charges in the consolidated statement of profit 
or loss are adjusted in proportion to the adjust-
ed carrying amounts and new useful lives.

Similarly, when there are indications that the 
value of the assets has recovered, the consoli-
dated companies recognise the reversal of the 
impairment losses recognised in prior periods 
and adjust the depreciation charges in future 
consolidated statements of profit or loss up to 
a maximum of the original cost of the related 
asset.

2.6.4 Investment property
“Investment Property” in the accompanying 
consolidated balance sheet reflects the values of 
the land, buildings and other structures held ei-
ther to earn rentals or for capital appreciation.

Land is measured at acquisition cost increased 
by site clearance and preparation costs. Con-
struction projects are measured at the cost of 
the related progress billings plus contract costs, 
such as site management, levies, architects’ fees, 
etc. They are depreciated on a straight-line basis 
over their useful lives, which are the same as 
those used for similar items of property, plant 
and equipment.

Borrowing costs attributable to these invest-
ments are capitalised during the construction 
period until the properties are ready for sale 
and are treated as an addition to the value of 
the investment. Interest income obtained from 
the short-term investment of cash surpluses is 
deducted from the cost of the investment.

Revenue and gains or losses are recognised 
when the assets are sold and the sale to the buy-
er has been executed in a public deed, which is 
when the rights and obligations inherent there-

to are transferred. Rental income is allocated to 
the consolidated statement of profit or loss on 
an accrual basis.

In leases, expenses are recognised on an accru-
al basis and all maintenance, management and 
impairment costs relating to the leased assets 
are charged to income.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group 
analyses whether the carrying amount of in-
vestment property exceeds fair value and, if so, 
it makes the appropriate valuation adjustment 
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss 
by recognising an impairment loss to reduce the 
carrying amount to fair value.

2.6.5 Goodwill
Any excess of the costs of acquisition of an in-
vestment in a company over its underlying car-
rying amount is allocated to certain assets and 
liabilities on consolidation.

This excess is allocated as follows:

1.	 If it is attributable to specific assets and lia-
bilities of the company acquired, increasing 
the value of the assets acquired or reducing 
the value of the liabilities acquired.

2.	 If it is attributable to specific intangible as-
sets, recognising it explicitly in the consoli-
dated balance sheet.

3.	 Any remaining amount is recognised as 
goodwill on the asset side of the consoli-
dated balance sheet.

At the end of each reporting period an analysis 
is conducted to ascertain whether this goodwill 
has suffered impairment and, if so, it is adjust-
ed to its fair value with a charge to the consoli-
dated statement of profit or loss.

These impairment losses recognised for good-
will are not reversed in subsequent periods.

2.6.6 Impairment of  
non-current assets
At the end of each reporting period, the con-
solidated companies assess whether there is any 
internal or external indication that the carrying 
amounts of their assets exceed their recovera-
ble amounts, i.e. the higher of the net amount 
which could be obtained if they were sold and 
the  present value of the cash flows. If any such 
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indication exists, the carrying amount of the as-
sets is reduced to the recoverable amount and 
the future depreciation and amortisation charg-
es in the consolidated statement of profit or loss 
are adjusted in proportion to the adjusted car-
rying amounts and new useful lives.

The indications of impairment considered for 
these purposes are, inter alia, the operating 
losses or negative cash flows during the period 
if they are combined with a track record or pro-
jections of losses, decline in value and deprecia-
tion/amortisation taken to profit or loss, which, 
in percentage terms, in relation to revenue, are 
substantially higher than those from previous 
years, effects of obsolescence, reduction in the 
demand for the services provided, competition 
and other economic and legal factors.

The impairment, where applicable, is recog-
nised where the carrying amount exceeds the 
recoverable amount, calculated as the present 
value of the cash flows.

Similarly, when there are indications that the 
value of the assets has recovered, the consoli-
dated companies recognise the reversal of the 
impairment losses recognised in prior periods 
and adjust the depreciation and amortisation 
charges in future consolidated statements of 
profit or loss up to a maximum of the original 
cost of the related asset.

The following criteria are applied for each 
non-current asset:

Concession infrastructure
The present value of the expected future cash 
flows is estimated using a pre-tax discount rate 
that reflects current market assessments of the 
time value of money and the specific risks asso-
ciated with the asset, both during the use of the 
asset and from the possible disposal of the asset 
at the end of its useful life.

The main variables taken into consideration are 
as follows:

Revenue
Revenue to be earned over the concession term 
is estimated on the basis of the combination of 
various elements:

•	 Firstly, a traffic study is conducted based 
on actual verification of the traffic, with a 
distinction made between categories of ve-
hicles (cars, lorries, etc.). These studies are 

either conducted internally (by specialist 
Group staff) or through specialist external 
companies.

•	 The second phase consists of applying the 
estimated annual percentage of growth 
over the term of the concession to the traf-
fic study. To this end, a forecast of expected 
growth in gross domestic product (GDP) 
for each country, estimated by non-Group 
sources, is commonly used.

•	 The third phase consists of applying the 
rates for each vehicle type and updating 
them over the term of the concession. For 
this purpose, the agreed-upon rates in the 
concession arrangement are initially ap-
plied and for subsequent years the con-
sumer price index (CPI) for each country 
is generally used. In certain cases, an addi-
tional percentage is applied depending on 
whether covenants exist that are condition-
al upon the achievement of certain volumes 
of traffic, the opening of new sections, etc.

Costs
•	 Internal studies are conducted to deter-

mine/estimate the operating, maintenance 
and repair costs to be incurred over the 
term of the concession.

The period used for discounting the cash flows 
is the number of years of remaining life of each 
concession.

For those concession operators with a guar-
anteed minimum revenue clause, investment 
recovery relies mainly on the guaranteed min-
imum revenue clause which is included in the 
concession arrangement.

When, due to the particular circumstances of a 
concession, the concession grantor is requested 
to restore the economic feasibility of the con-
cession, the Group considers the value of the 
cash flows discounted over the concession term 
on the basis of the economic and financial mod-
el, as well as the minimum recoverable amount 
calculated as the contractual amount that 
would be received by the Group in the event of 
liquidation or termination.

When annulment of the concession arrange-
ment has been requested, with the reimburse-
ment of the amounts claimed from the pub-
lic sector entity, the Group considers that the 
solution lies in the restoration of the economic 
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feasibility of the concession or the early termi-
nation of the concession arrangement and, ac-
cordingly, used the early termination value, the 
formula for which is contractually defined in the 
administrative specifications of each concession.

Investment property
At the end of each reporting period, analyses 
are conducted to determine whether the carry-
ing amount of investment property exceeds fair 
value and, if this is the case, the appropriate 
valuation adjustment is made in the consolidat-
ed statement of profit or loss by recognising an 
impairment loss to reduce the carrying amount 
to fair value.

Appraisals are commissioned from external val-
uers or the latest appraisals made are used as a 
reference to determine market value.

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying 
amount exceeds the recoverable amount.

When an impairment loss subsequently revers-
es, income is recorded up to the amount of the 
impairment loss previously recognised.

Goodwill
The cash flow projections used to calculate 
goodwill were based on the following assump-
tions:

•	 The maintenance over time of a short-term 
backlog measured in months of sales.

•	 Projected cash flows for three years.

•	 Annual growth rate of approximately 2% 
for the coming years.

•	 Discount rate of approximately 8% in 
Spain, since substantially all of the goodwill 
is allocated to Spanish companies.

The impairment, where applicable, is recog-
nised where the carrying amount exceeds the 
recoverable amount, calculated as the present 
value of the cash flows.

2.6.7 Financial assets
These are assets representing collection rights 
for the Group as a result of investments or 
loans. These rights are classified as current or 
non-current on the basis of whether they are 
due to be settled within less than or more than 
twelve months, respectively, and consist of:

Investment securities
These are financial assets represented by securi-
ties that can be classified as:

•	 Held-to-maturity investments: securities 
with fixed or determinable payments and 
fixed maturity. The Group has the positive 
intention to hold these securities from the 
date of purchase to the date of maturity.

These securities are recognised at acquisi-
tion cost, including transaction costs. 

Any deficiency of the acquisition cost below 
the fair value of these assets at the end of the 
reporting period is taken to profit or loss.

•	 Available-for-sale financial assets: invest-
ments in financial assets from which the 
Group does not expect to obtain a signif-
icant gain.

If the fair value of these investments exceeds 
their carrying amounts, the value of the asset is 
increased and the increase is recognised in eq-
uity. On disposal, this amount is transferred to 
the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

In the event of impairment, the amount credited 
to equity is reduced and, if the amount of the 
impairment loss exceeds the amount previously 
credited to equity, the excess is charged to the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Other receivables
These are loans and receivables originated in 
exchange for supplying cash, goods or services 
directly to a debtor. They are measured at the 
principal amount plus the accrued interest re-
ceivable.

Deposits and guarantees given
These are cash amounts securing project bids or 
contracts of another kind. These amounts are 
restricted as to their use while the specific terms 
and conditions of each project bid or contract 
continue to exist. Deposits and guarantees ex-
piring within twelve months are classified as 
current items and those expiring within more 
than twelve months are classified as non-cur-
rent items.
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2.6.8 Transfers of financial as-
sets and derecognition of finan-
cial assets and liabilities
The accounting treatment of the transfers of fi-
nancial assets depends on the extent to which 
the risks and rewards associated with the trans-
ferred assets are contractually transferred to 
third parties.

Financial assets are only derecognised when 
they are realised or when the Group transfers 
substantially all the risks and rewards of owner-
ship and control thereover to third parties.

Financial liabilities are only derecognised when 
the obligations giving rise to them cease to exist.

2.6.9 Non-current assets and 
liabilities classified as held for 
sale
In accordance with IFRS 5, Non-Current Assets 
Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations, as-
sets and liabilities are classified as non-current 
assets and liabilities held for sale when their 
carrying amount is expected to be recovered 
basically through a sale transaction rather than 
through continuing use.

The asset must be available for immediate sale, 
subject only to terms that are usual and cus-
tomary for sales of such assets and liabilities, 
and its sale must be highly probable. The sale 
is considered highly probable when there is a 
commitment to a plan to sell the asset and an 
active programme to locate a buyer and com-
plete the plan has been initiated. Also, the sale 
must be expected to qualify for recognition as a 
completed sale within one year from the date of 
classification.

Non-current assets classified as held for sale are 
not depreciated, but rather are measured at the 
lower of consolidated carrying amount and fair 
value less costs to sell.

 

2.6.10 Inventories
“Inventories” in the consolidated balance sheet 
includes the assets that the consolidated com-
panies:

•	 Hold for sale in the ordinary course of their 
business.

•	 Have in the process of production, con-
struction or development for such sale; or

•	 Expect to consume in the production pro-
cess or in the provision of services. All in-
ventories are measured at the lower of cost 
and net realisable value.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling 
price less all the costs required to complete the 
production of inventories and to sell them.

Goods and work in progress are measured at 
production cost, which includes the cost of ma-
terials, direct labour and production costs and 
the interest incurred during the construction 
period.

2.6.11 Foreign currency
The items included in the financial statements 
of each of the Group companies are measured 
in their respective functional currencies.

The consolidated financial statements are pre-
sented in euros, which is the Parent’s functional 
and presentation currency.

In the separate financial statements of the 
Group companies, foreign currency balances 
and transactions are translated as follows:

•	 Transactions performed during the year in 
currencies other than the functional cur-
rency are translated at the exchange rates 
prevailing at the date of the transaction.

•	 Monetary asset and liability balances de-
nominated in currencies other than the 
functional currency (cash and items with 
no loss of value when converted to cash) 
are translated at the year-end exchange 
rates.

•	 Non-monetary asset and liability balances 
denominated in currencies other than the 
functional currency are translated at the 
historical exchange rates.

Exchange gains and losses are recognised in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

On consolidation, the balances of the finan-
cial statements of the consolidated companies 
whose functional currency is not the euro are 
translated to euros as follows:

•	 Assets and liabilities are translated at the 
exchange rates prevailing at the reporting 
date.
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•	 Income and expense items are translated at 
the average exchange rates for the period.

•	 Equity is translated at the historical ex-
change rates.

Any exchange differences arising from the con-
solidation of companies with a functional cur-
rency other than the euro are classified in the 
consolidated balance sheet as translation differ-
ences under “Equity - Valuation Adjustments”.

The Group does not have any investments in cur-
rencies that are identified as hyper-inflationary.

2.6.12 Bank borrowings, debt 
instruments and other marketa-
ble securities
Bank borrowings, debt instruments and oth-
er marketable securities are measured at the 
amount received, net of direct issue costs, plus 
the accrued interest payable at year-end. Bor-
rowing costs are recognised on an accrual basis 
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss by 
modifying the nominal rate, taking into account 
issue discounts, fees and expenses. This method 
is equivalent to using the effective interest rate, 
which is the rate that exactly matches the net 
value of the income received to the present val-
ue of future disbursements.

Debts due to be settled within twelve months of 
the consolidated balance sheet date are classified 
as current items and those due to be settled within 
more than twelve months as non-current items.

2.6.13 Derivative financial  
instruments and hedges
In order to mitigate the economic effects of 
exchange rate and interest rate fluctuations to 
which the Group is exposed as a result of its 
business activities, the Group uses derivative fi-
nancial instruments, such as currency forwards, 
interest rate swaps and interest rate options.

The currency forwards and interest rate swaps 
are future exchange commitments, on the ba-
sis of which the Group and banks agree to ex-
change interest payments or currencies in the 
future. In the case of an interest rate derivative, 
the commitment is to pay a fixed interest rate in 
exchange for receiving a floating interest rate. 
In the case of a foreign currency derivative, the 

commitment is to pay or receive a given amount 
of euros in exchange for a given amount in an-
other currency. In the case of the equity swap 
tied to the Group’s share price, the commitment 
is to pay or receive the result of the change in 
the share price with respect to a reference price 
and to pay a floating interest rate. The Group 
acquires the right to receive interest on the in-
terest rate options arranged if the interest rate 
exceeds the reference level initially established 
with the banks, in exchange for paying a given 
amount to these banks at the beginning of the 
transaction.

When the Group arranges a derivative, it does 
not do so with the intention of settling it ear-
ly or trading with it. The Group does not use 
derivatives for speculative purposes, but rather 
to mitigate the economic effects that may arise 
from its foreign trade and financing activities 
due to exchange and interest rate fluctuations.

Derivatives are recognised at their market value 
(fair value) under “Other Financial Assets” or 
“Other Financial Liabilities” in the consolidat-
ed balance sheet.

Fair value is the net amount that the Group 
would have to pay or receive if the derivative 
were settled at the measurement date, and is 
equal to the difference between the present 
value of the future collections and payments 
agreed on by the Group and the related banks 
under the terms of the derivative arranged. The 
fair value of the options arranged is the same as 
the amount which the Group would receive in 
the event of settling them and is determined us-
ing a widely accepted pricing model (the Black-
Scholes model).

IFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement has changed 
the definition of fair value and confirms that 
own credit risk must be taken into account 
when measuring fair value. Since 1 January 
2013, this adjustment to the measurement of 
derivatives has been recognised in profit or loss, 
except when the derivatives qualify as effective 
hedges, in which case they are recognised in re-
serves.

The recognition of the fair value of derivatives 
as other financial assets or liabilities gives rise 
to a change in equity if the derivative qualifies 
for hedge accounting. The change in equity 
arises directly through “Equity - Valuation Ad-
justments” and indirectly through “Net Gains 
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(Losses) on Remeasurement of Financial Instru-
ments at Fair Value” or “Result of Companies 
Accounted for Using the Equity Method”, as 
appropriate, in the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss.

The fair value of a derivative changes during its 
term. Changes in fair value arise: as a result of 
the passage of time; as a result of changes in in-
terest rate curves; in the case of foreign currency 
derivatives, as a result of changes in exchange 
rates; in the case of equity swaps, as a result of 
changes in the share price; and in the case of 
interest rate options, as a result of changes in 
the volatility of interest rates.

Only certain derivatives can be considered to 
qualify for hedge accounting.

The requirements that must be met for a deriv-
ative to be considered as a hedge are as follows:

•	 The underlying in relation to which the de-
rivative is arranged to mitigate the econom-
ic effects that might arise therefrom as a 
result of fluctuations in exchange rates and 
interest rates must initially be identified.

•	 When the derivative is arranged, the reason 
for which it was arranged must be appro-
priately documented and the hedged risk 
must be identified.

•	 It must be demonstrated that the hedge is 
effective from the date of the arrangement 
of the derivative to the date of its settle-
ment, i.e. that it meets the objective initially 
defined. In order to assess this, the effec-
tiveness of the hedge is tested.

When the derivative does not qualify for hedge 
accounting, or the Group voluntarily decides 
not to apply hedge accounting, changes in fair 
value are recognised in the consolidated state-
ment of profit or loss.

For derivatives that qualify for hedge account-
ing, under the relevant standards changes in fair 
value are recognised directly in equity or indi-
rectly through profit or loss on the basis of the 
type of hedged risk concerned.

Cash flow hedges
A derivative arranged to hedge against exposure 
to future variability in the expected cash flows 
in a foreign currency transaction as a result of 
exchange rate fluctuations can be considered 
to be a cash flow hedge. The same is true of a 

derivative arranged to hedge against exposure 
to future variability in the expected cash flows 
in floating-rate financing as a result of interest  
rate fluctuations.

The portion of the gain or loss on a hedging 
instrument whose purpose is to act as a cash 
flow hedge of an underlying and which is de-
termined to be an effective hedge is recognised 
under “Equity - Valuation Adjustments”, and 
the ineffective portion of the gain or loss is rec-
ognised in the consolidated statement of profit 
or loss. The changes in the time value of the op-
tions are recognised directly in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss.

The cumulative balance of “Equity - Valuation 
Adjustments” is transferred to profit or loss 
when, and to the extent that, the gains or losses 
on the hedged risk of the underlying also start 
to be reflected in profit or loss.

Hedges of net investments in foreign 
operations
When a derivative or another hedging instru-
ment is used to hedge against exchange rate 
fluctuations that affect the carrying amount of 
net investments in foreign operations, it can be 
considered to be a hedge of a net investment in 
a foreign operation.

The gains or losses on this type of derivative or 
hedging instrument are recognised in the con-
solidated statement of profit or loss in a similar 
fashion to those on cash flow hedges. The only 
difference is that the accumulated amounts un-
der “Equity - Valuation Adjustments” are not 
recognised in the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss until the investment is sold.

Fair value hedges
Fair value hedges arise when a derivative is ar-
ranged to convert financing at a fixed interest 
rate into financing at a floating interest rate in 
order to tie a portion of the financing to interest 
rate changes and, therefore, to the performance 
of the market.

Fair value hedges also arise when a derivative is 
arranged to hedge the possible future changes 
in the equivalent euro value of firm commit-
ments to collect or pay certain amounts in for-
eign currency due to exchange rate fluctuations.

When the purpose of the hedging derivative is 
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to act as a fair value hedge, gains or losses on 
the derivative and its underlying are recognised 
through profit or loss.

2.6.14 Provisions
The Group’s consolidated financial statements 
include all the material provisions with respect 
to which it is considered that it is probable that 
the obligation covered by them will have to be 
settled. Contingent liabilities are not recognised 
in the consolidated financial statements, but 
rather are disclosed, as required by IAS 37 (see 
Note 4.6.2.).

Provisions are classified as short-term or long-
term provisions based on the estimated period 
of time in which the obligations covered by 
them will have to be settled.

The most significant provisions are:

Provisions for taxes
These provisions reflect the estimate of tax 
debts whose payment is uncertain as to its exact 
amount or timing, since this depends on wheth-
er or not certain conditions are met.

Provisions for litigation and 
third-party liability
These provisions are recognised in order to ca-
ter for the possible adverse economic effects 
that might arise from the litigation and claims 
against the Group arising from the ordinary 
course of its operations (see Note 4.6.2.).

Provision for construction work 
completion
This provision is intended to cover the expenses 
arising from the completion of a project until its 
definitive settlement. The estimated costs in this 
connection are accrued over the construction 
period on the basis of production volumes.

Provision for management and 
other fees
This provision relates to the amount incurred 
in connection with project management and in-
spection fees, laboratory, layout and other fees 
payable at the consolidated balance sheet date. 
The amounts of these fees are established in the 

related project specifications and in current leg-
islation. The estimated costs in this connection 
are accrued over the construction period on the 
basis of production volumes.

Other operating provisions
“Other Operating Provisions”, which corre-
spond primarily to the Group’s construction 
companies, includes deferrals of expenses and 
costs and losses on construction projects. These 
amounts considered individually are of scant 
significance and correspond to numerous con-
tracts.

Provisions for major maintenance, 
retirement or refurbishment of 
non-current assets
In accordance with IFRIC 12, provisions are 
recognised for the estimated expenditure re-
quired to carry out maintenance work spanning 
more than one year (mainly at concession oper-
ators) with a charge to the consolidated state-
ment of profit or loss for each of the periods 
remaining until the work has been completed.

2.6.15 Revenue recognition
Following is a detail of the main revenue recog-
nition methods used for each of the segments in 
which the Group operates.

2.6.15.1 Concessions
Intangible asset model

Revenue is recognised on an accrual basis, i.e. 
when the actual flow of the related goods and 
services occurs, regardless of when the resulting 
collections and payments are made.

Revenue from services concessions is recog-
nised on an accrual basis, regardless of whether 
or not a portion of the arrangement has been 
collected in advance.

In accordance with IFRIC 12, the concession 
operators recognise sales relating to construc-
tion performed by parties outside the Group. In 
relation to infrastructure construction, the con-
cession operators subcontract work to related 
parties or independent construction companies. 
The construction subcontracting arrangements 
do not exempt the concession operator from 
the obligations acquired by it in relation to the 
concession and therefore, it is responsible for 
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the performance, completion and quality of 
the construction work. The concession opera-
tor does not recognise any margin in its state-
ment of profit or loss on the performance of the 
aforementioned construction work.

Financial asset model

Arrangements under the financial asset model

Interest income relating to concessions to which 
the financial asset model applies is recognised 
as “Other Operating Income”, since it is con-
sidered that this income relates to the operating 
activities of the concessions.

Interest income is accrued on a time proportion 
basis, by reference to the principal outstanding 
and the applicable effective interest rate, which 
is the rate that exactly discounts estimated fu-
ture cash receipts over the expected life of the 
financial asset to that asset’s carrying amount.

Operation and maintenance revenue is recog-
nised on an accrual basis by reference to the 
stage of completion of the transaction at the end 
of the reporting period, provided the outcome 
of the transaction can be estimated reliably.

Arrangements with a guaranteed minimum rev-
enue clause

Toll revenue is recognised on an accrual basis, 
i.e. when the actual flow of the related goods 
and services occurs, regardless of when the re-
sulting collections and payments are made.

Additionally, the Group recognises under “Oth-
er Operating Income” the collection rights rec-
ognised in the year relating to the guaranteed 
minimum revenue yet to be collected under the 
terms of the concession arrangement. This rev-
enue is recognised because it relates to a service 
already provided and can be measured reliably, 
all the associated costs have been incurred and 
the economic benefits associated with the trans-
action will flow to the Group.

These rights are recognised and documented as 
follows:

In the case of Concesionaria Mexiquense, 
S.A. de C.V. (Conmex)  and  Viaducto  Bicen-
tenario, S.A. de C.V., the right is calculated, 
externally reviewed, certified and periodically 
recognised by the Government of the State of 
Mexico, through the Mexican System of High-
ways, Airports, Related and Auxiliary Services 
(SAASCAEM), by means of a procedure that is 
documented as “total investment yet to be re-

covered”, and is approved and signed by SAAS-
CAEM itself and the legal representatives of the 
concession operators.

The Group considers that, based on these con-
cession arrangements and the applicable legis-
lation, the “total investment yet to be recov-
ered”, certified and recognised by SAASCAEM, 
is approximately equal to the adjusted carrying 
amount of the concession. In the case of Auto-
pista Urbana Norte, S.A. de C.V. and Contro-
ladora Vía Rápida Poetas,

S.A.P.I. de C.V. (associate), the Group follows 
a similar procedure to the foregoing but, in this 
case, with the Subsecretariat of Financial Plan-
ning of the Secretariat of Finance of the Gov-
ernment of Mexico City as the competent body.

Based on estimated annual returns calculated 
by the public sector entities for each concession 
operator, it is estimated that the guaranteed 
minimum revenue recognised will be recovered, 
in the most likely scenario, through the collec-
tion of tolls over the normal concession term.

2.6.15.2 Engineering and construction
Since the recognition of revenue from all engi-
neering and construction contracts is subject 
to judgements and estimates, the Group relies 
on the project execution managers and each 
Division’s organisational leaders in recognising 
such revenue, and has established internal con-
trols to ensure the reasonableness of the criteria 
applied.

2.6.15.2.1 Construction
Revenue is calculated in accordance with IAS 
11, Construction Contracts, using the percent-
age of completion method, whereby, in con-
struction contracts from which a final profit is 
expected, the profit is calculated by applying 
to the expected profit the percentage resulting 
from comparison of the actual costs incurred 
with the projected total costs to be incurred. An 
expected loss on a construction contract is rec-
ognised as an expense immediately.

In accordance with standard practice, the es-
timates used to calculate the stage of comple-
tion include the possible effect of the margin 
of certain variations, change orders, addenda 
and settlements which are being processed, and 
which at the time of calculation the Group con-
siders to be reasonably realisable.
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Variations in construction contract work cor-
respond to instructions received from the cus-
tomer relating normally to additional work or 
changes to the original units of work and which 
are provided for in the contract in force. Claims 
relate to amounts which the Group expects 
to collect from the customer for construction 
work performed and arise for various reasons; 
the measurement of the related revenue is ini-
tially estimated on the basis of the terms of the 
construction contract entered into, although the 
determination of the final amount depends on 
the negotiations with the customer.

Additionally, as indicated in paragraph 14 (a) 
of IAS 11, variations are included in contract 
revenue only when it is probable that the cus-
tomer will approve the variation, since nego-
tiations have begun and are amicable, and, in 
addition, there are favourable technical and le-
gal reports that make it possible to measure the 
fair value of the amounts to be recovered in the 
negotiations.

If litigation is initiated in relation to the claims, 
no additional revenue is recognised until the 
claims are settled. In these situations, and as 
general practice, once the relevant proceedings 
are identified as relating to claims, the Group 
adjusts the recoverable amount of the claim and 
recognises, if appropriate, the necessary provi-
sions.

In any case, the recognition of revenue from the 
aforementioned claims involves a series of com-
mon estimates, including those relating to:

•	 the status of the negotiations with each cus-
tomer and their credit position.

•	 the technical assessment of the work per-
formed and of the conformity thereof with 
the contract with the customer, performed 
by the project managers and taking into ac-
count, if appropriate, any expert reports on 
the project.

•	 assessments made by the Group’s internal 
and external legal advisers to estimate the 
feasibility and chances of success of the 
claim filed, based on the knowledge of the 
project and the stage of the claim proceed-
ings; the status is updated on the basis of 
any new milestone or change.

•	 in-depth knowledge of the terms estab-
lished in the contract entered into with the 
customer.

“Trade Receivables for Sales and Services – 
Trade Receivables for Amounts to Be Billed for 
Work or Services Performed” on the asset side 
of the consolidated balance sheet represents the 
difference between the amount of the complet-
ed work recognised, including the adjustment 
to the margin recognised by application of 
the percentage of completion method, and the 
amount of billed completed work up to the re-
porting date.

If the amount of production from inception is 
lower than the amount billed, the difference is 
recognised under “Customer Advances” on the 
liability side of the consolidated balance sheet.

Any late-payment interest which, pursuant to 
the contracts, might accrue due to delays in 
the collection of progress billings or invoices is 
recognised when it is probable that it will be 
received and when its amount can be measured 
reliably, and is recognised as finance income.

2.6.15.2.2.Industria 
Revenue from turnkey (EPC) contracts and in 
fixed-price service contracts is recognised based 
on the percentage of completion method, in ac-
cordance with IAS 11.

Revenue from administration and operation 
and maintenance (O&M) contracts is recog-
nised on an accrual basis based on the service 
provided.

2.6.15.2.3 Services
In the business of servicing properties and in-
frastructure maintenance of all types of housing 
and offices, revenue is recognised by reference 
to the stage of completion of the transaction, 
provided the outcome of the transaction can be 
estimated reliably.

Revenue in the case of infrastructure and urban 
equipment services is determined by measur-
ing  the completed units at the contract price, 
per the main contract with the owners or per 
approved addenda or amendments thereto. If 
such addenda or amendments have not been 
contractually approved, because they are cur-
rently being drawn up, the related revenue will 
only be recognised if technical approval has 
been secured.

2.6.15.2.4 Development
Revenue in the hotel complex business is recog-
nised on an accrual basis based on the service 
provided.
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If real estate products are sold, revenue is recog-
nised when the properties are handed over and 
when the ownership thereof has been trans-
ferred.

Land sales are recognised when the risks and re-
wards of ownership are transferred, which usu-
ally occurs when the deed of sale is executed.

2.6.16 Leases
Leases are classified as finance or operating 
leases.

Finance leases are deemed to be those in which 
the risks and rewards relating to the leased asset 
are transferred to the lessee, which, habitually 
but not necessarily, has the option to purchase 
the asset at the end of the lease on the terms and 
conditions agreed on when the transaction was 
arranged. In leases of this nature:

•	 When the consolidated companies act as 
the lessor of an asset, the aggregate pres-
ent values of the lease payments receivable 
from the lessee plus, where appropriate, the 
price of exercising the purchase option are 
recognised as accounts receivable (financial 
assets).

•	 When the consolidated companies act as 
the lessee, they present the cost of the leased 
assets in the consolidated balance sheet, 
based on the nature of the leased asset, and, 
simultaneously, recognise a liability for the 
same amount.

The assets are measured at the lower of fair val-
ue, i.e. at the price that would be set by two 
parties in an arm’s length transaction, and the 
discounted present value of the amounts paya-
ble to the lessor plus the price of exercising the 
purchase option.

These assets are depreciated on the basis of their 
nature using similar criteria to those applied to 
the items of property, plant and equipment.

Operating leases are contracts that convey the 
right to use an asset but which do not transfer 
the risks and rewards incidental to ownership, 
and they are accounted for on the basis of the 
contractual nature of each transaction. Income 
and expenses from these transactions are allo-
cated to profit or loss on an accrual basis.

2.6.17 Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the ac-
quisition, construction or production of assets 
that necessarily take a substantial period of 
time to get ready for their intended use or sale 
are added directly to the cost of those assets, 
until such time as the assets are ready for their 
intended use or sale.

Pursuant to IAS 23, investment income earned 
on the temporary investment of specific bor-
rowings pending their expenditure on qualify-
ing assets is deducted from the borrowing costs.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss in the 
year in which they are incurred.

2.6.18 Income tax
The Group companies’ income tax expense is 
calculated on the basis of accounting profit be-
fore tax, increased or decreased, as appropri-
ate, by the permanent differences from taxable 
profit, net of tax relief and tax credits, exclud-
ing tax withholdings and prepayments made 
during the year.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are the taxes 
expected to be recoverable or payable on dif-
ferences between the carrying amounts of as-
sets and liabilities in the consolidated financial 
statements and their tax bases. They are meas-
ured at the tax rates that are expected to apply 
in  the period when the asset is realised or the 
liability is settled.

At 31 December 2017, most of the Spanish 
Group companies were being taxed under the 
consolidated tax regime and, accordingly, the 
income tax expense recognised in the consoli-
dated statement of profit or loss relates to the 
sum of the tax expense of the consolidated tax 
group companies and that of the companies 
not forming part of the consolidated tax group, 
which are mainly the foreign companies.

2.6.19 Consolidated statement 
of cash flows
Cash flows are inflows and outflows of cash 
and cash equivalents, which are short-term, 
highly liquid investments that are subject to an 
insignificant risk of changes in value.
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The consolidated statement of cash flows is pre-
pared using the indirect method, i.e. on the ba-
sis of the changes in the consolidated statement 
of profit or loss and consolidated balance sheet, 
and is presented with comparable figures for 
two consecutive periods.

This statement reflects changes in consolidated 
cash flows in the year, classifying them as:

•	 Cash flows from operating activities: the 
principal revenue-producing activities of 
the Group companies and other activities 
that are not investing or financing activ-
ities. Interest received and paid, gains or 
losses on the disposal of non-current as-
sets, adjustments to profits generated by 
companies accounted for using the equity 
method and, in general, any results that do 
not generate cash flows are transferred out 
of “Cash Flows from Operating Activities” 
through “Other Adjustments to Loss”. 

Dividends received may be classified as cash 
flows from operating activities or investing 
activities. The Group chose to classify them 
as cash flows from operating activities.

•	 Cash flows from investing activities: those 
arising from the acquisition and disposal of 
non- current assets.

Interest received may be classified as cash flows 
from operating activities or investing activities. 
The Group chose to classify it as cash flows 
from investing activities.

Cash flows from financing activities: those aris-
ing from changes in borrowings, payment of the 
dividend, interest paid and changes in non-con-
trolling interests.

Interest paid may be classified as cash flows 
from operating activities or financing activities. 
The Group elected to classify interest paid as 
cash flows from financing activities.

2.6.20 Trade and other payables
The Group has entered into reverse factoring 
arrangements with various banks in order to 
facilitate early payment to its suppliers, under 
which suppliers may exercise their collection 
rights vis-à-vis the Group companies and obtain 
the amount billed less the finance costs of dis-
counting and the fees charged by those banks.

These arrangements do not change the principal 

terms and conditions of payment to suppliers, 
such as the term or amount and, accordingly, 
the related amounts continue to be classified as 
trade payables.

At 31 December 2017, the reverse factoring 
balance under “Trade and Other Payables” 
was EUR 142,715 thousand (31 December 
2016: EUR 163,293 thousand).

2.6.21 Termination and 
post-employment benefits
The termination benefits that have to be paid to 
employees pursuant to the legislation applica-
ble to each Group company are charged to the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss in the 
year in which they are paid.

If the Group were to establish a collective re-
dundancy procedure, provisions for the related 
costs would be recognised in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss when the detailed 
formal plan for the restructuring were estab-
lished and communicated to the parties con-
cerned.

On 4 May 2017, OHL, S.A., OHL Industrial, 
S.L. and the workers’ representatives ratified a 
collective redundancy procedure involving the 
termination of 457 jobs (335 at OHL, S.A. and 
122 at OHL Industrial, S.L.), to be implement-
ed by 31 December 2017 and 31 December 
2018, respectively (see Note 3.22).

The Group does not have any post-employment 
benefit obligations in the form of pension plans 
or other benefits.



172

Obrascón Huarte Lain, S.A. and Dependent Companies - 2017 Consolidated Financial Statements

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.1 Intangible assets

The changes in “Intangible Assets” in the consolidated balance sheets in 2017 and 2016 were as 
follows:

“Intangible Assets” includes mainly the values assigned on consolidation to the customer portfolio 
and backlog of the acquirees, which at 31 December 2017 amounted to EUR 204,012 thousand 
(net).

No indications of impairment on the customer portfolio or backlog of the acquirees had been iden-
tified and no impairment losses had been recognised at 31 December 2017 or 2016.

Intangible assets with a gross cost of EUR 43,393 thousand had been fully amortised and were still 
in use at 31 December 2017 (31 December 2016: EUR 35,791 thousand).
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3.2 Concession infrastructure

Concession arrangements are arrangements be-
tween the concession grantor, which is generally 
a public sector entity, and the Group compa-
nies to provide services to the public through 
the operation of certain assets required for the 
provision of the service.

The concession right generally entails a monop-
oly on the provision of the service granted for a 
specified period of time, after which, in gener-
al, the concession assets required to provide the 
service have to be handed over to the conces-
sion grantor.

Revenue from performing the service may be 
received directly from the users or, sometimes, 
through the concession grantor itself. The pric-
es for providing the service are usually regulat-
ed by the grantor.

These projects are generally financed with long-
term borrowings without recourse to the share-
holder, secured mainly by the cash flows gener-
ated by the concession operator companies and 
their assets, accounts and contractual rights. 
Since cash flows constitute the main security 
for the repayment of the borrowings, there are 
restrictions on the use of the funds by the share-
holders until certain conditions have been met, 
which is assessed each year.

Concession infrastructure is accounted for us-
ing either the intangible asset model or the fi-
nancial asset model.

Intangible asset model
An intangible asset arises when the operator 
provides construction or upgrade services and 
receives a right to operate the infrastructure for 
a specified period of time after the construction 
has been completed, in which the operator’s fu-
ture cash flows have not been specified, since 
they may vary on the basis of the extent that the 
asset is used, for which reason they are consid-
ered to be contingent. In these cases the demand 
risk is borne by the concession operator and, 
accordingly, the concession is considered to be 
an intangible asset.

Financial asset model
In arrangements accounted for using the fi-
nancial asset model, the assets recognised by 
the various concession operators represent the 
rights to operate administrative concessions and 

the unconditional contractual right to receive 
cash or another financial asset associated with 
certain concession arrangements where the de-
mand risk is borne by the concession grantor.

The concession operators Autopista Urba-
na Norte, S.A. de C.V., Concesionaria Mex-
iquense, S.A. de C.V. and Viaducto Bicen-
tenario, S.A. de C.V. hold concessions with 
guaranteed minimum revenue whereby the 
concession operator has an unconditional 
right to recover, as the case may be, either the 
equity invested or the total investment made, 
plus an annual guaranteed internal rate of re-
turn (IRR), expressed in real terms and net of 
tax (“guaranteed minimum revenue”), which 
would give rise to an unconditional right to re-
ceive cash if, at the end of the concession term, 
the guaranteed minimum revenue had not been 
obtained. These concessions were reclassified 
to discontinued operations (see Note 3.8) fol-
lowing the agreement entered into with IFM 
Investors for the sale of all the shares of OHL 
Concesiones, S.A.U. (see Note 1.3).
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The changes in “Concession Infrastructure” in the consolidated balance sheets in 2017 and 2016 
were as follows:

The additions and disposals due to changes in the scope of consolidation relate mainly to Autovía 
de Aragón Tramo 1, S.A., which is currently accounted for using the equity method, and Cercanías 
Móstoles Navalcarnero, S.A., which was deconsolidated.

Substantially all the transfers relate to the transfer of the concession infrastructure of OHL Conce-
siones, S.A.U. to “Assets Classified as Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations”.

The Group’s fully consolidated concession operators at 31 December 2017 were as follows:
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Under the concession arrangements, the concession operators are obliged to make investments total-
ling EUR 35,093 thousand, which must be made within a five-year period.

At 31 December 2017, “Concession Infrastructure” included EUR 1,100 thousand relating to bor-
rowing costs capitalised during the construction period (31 December 2016: EUR 86,737 thousand).

The detail of the changes in borrowing costs capitalised at 31 December 2017 and 2016 is as follows:

The breakdown, by company, of the carrying amount of “Concession Infrastructure” at 31 Decem-
ber 2017 is as follows:

The breakdown, by company, of the carrying amount of “Concession Infrastructure” at 31 Decem-
ber 2016 is as follows:
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The breakdown, by country, of the carrying amount of “Concession Infrastructure” at 31 December 
2017 is as follows:

The breakdown, by country, of the carrying amount of “Concession Infrastructure” at 31 December 
2016 is as follows:
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Impairment losses on concession infrastructure
Although substantially all of the concession infrastructure has been transferred to “Assets Classified 
as Held for Sale” (see Notes 1.3 and 3.8), at the end of each reporting period or whenever there are 
indications of impairment, the Group tests the assets for impairment to determine whether their re-
coverable amount has been reduced to below their carrying amount.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value and value in use.

Also, sensitivity analyses were performed in various growth scenarios, particularly in relation to toll 
revenue, operating margins and the discount rates applied.

The Parent’s directors consider that the tests are sensitive to their key assumptions, but that these 
indicators are within a reasonable degree of sensitivity, which meant that no impairment losses were 
identified in 2017.

Generally, in order to calculate any possible impairment, the projected cash flows to be generated by 
the concessions are discounted. The main variables used for each concession are: the remaining term 
of each concession, forecast growth in traffic, CPI growth and the tax rates of each country.

The financial information on the companies for 2017 does not differ significantly from that consid-
ered in the projections and tests of 2016.

Based on the current information of the models, there are no indications of impairment and the in-
vestment will be recovered.
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3.3 Property, plant and equipment

The changes in “Property, Plant and Equipment” in the consolidated balance sheets in 2017 and 
2016 were as follows:

The net balance at 31 December 2017 in the table above includes most notably the following items:

•	 Items of property, plant and equipment with a carrying amount of EUR 396 thousand (31 De-
cember 2016: EUR 402 thousand) mortgaged as security for loans against which EUR 161 
thousand had been drawn down (31 December 2016: EUR 185 thousand) (see Note 3.17.1.).

At 31 December 2017 and 2016, there were no material amounts relating to items of property, plant 
and equipment that were temporarily idle or retired from active use.

The Group takes out the insurance policies required to cover the possible risks to which its property, 
plant and equipment are subject.

Property, plant and equipment with a gross cost of EUR 217,484 thousand had been fully depreciat-
ed and were still in use at 31 December 2017 (31 December 2016: EUR 198,895 thousand).

At 31 December 2017, no amount was recognised under “Property, Plant and Equipment” relating to 
borrowing costs capitalised during the construction period (31 December 2016: EUR 2,204 thousand).
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The detail of the changes in borrowing costs capitalised at 31 December 2017 and 2016 is as follows:

3.4 Investment property

The changes in “Investment Property” in the consolidated balance sheets in 2017 and 2016 were as 
follows:

At 31 December 2017, certain items of investment property with a carrying amount of EUR 3,218 
thousand (31 December 2016: EUR 175 thousand) had been mortgaged as security for loans against 
which EUR 5,212 thousand had been drawn down (31 December 2016: EUR 119 thousand) (see 
Note 3.17.1.).

At 31 December 2017, the main investment property was the Mayakoba tourism development in 
the Riviera Maya area of Mexico, amounting to EUR 61,994 thousand (31 December 2016: EUR  
56,789 thousand).

The tourism development in Mayakoba includes land awaiting development, and the relevant “Invest-
ment Property” line item includes only the land awaiting development, including most notably one plot 
of land with beach access which has licences to develop up to a maximum of 10,000 housing units.

The fair value of the Group’s investment property at 31 December 2017, calculated mainly by ref-
erence to third-party appraisals and in-house estimates, amounted to EUR 106,665 thousand (31 
December 2016: EUR 103,457 thousand).
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3.5 Goodwill

The detail, by company, of “Goodwill” in the consolidated balance sheets as at 31 December 2017 
and 2016 is as follows:

In 2017 the Group analysed the recoverability of this goodwill based on the estimates and projec-
tions available by applying the discounted cash flow method. In this connection, it was concluded 
that there was no indication of impairment.

3.6 Financial assets
Investment securities

The detail of “Investment Securities” at 31 December 2017 and 2016 is as follows:

The amounts of investment securities classified as current relate in full to securities maturing at over 
three months and at under twelve months.

“Impairment Losses” includes the estimated impairment losses that had to be recognised to write 
down the carrying amount of the investment securities to their fair value.

At 31 December 2017, “Investment Securities” included:

1.	 “Available-for-Sale Securities” amounting to EUR 108,480 thousand relating to the ownership 
interests in Aeropistas, S.L. and Autopista Eje Aeropuerto Concesionaria Española, S.A. These 
ownership interests have been written down in full.

2.	 “Available-for-Sale Securities” amounting to EUR 95,549 thousand relating to the ownership 
interest in Cercanías Móstoles Navalcarnero, S.A. This ownership interest has been partially 
written down -EUR (35,638) thousand-, and, therefore, the carrying amount of the ownership 
interest totals EUR 59,911 thousand, which the Group considers it will recover based on the 
measurement set forth below in this note.
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Other receivables and deposits and guarantees given
The detail is as follows:

If the loans granted to other companies pose 
any collection risk an impairment loss is recog-
nised. All the initial amounts are increased by 
accrued interest receivable.

At 31 December 2017, “Other Receivables” 
and “Deposits and Guarantees Given” includ-
ed:

1.	 EUR 97,596 thousand (31 December 2016: 
EUR 111,835 thousand) (QAR 432.0 mil-
lion) corresponding to guarantees unduly 
enforced by Qatar Foundation arising from 
the lawsuit with this customer in connec-
tion with the contract for the design and 
construction of the Sidra Medical Research 
Centre (Doha, Qatar), which the Group 
considers, based on the opinion of its legal 
advisers, to be recoverable in full.

2.	 EUR 15,869 thousand relating to guaran-
tees of Cercanías Móstoles Navalcarnero, 
S.A. unduly enforced by the Autonomous 
Community Government of Madrid, which 
the Group considers, based on the opinion 
of its legal advisers, to be recoverable in full 
(see Note 4.6.2.5).

3.	 A participating loan of EUR 148,241 thou-
sand relating to Aeropistas, S.L. and Au-
topista Eje Aeropuerto Concesionaria Es-
pañola, S.A. An impairment loss of EUR 
(129,654) thousand was recognised on 
this loan and, therefore, it has a carrying 
amount of EUR 18,587 thousand (see Note 
4.6.2.5).

4.	 EUR 125,879 thousand classified as loans 
and receivables relating to a participating 
loan of Cercanías Móstoles Navalcarnero, 
S.A., which previously was fully consol-
idated and is now recognised under this 
heading since it is in liquidation (see Note 
4.6.2.5).

5.	 EUR 79,676 thousand relating to an ac-
count receivable from Grupo Villar Mir, 

S.A.U. as a result of the rescission of the 
agreement to purchase all of the share cap-
ital of Pacadar,

6.	 S.A. The refund of the price paid is secured 
by the pledge of all the shares of Pacadar, 
S.A., and bears annual interest of 5.0% 
(see Note 4.4).

7.	 An impairment loss of EUR 9,999 thou-
sand recognised on the Banco Popular, S.A. 
shares in 2017.

8.	 Loans to associates amounting to EUR 
67,580 thousand (31 December 2016: 
EUR 102,121 thousand).

Impairment of Cercanías Móstoles 
Navalcarnero, S.A.
In view of the fact that Cercanías Móstoles 
Navalcarnero, S.A. is in liquidation, the Group 
considered the minimum recoverable amount 
to be the early termination value, which is esti-
mated to exceed the carrying amount.

To calculate the early termination value, the 
provisions of Legislative Royal Decree 2/2000 
were taken into account, which establish that 
in the event of termination of the concession ar-
rangement the grantor must pay the concession 
operator the amounts invested for:

1.	 The compulsory purchase of land

2.	 The construction work

3.	 The acquisition of assets necessary to oper-
ate the concession.

In addition to the foregoing, the particular ad-
ministrative specifications of this concession 
arrangement provide for the payment, in any 
event, and regardless of the ground for termina-
tion of the arrangement, of all the investments 
made to perform the arrangement, including 
those relating to construction work and instal-
lation projects, repair and major repair work, 
initially unforeseen construction work, and 
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the investments to acquire and replace rolling 
stock, based in all cases on the level of amorti-
sation taken.

The Group considers that the costs and amounts 
recognised are consistent with the foregoing 
items and, consequently, considers them to be 
recoverable.

The foregoing supports the total carrying 
amount of EUR 185,790 million recognised 
by the Group (an ownership interest of EUR 

59,911 thousand and a participating loan of 
EUR 125,879 thousand), as upheld by studies 
conducted by independent legal and technical 
experts. In this regard, although there is uncer-
tainty regarding when the liquidation will be 
resolved, and the ultimate amount to which the 
Group will be entitled, the directors consider 
that the latter will be higher than the carrying 
amount recognised at 2017 year-end.

3.7 Joint arrangements

3.7.1 Investments accounted for using the equity method
The investments accounted for using the equity method at 31 December 2017 and 2016 were as follows:
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The changes in “Investments Accounted for Using the Equity Method” in the consolidated balance 
sheets in 2017 and 2016 were as follows:

The additions and disposals due to changes in the scope of consolidation in 2017 relate mainly to 
companies that in 2016 were classified as held for sale and which in 2017 were accounted for using 
the equity method.

Appendices I, II and III include a list of the main investments accounted for using the equity method, 
showing the name, registered office, percentage of ownership and equity of the related companies 
and the net cost of the investment.

Following are the main aggregates of the joint ventures at 31 December 2017, in proportion to the 
percentage of ownership:

Following are the main aggregates at 31 December 2017 of the other associates, in proportion to the 
percentage of ownership:

3.7.2 Joint operations
The Group undertakes certain of its business activities by participating in contracts that are executed 
jointly with other non-Group venturers, mainly through unincorporated temporary joint ventures 
(“UTEs”) and other similar entities, which are proportionately consolidated in the Group’s consoli-
dated financial statements.

Following are the main aggregates at 31 December 2017 of the joint operations, in proportion to the 
percentage of ownership, which the Group considers not to be material taken individually:

There is no individual joint operation that is material with respect to the Group’s assets, liabilities 
and results.
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3.8 Non-current assets and liabilities classified as held for sale 
and discontinued operations

As indicated in Note 1.3, “Discontinued Operations”, in 2017 OHL Concesiones, S.A.U.’s opera-
tions were discontinued.

The discontinuation of the Concessions line of business meant that:

•	 In the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2017 all OHL Concesiones, S.A.U.’s assets 
were presented as a single line item under “Non-Current Assets Classified as Held for Sale and 
Discontinued Operations” and all its liabilities as a single line item under “Liabilities Associated 
with Non-Current Assets Classified as Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations”.

•	 In the consolidated statements of profit or loss for 2017 and 2016, the profit net of tax and be-
fore non-controlling interests was presented as a single line item under “Profit for the Year from 
Discontinued Operations Net of Tax”.

•	 The consolidated statements of cash flows for 2017 and 2016 were obtained after adjusting the 
2016 and 2015 balances in line with 2017.

Set forth below is an illustration of the effect in 2017, by balance sheet heading, of the classification 
of these investments as held for sale, followed by a detail, by heading, of the statements of profit or 
loss and of cash flows of the discontinued Concessions line of business.
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In accordance with IFRS 5, in 2016 “Non-Current Assets Classified as Held for Sale” and “Liabilities 
Associated with Non-Current Assets Classified as Held for Sale” included the assets and liabilities 
of: Lagunas de Mayakoba, S.A. de C.V., Operadora Mayakoba, S.A. de C.V., Operadora Hotelera 
del Corredor de Mayakoba, S.A. de C.V., Servicios Hoteleros del Corredor de Mayakoba, S.A. de 
C.V., Islas de Mayakoba, S.A. de C.V., Islas de Mayakoba Servicios, S.A. de C.V., Desarrollos RBK 
en la Riviera, S.A. de C.V., Aqua Mayakoba, S.A. de C.V., Lote 3 Servicios, S.A. de C.V., Mayakoba 
Thai, S.A. de C.V., Controladora Hoyo 1, S.A. de C.V., Hotel Hoyo Uno, S. de R.L. de C.V., HH1 
Servicios, S. de R.L. de C.V., Golf de Mayakoba, S.A. de C.V. and Golf Mayakoba Servicios, S.A. 
de C.V., which were in the process of being divested and which were sold in 2017 (see Note 3.22.)
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3.9 Trade and other receivables
Trade receivables for sales and services
The detail of “Trade Receivables for Sales and Services” at 31 December 2017 and 2016 is as follows:

At 31 December 2017, the balance of “Trade Receivables for Sales and Services” had been reduced 
by EUR 40,838 thousand (31 December 2016: EUR 53,108 thousand) relating to the accounts re-
ceivable from customers factored to banks. Since these factoring arrangements are without recourse 
in the event of non-payment, they are treated as a reduction of trade receivables.

The detail of “Trade Receivables for Sales and Services” by type of customer is as follows:

At 31 December 2017, 55.2 % (EUR 727,900 thousand) of the balance of “Trade Receivables for 
Sales and Services - Abroad” related to the public sector and 44.8% (EUR 591,232 thousand) to the 
private sector.

Of the balance of “Progress Billings Receivable” and “Trade Notes Receivable”, totalling EUR 
531,051 thousand, 62.3% (EUR 330,953 thousand) relate to the public sector and 37.7% (EUR 
200,098 thousand) to the private sector.

The detail of the aging of this balance is as follows:
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The Group includes under “Trade Receivables for Sales and Services - Amounts to Be Billed for Work 
or Services Performed” the amount of claims under negotiation with customers or in dispute (either 
in court or in arbitration) that it expects will probably be obtained, as indicated in Note 2.6.15.2.1. 
All the amounts recognised as a result of court claims or requests for arbitration relate mainly to 
projects that have already been completed.

The Group has lodged claims with customers totalling approximately EUR 739,800 thousand (2016: 
EUR 693,100 thousand).

The change in claims compared with 2016 is due mainly to the inclusion of the claim relating to the 
“Design & Build Package 5 - Major Stations - Doha Metro Project” contract, as well as the reduced 
amount of the “Algiers Southern Bypass” claim, as a result of the agreement concluded with the 
customer.

Additionally, and as a result of a reassessment of the situation of all the claims filed, assessing the 
status of the negotiations with customers and the probability of success of the claims at short term, 
together with other circumstances, the Group performed new estimates of the revenue from the 
projects, significantly reducing the amount of the claims recognised with respect to those in the con-
solidated financial statements for 2016.

Based on the foregoing, the Group recognised under “Trade Receivables for Sales and Services” EUR 
402,000 thousand relating to these claims (2016: EUR 425,200 thousand), of which EUR 346,600 
thousand were in dispute (either in court or in arbitration), representing 86.2% of the total amount 
(2016: EUR 355,600 thousand, representing 83.6% of the total amount).

However, since the Group fully retains the legitimate right to collect all of the related amounts, it will 
continue to take all the actions required to recover them.

No income was recognised in relation to claims in dispute (either in court or in arbitration) in 2017. 
The changes in the related provisions in 2017 and 2016 were as follows:

Of the total provisions at 31 December 2017, EUR 204,680 thousand covered possible losses arising 
from the disputed claims recognised and the remaining EUR 94,945 thousand related to doubtful 
debts associated with other receivables.

In order to determine the amount of the provisions for possible losses arising from claims recognised, 
estimates are made which take the following into account for each project on a case- by-case basis:

•	 The status of the negotiations with each customer.

•	 The technical assessment of the work performed and of the conformity thereof with the contract 
with the customer, performed by the project managers and taking into account, if appropriate, 
any expert reports.

•	 Assessments made by the Group’s internal and external legal advisers to estimate the feasibility 
and chances of success of the claim filed, based on the knowledge of the project and the related 
stage of completion; the status is updated on the basis of any new milestone or change.

For other provisions, mainly for doubtful debts, estimates are made considering any failure to meet 
payment obligations under the contracts and the probability of default, which are analysed for each 
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contract and customer. At each reporting date the information is updated to determine the recover-
able amount.

Other supplementary information on construction contracts and other contracts 
under which the related revenue and costs are recognised by reference to the stage 
of completion
Contract revenue associated with construction contracts and certain services contracts is recognised 
by reference to the stage of completion pursuant to IAS 11 (see Note 2.6.15.2.1.).

As indicated in that Note, the difference between the revenue recognised and the amounts actually 
billed to the customer is analysed systematically on a contract-by-contract basis. If the amount  billed 
is lower than the revenue recognised, the difference is recognised as an asset under “Trade Receiv-
ables for Sales and Services - Amounts to Be Billed for Work Performed”, whereas if the amount of 
revenue recognised is lower than the amount billed, a liability is recognised under “Trade and Other 
Payables - Customer Advances - Amounts Billed in Advance for Construction Work”.

Also, in certain construction contracts advances are agreed upon that are paid by the customer when 
work commences on the contract, the balance of which is offset against the various progress billings 
as the contract work is performed. This balance is recognised under “Trade and Other Payables” on 
the liability side of the consolidated balance sheet.

Also, in certain contracts the customer retains a portion of the price to be paid in each progress 
billing to guarantee the fulfilment of certain obligations under the contract. These retentions are not 
reimbursed until the contract is definitively settled. These balances are recognised under “Trade and 
Other Receivables” on the asset side of the consolidated balance sheet.

Other receivables
The detail of the related accounts receivable at 31 December 2017 and 2016 is as follows:

The balances receivable from associates relate mainly to transactions associated with the Group’s 
normal business activities, which are performed on an arm’s length basis.

The net balance of “Sundry Accounts Receivable” at 31 December 2017 and 2016 is broken down 
as follows:
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3.10 Cash and cash equivalents

“Cash and Cash Equivalents” relates to the Group’s fully liquid assets and includes cash on hand 
and at banks and short-term bank deposits with an original maturity of three months or less. These 
balances are not restricted as to their use and are not subject to a risk of changes in value.

Most of the balances relate to short-term deposits.

3.11 Share capital

The changes in the share capital of the Parent in 2017 and 2016 were as follows:

The share capital of OHL, S.A. amounts to EUR 179,255,398.80, divided into 298,758,998 shares 
of EUR 0.60 par value each, all of the same class and series. The shares are listed on the Madrid and 
Barcelona Stock Exchanges and are traded on the Spanish Stock Market Interconnection System.

The detail of the companies with a direct or indirect ownership interest of 3% or more in the share 
capital of the Parent at 31 December 2017 is as follows:

The shareholders at the Extraordinary General Meeting held on 9 January 2018 resolved to reduce the 
Parent’s share capital by EUR 7,326,425.40 by retiring 12,210,709 treasury shares of EUR 0.60 par 
value each, representing a total of 4.087% of the share capital. Consequently, following the capital 
reduction the share capital will amount to EUR 171,928,973.40, represented by 286,548,289 shares 
of EUR 0.60 par value each.

The public deed for the capital reduction approved by the shareholders at the Extraordinary General 
Meeting was formally registered at the Madrid Mercantile Registry on 6 February 2018.

The capital reduction will be charged to unrestricted reserves and will not give rise to a reimbursement 
of shareholder contributions. The Company will recognise a reserve for an amount equal to the par 
value of the retired shares, use of which will be subject to the same requirements as those for the capi-
tal reduction, as provided for in the Spanish Limited Liability Companies Law, and, consequently, the 
Parent’s creditors will not be entitled to object to the capital reduction.
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3.12 Share premium

The Consolidated Spanish Limited Liability Companies Law expressly permits the use of the share 
premium account balance to increase the capital of the entities at which it is recognised and does not 
establish any specific restrictions as to its use.

3.13 Treasury shares

The changes in “Treasury Shares” in 2017 and 2016 were as follows:

3.14 Reserves

The detail of the reserves in the consolidated balance sheets in 2017 and 2016 is as follows:

Legal reserve
Under the Consolidated Spanish Limited Liability Companies Law, a minimum of 10% of net profit 
for each year must be transferred to the legal reserve until the balance of this reserve reaches at least 
20% of the share capital. The legal reserve can be used to increase capital provided that the remain-
ing reserve balance does not fall below 10% of the increased share capital amount. Otherwise, until 
the legal reserve exceeds 20% of share capital, it can only be used to offset losses, provided that 
sufficient other reserves are not available for this purpose.

Reserve for retired capital
The balance of “Reserve for Retired Capital” amounted to EUR 3,856 thousand at 31 December 
2017 (31 December 2016: EUR 3,856 thousand), as a result of the capital reductions performed in 
2009 amounting to EUR 2,625 thousand and in 2006 amounting to EUR 1,231 thousand, through 



192

Obrascón Huarte Lain, S.A. and Dependent Companies - 2017 Consolidated Financial Statements

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

the retirement of treasury shares, and pursuant to current legislation safeguarding the guarantee 
provided by equity vis-à-vis third parties.

This reserve is restricted as to its use and may only be used if the same requirements as those stipu-
lated for capital reductions are met, i.e. the shareholders at the Annual General Meeting must decide 
on its use.

Limitations on the distribution of dividends
Until the balance of development expenditure has been fully amortised, no dividends may be distrib-
uted unless the unrestricted reserves are at least equal to the amount of the unamortised balance of 
this heading. Consequently, at the end of 2017 EUR 6,181 thousand of the Parent’s “Share Premi-
um” and “Other Reserves” were restricted.

Reserves of consolidated companies
The detail, by company, of the balances of “Reserves of Consolidated Companies” in the consolidat-
ed balance sheets as at 31 December 2017 and 2016 is as follows:
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3.15 Valuation adjustments

Valuation adjustments relating to hedges
The valuation adjustments relating to hedges include the amount of the changes in the fair value of 
financial derivatives, net of the related tax effect.

The changes in “Valuation Adjustments Relating to Hedges” in 2017 and 2016 were as follows:

Valuation adjustments relating to available-for-sale financial assets
The changes in “Valuation Adjustments Relating to Available-for-Sale Financial Assets” in 2017 and 
2016 were as follows:

Translation differences
The detail, by country and company, of “Translation Differences” at 31 December 2017 and 2016 
is as follows:
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3.16 Non-controlling interests

The balance of “Non-Controlling Interests” in the consolidated balance sheet reflects the interest of 
non-controlling shareholders in the fully consolidated companies. The balance relating to non- con-
trolling interests in the consolidated statement of profit or loss reflects the share of non- controlling 
shareholders in the profit or loss for the year.

The detail of “Non-Controlling Interests” in the consolidated balance sheets as at 31 December 2017 
and 2016 is as follows:

The main change in 2017 corresponds to the sale of 24.01% of Organización de Proyectos de Infrae-
structura, S.A.P.I. de C.V.

The detail of the share of non-controlling interests in the profit or loss for 2017 and 2016 is as follows:
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The profit for 2017 attributable to the non-controlling interests of discontinued operations amounts 
to EUR 292,513 thousand.

The detail of the percentages of ownership and the company name of the non-controlling sharehold-
ers at 31 December 2017 of the fully consolidated Group companies is as follows.
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3.17 Bank borrowings and debt instruments and other  
marketable securities

At 31 December 2017, the bank borrowings and debt instruments and other marketable securities 
amounted to EUR 1,574,235 thousand.

The related maturities are as follows:

3.17.1 Bank borrowings
The detail of the bank borrowings at 31 December 2017, by maturity, is as follows:

At 31 December 2017, the bank borrowings hedged by interest rate derivatives represented 6.6% of 
the total (31 December 2016: 31.9%).

•	 Mortgage loans

At 31 December 2017, certain items of property, plant and equipment amounting to EUR 396 
thousand (31 December 2016: EUR 402 thousand) had been mortgaged for loans totalling EUR 
161 thousand (31 December 2016: EUR 185 thousand) (see Note 3.3.).

At 31 December 2017, certain items of investment property amounting to EUR 3,218 thousand 
(31 December 2016: EUR 175 thousand) had been mortgaged for loans totalling EUR 5,212 
thousand (31 December 2016: EUR 119 thousand) (see Note 3.4.).

These loans bear interest at market rates.

•	 Progress billing and note discounting facilities
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The average interest rate on the amounts drawn down was 3.20% in 2017 (2016: 1.85%).

•	 Loans, credit facilities and loans of concession operators

The average interest rate on the amounts drawn down was 2.81% in 2017 (2016: 5.63%). The most 
noteworthy loan transactions were as follows:

1.	 Syndicated loan

In June 2015 a long-term syndicated loan of EUR 250,000 thousand was arranged.

At 31 December 2017 and 2016, this loan had been drawn down in full and classified as current, 
with EUR 41,000 thousand maturing on 28 July 2018 and EUR 209,000 thousand on 28 July 
2019.

In relation to this syndicated loan, there is an obligation to achieve a series of financial ratios at 
the end of each year, which at 31 December 2017 were not being achieved. Accordingly, the Par-
ent transferred the loan to current liabilities and requested a wavier which the banks authorised 
subsequent to year-end, on the condition that the loan be repaid when the sale of all of the shares 
of OHL Concesiones is completed.

2.	 Multi-product syndicated financing

On 30 March 2017, the OHL Group signed a multi-product syndicated financing agreement, 
secured by the shares of OHL Concesiones, S.A. and Obrascón Huarte Lain, Desarrollos, S.L., 
which was novated on 29 November 2017, and includes a revolving credit line of EUR 190,000 
thousand.

EUR 190,000 thousand had been drawn down against that line of credit at 31 December 2017.

This credit line is subject to an obligation to achieve a series of financial ratios at the end of each 
year, which at 31 December 2017 were not being achieved. The Parent requested a wavier which 
the banks authorised subsequent to year-end, on the condition that the loan be repaid in full 
when the sale of all of the shares of OHL Concesiones is completed.

3.	 Loans of concession operators

At 31 December 2017, “Loans of Concession Operators” totalled EUR 52,058 thousand and 
related to the loan of Sociedad Concesionaria Aguas de Navarra, S.A., which bears interest of 
3.35% and is classified at short term due to the failure to comply with the clauses of the loan 
agreement.
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3.17.2 Debt instruments and other marketable securities
The detail of “Debt Instruments and Other Marketable Securities” in the consolidated balance sheets 
as at 31 December 2017 and 2016 is as follows:

The detail of the corporate bonds, other marketable securities and bonds of concession operators, 
by maturity, is as follows:

Corporate bond issues

“Corporate Bond Issues” includes the principal and the accrued interest payable at 31 December 
2017 of the three long-term bond issues carried out by the Parent in Europe.

EUR 898,031 thousand had been recognised in this connection at 31 December 2017 (31 December 
2016: EUR 1,495,302 thousand).

“Debt Instruments and Other Marketable Securities” includes the principal and the accrued interest 
payable at 31 December 2017 of the following long-term bond issues carried out in Europe:

•	 Issue launched in March 2012 for an initial nominal amount of EUR 300,000 thousand, maturing in 
2020.

The annual interest rate is 7.625%, payable half-yearly.

In November 2015 EUR 37,583 thousand of this bond issue were repurchased early and the balance at 
31 December 2015 was EUR 265,463 thousand.

In March 2016 bonds totalling EUR 32,058 thousand were redeemed early. In August 2016 bonds 
totalling EUR 13,780 thousand were redeemed early. In September 2016 bonds totalling EUR 9,500 
thousand were repurchased. In October 2016 bonds totalling EUR 20,000 thousand were repurchased.

At 31 December 2017, the balance of this issue was EUR 190,144 thousand (31 December 2016: EUR 
189,919 thousand).
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•	 Issue launched in March 2014 for an initial nominal amount of EUR 400,000 thousand, matur-
ing in March 2022.

The annual interest rate is 4.75%, payable half-yearly.

In September 2016 bonds totalling EUR 5,500 thousand were repurchased.

At 31 December 2017, the balance of this issue was EUR 395,126 thousand (31 December 2016: 
EUR 394,127 thousand).

•	 In March 2015 an issue of nonconvertible bonds maturing in March 2023 amounting to EUR 
325,000 thousand was launched.

The annual interest rate is 5.50%, payable half-yearly.

In November 2015 bonds totalling EUR 8,137 thousand were redeemed early. In September 
2016 bonds totalling EUR 4,000 thousand were repurchased.

At 31 December 2017, the balance of this issue was EUR 312,761 thousand (31 December 2016: 
EUR 311,950 thousand).

The average interest rate on the bond issues was 5.61% in 2017 (2016: 5.79%).

In relation to these corporate bond issues, there is an obligation to achieve certain financial ratios at 
the end of each year, which were being achieved in full at 31 December 2017.

The bond issue contract clauses classify the sale by OHL, S.A. to IFM of all of OHL Concesiones as 
a change in control and, accordingly, when this transaction is completed a put event will be triggered 
for the bond holders, enabling them to, at their discretion, redeem the outstanding bond issues at 
101% of their nominal amount. It is the Group’s intention, at that point in time, to launch an offer 
to repurchase those issues, the terms and conditions and scope of which will be determined in due 
course.

Other marketable securities
The Parent has a commercial paper issue facility of up to EUR 500,000 thousand (2016: EUR 
500,000 thousand), the balance of which totalled EUR 6,695 thousand at 31 December 2017 (31 
December 2016: EUR 9,448 thousand). The average interest rate on the commercial paper issues was 
1.62% in 2017 (2016: 1.62%).

3.18 Other financial liabilities 

Obligations under finance leases
The detail of the Group’s obligations under finance leases at 31 December 2017 and 2016 is as follows:

The Group leases certain of its fixtures and equipment under finance leases. The average lease term 
is 47 months. In the year ended 31 December 2017, the average effective interest rate on the lease 
obligations was 2.21% (2016: 4.24%). Interest rates are set at the inception of the lease. All the lease 
payments are fixed in amount. The unaccrued interest on the leases amounts to EUR 191 thousand 
(2016: EUR 235 thousand).
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Information on operating leases
Operating leases are leases in which substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership 
are not transferred.

The Group’s main operating leases relate to the lease of offices at its head office and the other oper-
ating centres of its subsidiaries.

The future non-cancellable minimum payments under leases are as follows:

Notable among the operating leases are those relating to the Group’s head office and the offices at 
its other operating centres.

Derivative financial instruments
The Group uses derivative financial instruments, such as currency forwards, interest rate swaps and 
interest rate options in order to mitigate the economic effects of exchange rate and interest rate fluc-
tuations to which it is exposed as a result of its business activities.

It is not permitted at the Group to arrange derivatives for speculative purposes.

No collection risks are expected to arise in relation to the amounts that the banks have undertaken 
to pay to the Group in the future on the basis of the derivatives arranged, since the banks with which 
they were arranged are highly solvent.

The derivatives arranged by the Group are basically measured by discounting the future cash flows. 
Interest rate options are measured using a widely accepted pricing model (Black-Scholes). In all cases, 
they are measured in accordance with the contractual and market conditions prevailing at the date of 
measurement, including credit risk in accordance with IFRS 13.

The fair value of the derivatives is determined directly or indirectly using the information available 
in the various markets (foreign currency, fixed income and equity securities, interbank and other 
organised markets).

The inputs used to measure the derivatives arranged can be classified into three categories based on 
the degree to which their fair value is directly observable in the market:

Level 1: the derivatives arranged whose characteristics are identical to those of instruments listed 
on an active market.

Level 2: the derivatives arranged whose characteristics are not identical to those of instruments 
listed on an active market but whose fair value can be inferred from prices listed on one or sev-
eral active markets.

Level 3: the derivatives arranged which cannot be classified in Levels 1 or 2. All the inputs used 
to measure the derivatives arranged by the Group are Level 2.

The main criteria relating to derivatives are described in Note 2.6.13. Set forth below is a description 
of how the fair values of the derivatives arranged by the Group were accounted for at 31 December 
2017 as other financial assets or liabilities and of their impact, net of taxes, on equity.
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Foreign currency derivatives
The Group arranges currency forwards in order to avoid the economic impact that exchange rate 
fluctuations might have on payment obligations and collection rights in foreign currencies.

Following is a detail of the outstanding currency forwards at 31 December 2017, indicating, on 
the one hand, the nominal amounts in euros of the forwards, i.e. the amounts that the Group and 
the banks have agreed to exchange in euros in exchange for paying or receiving certain amounts in 
foreign currencies, classified by maturity, and, on the other, the fair values of the currency forwards, 
grouped together as other financial assets or liabilities, and their impact, net of taxes, on equity. Also 
indicated is the range of exchange rates and the nominal amounts in foreign currency arranged.

The column “Impact on Profit or Loss” includes the gains or losses net of tax attributable to the 
Group and to non-controlling interests corresponding to the measurement of the foreign currency 
derivatives outstanding at 31 December of each year, the changes in which are recognised in the con-
solidated statement of profit or loss since they do not qualify for hedge accounting.
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The changes in foreign currency derivatives in 2017 and 2016 were as follows:

The impact recognised in profit or loss as a result of the recognition of foreign currency derivatives, 
amounting to EUR 33,964 thousand in 2017 (31 December 2016: EUR 2,698 thousand), is included 
under “Net Gains (Losses) on Remeasurement of Financial Instruments at Fair Value” in the consol-
idated statement of profit or loss, the detail being as follows:

Interest rate derivatives
The Group arranges interest rate swaps and interest rate options to mitigate the variability of bor-
rowing costs.

In the financing of concession projects, the use of interest rate derivatives normally forms part of the 
requirements imposed by the financing banks. The purpose of these derivatives is to limit the possible 
impact that future changes in interest rates could have on the borrowing costs of the projects if the 
financing continued to bear interest at floating rates.

The following table shows in thousands of euros the notional amounts of the interest rate  deriva-
tives of the fully consolidated companies at 31 December 2017, which are the amounts on the basis 
of which the interest will be settled, grouped together by settlement currency and classified based 
on their final expiry date, together with the fair values of the derivatives, grouped together as other 
financial assets or other financial liabilities, and their impact, net of taxes, on equity. Also indicated 
is the range of interest rates.

In 2017 EUR (389) thousand were recognised under “Net Gains (Losses) on Remeasurement of Fi-
nancial Instruments at Fair Value” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss, with a net impact 
on equity of EUR (280) thousand, since one of the derivatives was considered to be ineffective.
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The detail of the expiry dates of the notional amounts of the fully consolidated companies at 31 
December 2017, by settlement currency, is as follows:

Following is a detail of the years in which the derivatives considered for accounting purposes to be 
cash flow hedges are expected to affect the profit or loss for the year.

The detail of the interest rate derivatives of the fully consolidated companies arranged at 31 Decem-
ber 2016 is as follows:

The column “Impact on Equity” shows the valuation of the derivatives of the fully consolidated 
companies outstanding at 31 December 2017 and 2016. This column shows the gains or losses  and 
valuation adjustments attributable to the OHL Group and the impact on non-controlling interests.

In addition, at 31 December 2017 there were interest rate derivatives the value of which is recognised 
under “Non-Current Assets Classified as Held for Sale” for EUR 14,538 thousand and under “Lia-
bilities Associated with Non-Current Assets Classified as Held for Sale” for EUR (21,249) thousand, 
and whose impact on equity at 31 December 2017 was EUR (6,949) thousand (see Note 3.8.).

In the case of interest rate derivatives arranged by companies in which the Group holds ownership 
interests of 50% or less, the amount recognised under “Investments Accounted for Using the Equity 
Method” in the consolidated balance sheet and the impact on equity at 31 December 2017 amount-
ed to EUR (8,950) thousand (31 December 2016: EUR (11,635) thousand). The negative impact on 
equity is limited, in the case of the investees less than 50% owned by the Group, to the value of the 
Group’s ownership interest.
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The following table summarises the impact on equity arising from the changes in the interest rate 
derivatives of the fully consolidated companies:

The impact on the profit or loss attributable to the Parent in the consolidated statement of profit 
or loss relates mainly to the amounts transferred from equity, since all the interest rate derivatives 
(except for the interest rate options) were accounted for as cash flow hedges  and, consequently, the 
related changes in value are recognised in equity under “Valuation Adjustments”.

The impact of the interest rate options that do not qualify for hedge accounting on the profit or loss 
attributable to the Parent in the consolidated statement of profit or loss is direct and does not need 
to be recognised first under “Valuation Adjustments” in the consolidated balance sheet.

At 31 December 2017, the impact recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss as a re-
sult of the recognition of the interest rate options, for a gross amount of EUR (561) thousand (2016: 
EUR 570 thousand), was included under “Profit for the Year from Discontinued Operations, Net of 
Taxes”.

The breakdown of “Net Gains (Losses) on Remeasurement of Financial Instruments at Fair Value” 
in the case of the interest rate derivatives of the fully consolidated companies is as follows:

Sensitivity analysis
A sensitivity analysis involves the measurement of the effect that interest rates, exchange rates and/
or share prices other than those existing on the market at the measurement date would have had.

The sensitivity analysis of exchange rates focused on the foreign currency derivatives of the fully con-
solidated companies outstanding at the date of the analysis, simulating a 10% increase in the value of 
the foreign currencies vis-à-vis the euro with respect to the rates in force at 31 December 2017 and 
2016. The result of this analysis is as follows:
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If the sensitivity analysis were performed simulating a 10% decrease in the value of the foreign 
currencies vis-à-vis the euro with respect to the rates in force at 31 December 2017 and 2016, the 
impact would be as follows:

The table below shows the difference in the fair value of the interest rate derivatives and equity of 
the fully consolidated companies with respect to the data presented had interest rates been 0.20% 
higher or lower than those prevailing in the market at 31 December 2017 and 2016.

3.19 Provisions

Long-term provisions
The changes in “Long-Term Provisions” in 2017 were as follows:

The provisions for the major maintenance, retirement or refurbishment of non-current assets cor-
respond to the concession operators and, in accordance with IFRIC 12, they cover contractual ob-
ligations to restore the infrastructure to a specified level of serviceability, pursuant to the terms and 
conditions of the licences or services, before it is handed over to the grantor in a specified condition 
at the end of the service arrangement. Accordingly, provisions are set up for major maintenance 
work on the stretches of road, based on the estimates of the cost thereof, on a straight-line basis from 
when the last maintenance work was carried out. These provisions were transferred to “Liabilities 
Associated with Assets Classified as Held for Sale” since they corresponded in full to companies in 
the discontinued Concessions business line (see Note 1.3).

The provisions for litigation and third-party liability arise due to the obligations of an indeterminate 
amount, in respect of lawsuits and/or arbitral proceedings in progress and indemnity payments.
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The detail of the projected schedule of the outflows of economic benefits relating to the long-term 
provisions at 31 December 2017 is as follows:

Both the provisions and the schedule are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, as required by 
IAS 37.59, with particular attention paid to the provisions for litigation and third-party liability in 
relation to which both the related risks and uncertainties are analysed.

Short-term provisions
The detail of “Short-Term Provisions” at 31 December 2017 is as follows:

“Provisions for Other Transactions”, which correspond primarily to the Group’s construction com-
panies, includes deferrals of expenses and costs and losses on construction projects. These amounts 
considered individually are of scant significance and correspond to numerous contracts.

3.20 Other liabilities

The detail of “Other Non-Current Liabilities” and “Other Current Liabilities” in the consolidated 
balance sheets as at 31 December 2017 and 2016 is as follows:
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The detail of “Other Non-Trade Payables” at 31 December 2017 and 2016 is as follows:

The main change in the current payables for financial instrument purchases relates to the transfer to 
“Liabilities Associated with Non-Current Assets Classified as Held for Sale” of the balances relating 
to the companies in the discontinued Concessions business line.

3.21 Tax matters

Consolidated tax group
The Group files consolidated tax returns in both Spain and the US for all the companies that meet the 
related requirements. All the other companies file individual tax returns.

Accounting for taxes
The income tax expense of the consolidated Group is obtained by aggregating the income tax ex-
pense of the consolidated tax groups and of the companies that file individual income tax returns.

The tax bases are calculated on the basis of the profit or loss for the year adjusted by temporary dif-
ferences, permanent differences and prior years’ tax losses.

The tax effect of temporary differences between transactions recognised in the accounting records 
and reported in the income tax return using different criteria gives rise to deferred tax assets and 
liabilities that will be recoverable or payable in the future.

Tax losses, if recognised, also give rise to deferred tax assets that will reduce the expense for subse-
quent years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the pe-
riod when the assets are realised or the liabilities are settled.

Deferred tax assets are only recognised when there are no doubts that there will be sufficient taxable 
profits in the future against which to charge these temporary differences.

When the closing is performed for tax purposes each year, the deferred tax balances are reviewed in 
order to ascertain whether they still exist and the appropriate adjustments are made so as to adapt 
the balances to the new situation.

Reconciliation of the accounting loss to the tax loss
The reconciliation of the consolidated accounting loss for the year to the tax loss for income tax 
purposes is as follows:
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The reconciliation of the accounting loss from continuing operations to the income tax benefit for 
2017 is as follows:

The permanent differences relate mainly to the result of companies accounted for using the equity 
method -EUR 45,452 thousand- and the remainder -EUR 5,095 thousand- relate to:

•	 Expenses not considered to be deductible for tax purposes such as fines and donations or finance 
costs exceeding 30% of profit from operations.

•	 Profits or losses obtained abroad by branches and unincorporated temporary joint ventures 
(UTEs).

•	 The recognition and use of provisions.

•	 Tax withholdings paid abroad.

•	 The elimination of dividends and impairment losses on investments. 

Income tax and tax rate
Income tax is calculated using the tax rates in force in each country in which the Group operates: 
The main rates are:
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The income tax benefit of EUR 7,288 thousand comprises:

•	 EUR 14,884 thousand relating to the tax income recognised by the companies forming part of 
the Spanish tax group; the amount recognised in 2017 includes the amount corresponding to 
their branches abroad.

•	 EUR (37,351) thousand relating to the expense recognised by the Spanish and foreign companies 
that do not form part of the Spanish tax group.

•	 EUR 29,755 thousand relating to the income arising from consolidation adjustments, due main-
ly to the sale of investments without the loss of control.

In addition to the income tax benefit for 2017, EUR (2,240) thousand were recognised directly in 
equity, relating to the change in value of derivative financial instruments.

 

Deferred taxes and tax losses
The changes in deferred tax assets were as follows:

The detail of the changes in deferred tax assets is as follows:
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The deductible temporary differences recognised at 2017 year-end, amounting to EUR 129,087 
thousand, are due mainly to:

•	 The recognition and use of provisions, amounting to EUR 35,236 thousand.

•	 The difference in the timing of recognition of revenue relating to customer advances, amounting 
to EUR 23,348 thousand.

•	 The difference in the timing of recognition of construction costs, amounting to EUR 27,201 
thousand.

In 2017 the Parent evaluated the recoverability of the deferred tax assets recognised within the Span-
ish tax group. In particular, the key hypotheses used for testing the recoverability of the tax assets 
assume the generation of margins in accordance with the current situation of the industry in Spain, 
in a financing environment similar to that currently prevailing. Based on the foregoing, no risk of 
recoverability of the Spanish tax group’s tax assets was identified.

Also, for the other deferred tax assets a recoverability analysis was conducted based on the main-
tenance of the current key assumptions of the businesses, and no risk of recoverability within the 
expiry periods was identified.

The changes in deferred tax liabilities in 2017 and 2016 were as follows:

The detail of the changes in deferred tax liabilities is as follows:
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The taxable temporary differences recognised at 2017 year-end, amounting to EUR 139,493 thou-
sand, relate mainly to:

•	 The adjustments made on consolidation of the financial statements, including most notably the 
allocations made to the assets and liabilities of the acquirees, increasing the value of the acquired 
assets by EUR 49,404 thousand on performance of the business combinations.

•	 The recognition and use of provisions, amounting to EUR 5,448 thousand.

•	 The difference in the timing of the depreciation and amortisation of non-current assets, amount-
ing to EUR 15,667 thousand.

•	 The difference in the timing of recognition of revenue relating to “Trade Receivables for Amounts 
to be Billed for Work Performed”, amounting to EUR 29,070 thousand.

The change in the US tax rate planned for 2018 did not have a significant effect on deferred taxes at 
31 December 2017.

The Group companies’ tax losses available for offset in future tax returns amount to EUR 1,580,438 
thousand, the detail of which, by last year for offset, is as follows:

In addition to these tax losses, at 31 December 2017 there were EUR 1,267,242 thousand of tax losses 
relating to companies belonging to the discontinued operations of the Concessions business line.

The Group companies have unused double taxation tax credits amounting to EUR 8,649 thousand, 
and tax credits for investment (reinvestment, R&D+i and other) amounting to EUR 26,550 thousand.

In addition to these tax credits, at 31 December 2017 there were EUR 23,141 thousand of tax cred-
its relating to companies belonging to the discontinued operations of the Concessions business line.

Years open for review by the tax authorities

In general, the Group companies have all the tax returns filed in recent years for the taxes applicable 
to them open for review by the tax authorities.

On 5 July 2016, the Spanish tax authorities commenced general tax audits for 2011 to 2013 at the 
Parent and at OHL Concesiones, S.A. Since then these companies have furnished all the information 
requested of them, but no proposed regularisation had been formalised at the end of the year.

These audits are at a very preliminary stage, and all the required documentation has been produced.

Both the aforementioned audits and the tax audits of the years open for review that might be con-
ducted by the tax authorities could give rise to certain contingent tax liabilities that cannot be 
objectively quantified. However, the Parent’s directors consider that those liabilities would not be 
material.
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Tax receivables and payables
The detail of “Tax Receivables” and “Tax Payables” at 31 December 2017 and 2016 is as follows:

3.22 Income and expenses

Revenue
The Group’s revenue in 2017 amounted to EUR 3,216,351 thousand (2016: EUR 3,342,369 thou-
sand). The detail, by business activity, geographical market and type of customer, is as follows:
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Staff costs
The staff costs in 2017 amounted to EUR 839,321 thousand (2016: EUR 854,777 thousand).

“Staff Costs” includes EUR 32,172 thousand that correspond to the collective redundancy proce-
dure, which gave rise to the termination of 381 job positions (see Note 2.6.21) at 31  December 
2017. The collective redundancy procedure of OHL Industrial, S.L., which expires on 31 December 
2018, has yet to be concluded.

Other operating expenses
The detail of “Other Operating Expenses” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss is as fol-
lows:

Finance income
The detail of “Finance Income” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss is as follows:

Finance costs
The detail of “Finance Costs” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss is as follows:

Main disposals of investments in companies
The most significant disposals of ownership interests in companies in 2017 were:

•	 The sale of 17.5% of Centro Canalejas Madrid, S.A. on 7 April 2017.

•	 The sale of 51% of the Mayakoba hotel companies and golf course on 24 April 2017 and the 
sale of a further 29% of two of the hotel companies (Fairmont and Rosewood) on 18 May 2017.

The following table details the amount recognised in each of the relevant headings in the consolidat-
ed statement of profit or loss as a result of these transactions in 2017.
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The following table details the amount recognised in each of the relevant headings in the consolidat-
ed statement of profit or loss as a result of the main transactions in 2016.

Net gains (losses) on remeasurement of financial instruments at fair value
The detail of “Net Gains (Losses) on Remeasurement of Financial Instruments at Fair Value” in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss is as follows:

Impairment and gains or losses on disposals of financial instruments
The detail of “Impairment and Gains or Losses on Disposals of Financial Instruments” in the consol-
idated statement of profit or loss is as follows:
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Transactions and balances in currencies other than the euro
The detail of the transactions performed by the Group companies in 2017 in currencies other than 
the euro, by currency and for the main operating income and expense items, translated to euros at 
the average exchange rates, is as follows:

The detail of the balances receivable in currencies other than the euro at 31 December 2017 and 
2016, by currency and for the main asset items in the consolidated balance sheets, translated to euros 
at the year-end exchange rates, is as follows:
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The detail of the balances payable in currencies other than the euro at 31 December 2017 and 2016, 
by currency and for the main liability items in the consolidated balance sheets, translated to euros at 
the year-end exchange rates, is as follows:
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Consolidated loss attributable to the Parent
The detail of the contribution of each subsidiary to the consolidated loss attributable to the Parent 
for 2017 and 2016 is as follows:

3.23 Consolidated statement of cash flows

The consolidated statement of cash flows was prepared in accordance with IAS 7.

One of the most noteworthy aspects is that it is unaffected by changes in the exchange rates against 
the euro of the currencies with which the Group operates.

Also, the pertinent classifications have been made in order to properly show the changes due to in-
clusions in and exclusions from the scope of consolidation.

The following aspects are worthy of mention in relation to each of the main sections of the consoli-
dated statement of cash flows:

Cash flows from operating activities
“Cash Flows from Operating Activities” amounted to EUR (158,343) thousand in 2017, and it 
should be noted that:

The consolidated loss before tax for 2017 amounted to EUR (224,815) thousand.

The detail of “Other Adjustments to Loss” is as follows:

The changes in working capital amounting to EUR (185,851) thousand relate mainly to the changes 
in “Trade and Other Payables”.



218

Obrascón Huarte Lain, S.A. and Dependent Companies - 2017 Consolidated Financial Statements

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Cash flows from investing activities
“Cash Flows from Investing Activities” amounted to EUR 41,519 thousand in 2017. Payments due 
to investment amounted to EUR (189,787) thousand.

Notable among the proceeds from disposal, which amounted to EUR 279,379 thousand, are those 
from the partial sale of the hotel companies and golf course in Mayakoba.

Cash flows from financing activities
“Cash Flows from Financing Activities”, amounting to EUR (58,464) thousand in 2017, include 
most notably:

Following the aforementioned transactions, and taking into consideration the impact of exchange 
rates, cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year amounted to EUR 434,210 thousand.
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4. OTHER DISCLOSURES

4.1 Segment reporting

An operating segment is defined in the relevant IFRS as one having a segment manager who is direct-
ly accountable to and maintains regular contact with the chief operating decision maker to discuss 
operating activities, financial results, forecasts, or plans for the segment. The IFRS also states that if 
those characteristics apply to more than one set of components of an organisation but there is only 
one set for which segment managers are held responsible, that set of components constitutes the 
operating segments.

The Group considers that the segmentation that best represents it is that based on the various busi-
ness areas in which it operates, the detail being as follows:

•	 Concessions (discontinued operation (see Note 1.3.))

•	 Engineering and Construction Construction

	 Industrial 

	 Services

•	 Development

Basic information about these segments in 2017 and 2016 is presented below.
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The secondary segments -the geographical areas in which the Group companies operate on a lasting 
basis, since they have local structures- are the US and Canada, Mexico, Chile, Peru, Colombia, Spain 
and Central and Eastern Europe. The Group is also present in other countries, which are not current-
ly considered to be local markets and are grouped together under “Other Countries”.
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4.2 Risk management policy

Risk management, as a strategic objective of the 
OHL Group, focuses on the implementation 
and maintenance of a reliable risk management 
system to be used as a management tool at all 
decision-making levels.

This system develops and implements a com-
mon set of processes, risk categories, and man-
agement tools and techniques in order to:

•	 Identify and manage risks at Group and di-
visional level.

•	 Implement integrated reporting, enabling 
the identification and follow-up of key 
risks.

•	 Align levels of risk tolerance with Group 
aims.

•	 Improve risk-related information and com-
munications.

•	 Improve risk-response decisions.

•	 Integrate risk management into the deci-
sion-making process.

•	 Reduce the Group’s vulnerability to adverse 
events.

•	 Establish and maintain a culture of raising 
risk awareness.

•	 Increase the confidence and assurance of 
the Board of Directors and of stakeholders 
that material risks are being managed and 
communicated on a timely basis.

The framework of the OHL Group’s risk man-
agement process represents how the Group 
manages risk. The OHL Group manages risk 
on the basis of the following principles:

•	 Risk management is included in the main 
business processes such as planning or op-
erational processes to ensure consistent risk 
analysis in decision-making.

•	 The OHL Group analyses and defines its 
ability to reduce, accept, share or avoid 
risks. This definition is aligned with and 
supports the Group’s strategic and opera-
tional objectives and its declaration on risk 
tolerance.

•	 All the OHL Group’s risks are identified, 
prioritised and evaluated, based on risk 
assessments and potential exposure, by ap-
propriate personnel in the organisation.

•	 Each functional area and division is re-
sponsible for adopting and following the 
OHL Group Risk Management System. 
The risks identified are analysed in all divi-
sions and are added together to ensure the 
adoption of a coordinated response to the 
most common risks within the Group.

•	 Each functional area and division carries 
out periodic reviews of its risk listing in 
order to update the status of existing risks 
and to identify emerging risks.

•	 Each functional area and division supports 
a culture of transparency, awareness-rais-
ing and open dialogue on risk. The OHL 
Group’s Risk Management programme 
supports and helps facilitate regular de-
bates on risk, corporate risk awareness and 
communication, and ongoing training on 
risk management.

•	 It is the responsibility of each division to 
proactively disseminate information on 
significant current or potential risks in 
a timely manner, and to ensure that risk 
management information is provided to 
the corresponding division management, 
the corporate risk management function or 
others as deemed appropriate.

•	 The OHL Group provides the necessary 
tools and resources to facilitate risk report-
ing, monitoring and measurement.

The OHL Group’s risk management policy is 
reviewed annually to ensure that it remains 
in line with the interests of the Group and its 
stakeholders.

The OHL Group’s Audit, Compliance and Cor-
porate Social Responsibility Committee has the 
ultimate responsibility for ensuring that the 
commitments included in the risk management 
policy are up to date and fulfilled on an ongo-
ing basis.
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4.2.1 Financial risk management
Financial risks affect mainly the obtainment of 
the necessary financing when required and at 
a reasonable cost and the maximisation of the 
available financial resources. The most signifi-
cant financial risks are as follows:

•	 Interest rate risk.

•	 Foreign currency risk.

•	 Credit risk.

•	 Liquidity risk.

•	 Risk relating to financial instruments asso-
ciated with the Parent’s shares.

Interest rate risk
Interest rate fluctuations change the future 
flows from assets and liabilities tied to floating 
interest rates.

This interest rate risk is particularly important 
in relation to the financing of infrastructure 
projects and other projects in which project 
profitability depends on possible changes in in-
terest rates because it is directly linked to pro-
ject cash flows.

The Group finances its operations using fixed- 
or floating-rate financial products and, based 
on estimates of the trend in interest rates and of 
debt structure targets, it either performs hedg-
ing transactions by arranging derivatives to mit-
igate these risks, also conducting a sensitivity 
analysis in this connection, or it arranges fixed-
rate financing.

Of the Group’s total gross debt at 31 December 
2017, 3.1% had been hedged while 58.9% was 
bearing interest at a fixed rate.

The sensitivity of the Group’s profit or loss to 
an increase of 0.5% in interest rates, excluding 
the debt hedged with hedging instruments and 
the debt bearing a fixed rate of interest, would 
have an impact of EUR 2,232 thousand on the 
profit or loss attributable to the Parent.

Foreign currency risk
Foreign currency risk management is central-
ised at the Group and various hedging mecha-
nisms are applied to minimise the impact of the 
changes in value of foreign currencies against 
the euro.

The foreign currency risks relate basically to:

•	 Debt denominated in foreign currencies.

•	 Payments to be made in international mar-
kets for the acquisition of procurements or 
non- current assets.

•	 Collections arising on projects tied to cur-
rencies other than the functional currency 
of the Parent or of the subsidiaries.

•	 Investments in foreign subsidiaries.

The Group arranges foreign currency deriva-
tives and currency forwards to hedge significant 
future transactions and cash flows, in keeping 
with the acceptable risk limits.

Also, the net assets relating to net investments 
in foreign operations with a functional currency 
other than the euro are exposed to the risk of 
exchange rate fluctuations on the translation of 
the financial statements of these foreign opera-
tions on consolidation.

In October 2017 Obrascón Huarte Laín, S.A. 
announced that it had entered into an agreement 
to sell its Concessions division to IFM Investors. 
The amount receivable for the sale is affected,  
among other adjustments, by fluctuations in the 
EUR/MXN and EUR/PEN exchange rates. In 
this connection, a series of currency forwards 
were arranged in December 2017. These deriv-
atives do not qualify for hedge accounting and 
the impact of changes therein is recognised in 
profit or loss.

EUR (730,641) thousand were recognised in 
this connection under “Valuation Adjustments 
- Translation Differences” in the consolidated 
balance sheet as at 31 December 2017 (31 De-
cember 2016: EUR (529,917) thousand).

Non-current assets denominated in currencies 
other than the euro are financed in that same 
currency with a view to creating a natural 
hedge.
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The sensitivity analysis of the foreign currency risk of financial instruments for the main currencies 
in which the Group operates simulated a 10% increase in the foreign currency/euro exchange rate 
with respect to the rates applicable at 31 December 2017 and 2016, the possible impact of which 
was as follows: 

If a sensitivity analysis were performed using the assumption of a 10% decrease in the foreign cur-
rency/euro exchange rate with respect to the rates applicable at 31 December 2017 and 2016, the 
impact would be as follows:
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Credit risk
Credit risk is the probability that a counterparty to a contract does not meet its contractual obliga-
tions, giving rise to a loss.

The Group has adopted a policy of trading only with solvent third parties and obtaining sufficient 
guarantees to mitigate the risk of incurring losses in the event of non-compliance. The Group ob-
tains information on its counterparty through independent company valuation agencies, other public 
sources of financial information or its own relationships with customers and third parties.

At 31 December 2017, the net balances of the Group’s financial assets exposed to credit risk are:

Non-current financial assets
Non-current financial assets include loans to 
associates totalling EUR 67,580 thousand. The 
Group is aware of the solvency of its associates 
and does not expect any losses to arise in rela-
tion to these financial assets. No write-downs 
were recognised on these financial assets in 
2017.

Non-current hedging instruments
The credit risk of hedging instruments with a 
positive fair value is limited by the Group, since 
derivatives are arranged with highly solvent 
counterparties with high credit ratings and no 
counterparty accounts for a significant percent-
age of the total credit risk.

Trade and other receivables
Trade and other receivables includes the bal-
ances of “Trade Receivables for Sales and Ser-
vices” totalling EUR 1,710,407 thousand, of 

which 51.9% relate to public-sector customers 
in relation to which the Group does not expect 
any losses to arise. In certain cases, the Group 
is entitled to demand interest. The remain-
ing 48.1% relate to private-sector customers 
which, in general, have a high level of solvency.

Customers are assessed prior to entering into 
contracts. This assessment includes a solvency 
study. Over the course of the contract term, 
changes in debt are monitored on a constant 
basis and the recoverable amounts are re-
viewed, and write-downs are recognised when-
ever necessary.

Liquidity risk
This risk is managed by maintaining adequate 
levels of cash and marketable securities as well 
as by arranging and maintaining sufficient fi-
nancing lines to cover all financing needs and to 
maintain at all times adequate levels of financial 
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flexibility for the Group’s activity.

In order to improve this liquidity position, the 
Group takes measures in relation to:

•	 Ongoing management of working capital 
and, particularly, of “Trade and Other Re-
ceivables”.

•	 Optimisation of the financial position of all 
its companies through ongoing monitoring 
of cash projections.

•	 Management of the arrangement of financ-
ing lines in capital markets.

The Group presents the repayment schedule 
at 31 December 2017, of which EUR 680,679 
thousand mature in 2018 (see Note 3.17.).

The Group’s liquidity position at 31 December 
2017 comprises the following:

•	 Current financial assets amounting to EUR 
140,119 thousand.

•	 Cash and cash equivalents amounting to 
EUR 434,210 thousand.

•	 Drawable credit lines and discount facilities 
amounting to EUR 215,005 thousand.

In 2016 there were four reductions in the 
Group’s credit rating by rating agencies, three 
levels in the case of Moody’s and one level in 
the case of Fitch, ultimately leaving it at Caa1 
and B+ (in both cases with a negative outlook), 
respectively.

In order to avoid a potential adverse impact on 
its liquidity profile, the OHL Group initiated a 
process of dialogue and joint negotiation with 
its eight main relationship entities (the “Group 
of Entities”), with a twofold objective: (i) to en-
sure the maintenance of their support for the 
Group by signing a formal standstill agreement 
to maintain the terms and conditions, drawa-
bility and limits of the existing financing from 
that Group of Entities; and (ii) to negotiate a 
new financing package that would allow the 
OHL Group to ensure the coverage of its future 
working capital needs arising from the imple-
mentation of its Business Plan.

The renewal of the multi-product syndicated fi-
nancing agreement (novated on 29 November 
2017) was formalised on 30 March 2017 for an 
aggregate amount of EUR 684 million, for the 
issue of guarantees (EUR 402 million) and re-
verse factoring (EUR 92 million), which also in-
cludes a revolving credit line of EUR 190 million.

All maturing at 18 months, thereby extending 
the standstill period until that date, and secured 
by the shares of OHL Concesiones and OHL 
Desarrollos.

This financing package, together with the 
debt reduction measures implemented in 2017 
aimed at carrying out a divestment plan and 
taking decisive actions to generate cash flows/
control projects, strengthened the Group’s li-
quidity profile at 31 December 2017.

Note should also be made of the agreement en-
tered into on 30 November 2017 by OHL and 
IFM Investors for the sale of all the Group’s 
ownership interest in OHL Concesiones. This 
transaction should be completed in the first 
quarter of 2018 and will represent a significant 
cash inflow for the Group, which will substan-
tially reduce its gross recourse borrowings and 
improve its available recourse liquidity.
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4.2.2 Capital management
The objective of the Group’s capital management is to maintain an optimum financial structure that 
enables it to reduce the cost of capital but also guarantees the capacity to continue managing recur-
ring operations and undertaking new projects focused on growth and the creation of value.

In order to achieve this target, the Group considered it necessary to strengthen its  financial struc-
ture to undertake investments in new concession operators and also to reduce its net financial debt. 
Accordingly, on 30 October 2015, it increased capital by a par value of EUR 119,410 thousand, 
through the issue of 199,018,056 new shares of EUR 0.60 par value and a share premium of EUR 
4.42 each, of the same class and series as the existing shares.

The total amount of the capital increase, i.e. par value plus share premium, excluding expenses, was 
EUR 999,070 thousand.

In addition to obtaining funds from its shareholders, the main sources used by the Group to finance 
its growth and operations are as follows:

•	 Cash flows generated by the Group that are not related to project finance, including dividends 
arising from projects.

•	 Project finance, which is always long term and with recourse only to the cash flows generated 
and the project assets being financed and always in the same currency as the revenue from the 
related project.

•	 Short-term corporate finance, with recourse mainly to the Parent, used to cover the possible 
seasonality of business during the year.

•	 Long-term corporate finance, with recourse mainly to the Parent, always of a moderate amount 
with respect to equity and in proportion to the cash generated.

The capital structure is controlled through the leverage ratio (calculated as the ratio of net financial 
debt to equity).

Total net financial debt decreased in 2017 due mainly to the discontinuation of the Concessions 
business (see Note 1.3.).

4.3 Number of employees
The average number of employees in 2017 and 2016, by professional category, was as follows:
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The average number of employees at the Group with a disability equal to or greater than 33% in 
2017 was 521 (2016: 393).

Of the average number of employees in 2017, 7,997 were women and 13,571 were men.

4.4 Related party transactions

Related party transactions are deemed to be transactions with parties outside the Group but with 
which there are strong ties as defined in Ministry of Economy and Finance Order EHA/3050/2004, 
of 15 September, and in Spanish National Securities Market Commission (CNMV) Circular 1/2005, 
of 1 April.

The following transactions were performed with related companies in 2017 and 2016:

The following transactions were performed with the related companies of the discontinued Conces-
sions business in 2017 and 2016:
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The detail of the related party transactions in 2017 is as follows:
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The detail of the transactions performed in 2017 by companies belonging to the discontinued Con-
cessions business is as follows:
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At 31 December 2017 and 2016, the balances with related companies were as follows:

The balances with related companies associated with discontinued operations at 31 December 2017 
are as follows:

In addition, at 31 December 2017 the Group had provided guarantees for related entities amounting 
to EUR 57,570 thousand.

4.5 Backlog

At 31 December 2017, the Group’s backlog amounted to EUR 6,460,737 thousand (31 December 
2016: EUR 6,900,292 thousand).

The breakdown of the Group’s backlog, by activity and geographical market, is as follows:

The long-term backlog includes an estimate of the future net sales of Construction concession op-
erators over the entire term of the concession based on the economic and financial plan of each 
concession.

Of the total short-term backlog at 31 December 2017, EUR 4,976,279 thousand related to public 
sector customers and EUR 1,259,971 thousand to private sector customers (2016: EUR 4,514,772 
thousand and EUR 2,385,520 thousand, respectively).
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At 31 December 2017, the backlog abroad represented 76.1% of the total backlog (31 December 
2016: 77.7%).

4.6 Contingent assets and 
contingent liabilities

4.6.1 Contingent assets
There were no material contingent assets at 31 
December 2017.

4.6.2 Contingent liabilities and 
guarantees 
4.6.2.1 Guarantees provided to third 
parties
The contingent liabilities include the normal 
liability of construction companies for the per-
formance and completion of the project con-
tracts held by the Group companies and those 
arranged by the UTEs in which they have in-
terests. The subsidiaries in Spain also have a 
secondary liability for the obligations of their 
subcontractors to the social security system 
with respect to their site employees. No losses 
are expected to be incurred by the Group in this 
connection.

At 31 December 2017, the Group companies 
had provided EUR 3,672,965 thousand of guar-
antees to third parties (31 December 2016: EUR 
3,922,822 thousand), of which, in accordance 
with standard practice in the industry, EUR 
3,550,465 thousand (31 December 2016: EUR 
3,759,089 thousand) related to completion bonds 
deposited with public authorities and private sec-
tor customers to guarantee proper performance of 
the project contracts, and the remainder to provi-
sional guarantees for project bids.

Of the total EUR 3,762,965 thousand of guar-
antees to third parties, EUR 348,846 thousand 
relate to companies belonging to the discon-
tinued Concessions business. Also, of the total 
EUR 3,550,867 thousand of guarantees depos-
ited with public authorities and private sector 
customers to guarantee proper performance of 
the project contracts, EUR 288,718 thousand 
relate to companies belonging to the discontin-
ued Concessions business.

4.6.2.2 Joint and several personal 
financial guarantees
Also, certain Group companies had provided 
joint and several personal guarantees to various 
entities (mainly banks) as security for the cred-
it facilities granted to other associates, which 
amounted to EUR 50,493 thousand at 31 De-
cember 2017 (31 December 2016: EUR 26,435 
thousand).

The Parent’s directors do not expect any ad-
ditional liabilities to arise in connection with 
these guarantees that might affect the 2017 
consolidated financial statements.

4.6.2.3 Guarantees for financial 
instruments
The Group has loans secured by shares of its in-
vestees (see Notes 3.17.1. and 4.2.).

Certain Group companies have provided guar-
antees to various entities to secure derivatives 
granted to other associates, the amount of which 
at 31 December 2017 was EUR 6,095 thousand 
(31 December 2016: EUR 4,199 thousand).

The Parent’s directors do not expect the collat-
eral guarantees to pose a significant risk for the 
Group’s liquidity.



232

Obrascón Huarte Lain, S.A. and Dependent Companies - 2017 Consolidated Financial Statements

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4.6.2.4 Investment commitments
The concession operators are obliged, under 
the concession arrangements, to make certain 
investments (see Note 3.2.).

These investments will be financed through 
loans granted to, capital increases at, and cash 
flows generated by, the concession operators. 
Given that these are estimates and neither the 
amounts to be received through the loans nor 
the cash flows to be generated by the conces-
sions are fixed, the amount and the timing of 
the capital increases at the subsidiaries is not 
certain.

4.6.2.5 Litigation
At the end of 2017 certain lawsuits were in pro-
cess involving the Parent and/or its subsidiaries as 
a result of the ordinary course of their operations.

The Group’s most significant lawsuits, by oper-
ating segment, are as follows:

Concessions
•	 In June 2008 and 2009 the concession op-

erator Autopista Eje Aeropuerto Conce-
sionaria Española, S.A.U. filed two claims 
(the latter refiled on 31 July 2013) against 
the Ministry requesting that the econom-
ic feasibility of the concession be restored 
and that the concession arrangement be 
rendered null and void with the reimburse-
ment of the amounts invested, respectively.

At the date of these consolidated financial 
statements, the authorities had not handed 
down any decision on these requests.

In order to compensate for the shortfall in 
traffic, in 2012, 2013, 2014, 2015, 2016 
and 2017 the company claimed from the 
Ministry of Public Works the approval and 
payment of the amounts earmarked in the 
compensation account and approval of the 
annual participating loans pursuant to Ad-
ditional Provision Eight of Law 43/2010. 
All the requests were rejected in the  admin-
istrative jurisdiction, and a decision has yet 
to be handed down by the Supreme Court 
on those relating to 2013, 2014 and 2015.

The total requested in relation to amounts 
earmarked in the aforementioned years is 
EUR 25.7 million, and that requested in re-
lation to participating loans is EUR 116.0 
million.

Pursuant to Additional Provision 41 of Law 

26/2009, the concession operator filed 14 
participating loan applications with the 
Ministry of Public Works for the payment 
of compulsory purchases made in 2012, 
2013, 2014, 2015 and 2016. The total 
amount claimed through these applications 
is EUR 111.7 million. The request for pay-
ment of these loans was dismissed in a final 
judgment by the Supreme Court in appeal 
397/2014 claiming the restoration of the 
economic feasibility of the concession for 
compulsory purchase cost overruns. At the 
reporting date, and with respect to com-
pulsory purchase proceedings, reapprais-
als and related proceedings (voie de fait 
(an administrative proceeding performed 
outside its jurisdiction or dispensing with 
the established procedure) and request for 
compensation), one court proceeding and 
two administrative proceedings are in pro-
gress. Also, at the reporting date a decision 
had yet to be handed down on the appeal 
filed by the concession operator in June 
2014 at the Supreme Court against the al-
leged dismissals of the request for compen-
sation filed by the concession operator for 
the performance of additional works.

Also, in relation to the insolvency proceed-
ing involving Autopista Eje Aeropuerto Con-
cesionaria Española, S.A.U. and Aeropistas, 
S.L.U.:

•	 Petition for initiation of insolvency pro-
ceedings

Autopista Eje Aeropuerto Concesionaria 
Española, S.A.U. was declared to be le-
gally involved in an insolvency proceeding 
together with its sole shareholder, Aeropis-
tas,

S.L.U. in the court order of 12 December 
2013 of the Madrid Commercial Court 
No. 2, which gave rise to the orders of 
Voluntary Insolvency Proceeding 863/13.

•	 The common phase of the insolvency pro-
ceeding

On 19 May 2015, the insolvency manag-
er submitted the final reports, introducing 
amendments to the list of creditors of Au-
topistas Eje Aeropuerto Concesionaria Es-
pañola, S.A.U, due to: (i) the definitive na-
ture of the majority of judicial decisions in 
matters of compulsory purchases; (ii) the 
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inclusion of the decision handed down on 
insolvency event 588/2014; and (iii) the rec-
ognition of debts not included due to error.

There were no changes to the inventory of 
assets and rights of the concession operator, 
and the total value remained at EUR 412.6 
million, of which intangible assets account-
ed for EUR 396.1 million.

In the case of Aeropistas, S.L.U. no amend-
ments were made to the list of creditors in 
the final reports or the inventory of assets 
and rights, with assets totalling EUR 336.6 
million, comprising mainly investments in 
Group companies and equity instruments.

On 31 July 2015, an order was issued to 
end the common phase and open the phase 
of arrangement, as both SEITTSA and the 
insolvent companies had submitted ar-
rangement proposals.

•	 Opening and processing of the liquidation 
phase.

The court order of 13 October 2015 reject-
ed the arrangement proposals submitted 
and, consequently, ordered the opening of 
the liquidation phase, with the legal effects 
that this entails. Furthermore, the insolven-
cy manager was requested to submit a liqui-
dation plan in 15 days, although it request-
ed an extension to that period (at the date 
of these consolidated financial statements 
that request has not been answered).

Also, on 23 October 2015 the insolvency 
manager requested that the Spanish Minis-
try of Public Works terminate and liquidate 
the concession arrangement, to which the 
Spanish Ministry of Public Works respond-
ed, in the notification of 9 February 2016, 
that “the requested termination of the con-
cession arrangement shall only be carried 
out when the liquidation [in the insolven-
cy proceeding of the concession operator 
Autopista Eje Aeropuerto] becomes final, 
if the decision handed down on the appeal 
filed by the Spanish government lawyers on 
behalf of SEITTSA orders this to happen”.

SEITTSA filed an appeal against the order 
initiating the liquidation phase, requesting, 
furthermore, the stay of the liquidation 
proceedings until that court order becomes 
final. Subsequently, SEITTSA and the Span-
ish Ministry of Public Works withdrew this 

appeal. As a result of the foregoing, on 19 
December 2017 the Spanish Ministry of 
Public Works declared the termination of 
the concession arrangement and ordered 
the procedure to liquidate the concession 
arrangement to be processed.

The insolvency manager and AEA submit-
ted pleadings against this decision of the 
Spanish Ministry of Public Works in which 
they requested the dismissal of the initiat-
ed proceeding, since it was not taken into 
account that the concession arrangement 
had already been terminated, by opera-
tion of Law, on 13 October 2015 (date of 
the opening of the liquidation phase) and, 
accordingly, the Governmental Liability 
(“Responsabilidad Patrimonial de la Ad-
ministración -RPA-” ) should be calculated 
as of that date.

The above in consonance with the in-
formation presented previously, which 
was fully aligned with the decision of the 
Chamber for Jurisdictional Conflicts of 
the Supreme Court in relation to the in-
solvency proceedings of another toll road 
concession operator, i.e. the decision of 15 
December 2016 of the Chamber for Juris-
dictional Conflicts of the Supreme Court 
(which resolved the conflict of jurisdic-
tion raised between the Spanish Ministry 
of Public Works and Madrid Commercial 
Court No. 6, in relation to who was the 
competent authority to terminate and liq-
uidate a toll road concession arrangement 
involved in insolvency proceedings), which 
establishes, inter alia, that the opening of 
the liquidation phase ordered by the judge 
overseeing the insolvency proceedings pro-
duces by operation of Law the termina-
tion of the concession arrangement and, 
therefore, the public authorities cease to 
have the power to declare the concession 
terminated, without prejudice to continu-
ing to maintain the power to liquidate the 
concession arrangement once it is indeed 
terminated.

The opening of the liquidation phase at the two 
companies led to the exclusion from consolida-
tion thereof from October 2015 onwards.

In this context, and with respect to the termi-
nation of the liquidation process of the inves-
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tees, the Group’s directors consider that in a 
base-case resolution scenario, which is inferior 
to the scenario requested by the companies’ 
liquidator, both the net investments recognised 
(EUR 19 million) and the balance receivable as-
sociated with the construction of the infrastruc-
ture (EUR 43 million) would be recovered.

•	 In accordance with the provisions of Arti-
cle 2 of Insolvency Law 22/2003, of 9 July, 
and following an agreement dated 19 May 
2016 of its Board of Directors, on 24 May 
2016 the concession operator Cercanías 
Móstoles Navalcarnero, S.A. filed a peti-
tion for voluntary insolvency proceedings 
to be initiated since it met the objective 
prerequisite of insolvency referred to in the 
aforementioned Article of the Insolvency 
Law.

On 12 July 2016, Madrid Commercial Court 
no. 1 issued an order admitting the aforemen-
tioned petition for insolvency and declared the 
initiation of ordinary voluntary insolvency pro-
ceedings in relation to the company.

This order designated an insolvency manager 
and established that the company’s situation of 
insolvency arose from:

•	 The Grantor’s refusal to amend the conces-
sion arrangement and restore its economic 
feasibility.

•	 The breaches of the concession arrange-
ment by the Grantor.

•	 The imposition by the Grantor of an 
unjustified penalty amounting to EUR 
34,080,687 pursuant to the resolution of 
12 February 2016.

The declaration of insolvency entailed the inter-
ruption of the principal activity that the com-
pany had been carrying on until that time (the 
construction of infrastructure). Currently, the 
company only takes actions that are strictly nec-
essary to defend its rights against third parties 
in relation to the claims filed and to continue 
with the normal development of the insolvency 
proceedings.

On 16 August 2016, the initiation of the ordi-
nary voluntary insolvency proceedings of Cer-
canías Móstoles Navalcarnero, S.A. was pub-
lished in the Spanish Official State Gazette.

On 15 March 2017, Madrid Commercial Court 
no. 1 ordered the liquidation of Cercanías 

Móstoles Navalcarnero, S.A., opening the liq-
uidation phase, declaring the dissolution of the 
company, the removal of its directors and their 
substitution by the insolvency managers.

On 20 June 2017, as a result of the aforemen-
tioned imposition of the penalty on the com-
pany, the Autonomous Community Govern-
ment of Madrid enforced the guarantees that 
OHL, S.A. and OHL Concesiones, S.A.U. had 
provided to secure performance of their obli-
gations under that company’s concession ar-
rangement. The enforced guarantees amounted 
to EUR 15,869,300.60 (EUR 12,696,240.48 
from Banco Popular Español, S.A. and EUR 
3,173,060.12 from Abanca Corporación Ban-
caria, S.A.). On 7 July 2017, subsequent to 
filing an appeal for judicial review, the High 
Court of Madrid resolved to stay the court 
proceeding due to a preliminary point of law 
until a decision had been handed down on the 
appeal for judicial review filed by the company 
requesting the termination of the concession ar-
rangement.

Also, on 21 July 2017 the concession operator 
was notified of the order issued by the Auton-
omous Community of Madrid’s Regional Min-
ister for Transport, Housing and Infrastructure 
declaring the termination of the concession ar-
rangement, the attachment of the guarantee and 
the obligation to pay compensation for dam-
age and losses to the grantor for an amount to 
be determined in the corresponding adversary 
process. The company lodged an administrative 
appeal against this order, which was dismissed 
by the Autonomous Community Government 
of Madrid on 10 October 2017 and, according-
ly, on 5 December 2017 the company filed an 
appeal for judicial review against this decision. 
The complete administrative dossier, which is 
required to submit this appeal, has not yet been 
received.

Lastly, on 2 November 2017 Madrid Com-
mercial Court No. 1 approved the company’s 
liquidation plan as part of the aforementioned 
insolvency proceedings.

In line with the situation described above, the 
Group considers that, based on opinions of its 
internal and external legal advisers, the conces-
sion arrangement supports the right to recover 
the net investments and the amounts contribut-
ed in the form of a loan to the company, with 
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respect to which no provisions have been rec-
ognised.

Construction
•	 In 2014 the Parent reported that as a con-

sequence of the contract for the Design and 
Construction of the Sidra Medical Research 
Centre (Doha, Qatar), Qatar Foundation 
for Education, Science and Community 
Development (QF) and the joint venture 
(JV) between the company and Contrack 
Cyprus Ltda. (55% - 45%, respectively) 
had initiated arbitration proceedings on 30 
July 2014, at the International Chamber of 
Commerce.

At the end of 2015 a partial award was handed 
down on the existence or otherwise of an agree-
ment to novate the construction contract, in 
relation to which the company reached the con-
clusion that although there was an agreement, 
it lacked certain formalities required under Qa-
tari legislation for it to be considered legally en-
forceable by the parties.

Subsequent to the aforementioned partial 
award, the arbitration process continued to 
consider the legality or illegality of the termi-
nation of the contract and the economic and 
financial consequences thereof. The amount of 
the claim is estimated to stand within a range 
of between EUR 270 million and EUR 376 mil-
lion, with the inclusion of EUR 98 million relat-
ing to the incorrect enforcement of guarantees 
in both cases.

At the reporting date, the proceeding was on-
going and no developments worthy of note had 
occurred.

•	 OHL Construction Canada and Fomen-
to de Construcciones y Contratas Canada 
Limited Partnership (owned 50% by OHL 
Canada and 50% by FCC Canada Limit-
ed Partnership), (OHL - FCC LLP), filed a 
court claim against the customer -the To-
ronto Transit Commission (TTC)- at the 
Ontario courts on 5 May 2014. OHL - FCC 
LLP claimed an amount estimated at CAD 
205.0 million (EUR 138,654 thousand) in 
this proceeding, which may be modified in 
the course of the proceeding. TTC filed a 
defence and counterclaim for CAD 40.7 
million (EUR 27,528 thousand). The pro-
ceeding is stayed by court order and will 
resume once OHL - FCC LLP issues to the 

customer the last invoice arising from the 
arrangement.

At the date of these consolidated financial state-
ments, the proceeding is still stayed.

•	 On 7 February 2017, Rizzani de Eccher, 
SpA, Trevi, SpA and Obrascon Huarte 
Lain, S.A. initiated an arbitration proceed-
ing to protect an investment against the 
State of Kuwait at the International

Centre for Settlement of Investment Dis-
putes (ICSID) in relation to the “Con-
struction, Completion and Maintenance 
of Roads, Overpasses, Sanitary and Storm 
Water Drains, as well as other Services for 
Jamal Abdul Nasser Street” agreement. 
OHL holds a 50% ownership interest in 
the construction joint venture. This arbi-
tration proceeding was initiated under the 
international treaties for the reciprocal pro-
tection of investments entered into by the 
State of Kuwait with Spain and Italy and as 
a result of the breach thereof by the State 
of Kuwait through its obstructive, abusive 
and arbitrary actions, to the detriment of 
the foreign investors, in the performance 
of that agreement. A request for compen-
sation for the losses caused by the State of 
Kuwait has been submitted to the tribunal.

A group of external consultants has been 
engaged to assess the economic compen-
sation to which the claimants are entitled. 
The definitive outcome of this assessment 
will become known in the phase to submit 
and take evidence of the arbitration. The 
tribunal rejected the injunctive measures 
requested by the parties.

•	 On 12 May 2017, Judlau Contracting Inc. 
(a US company fully owned by Obras-
con Huarte Lain, S.A. through OHL USA 
Inc.) received a statement of claim from 
Welsbach Electric Corp. claiming from 
Judlau Contracting Inc. an amount ini-
tially estimated at USD 39.7 million (EUR 
34,827 thousand). Welsbach Electric Corp. 
brought this claim as subcontractor of Jud-
lau Contracting Inc. in the “Construction 
of Part of Second Avenue Subway Route 
132ª 72nd Street Station, Finishes, Me-
chanical, Electrical and Plumbing Systems, 
Ancillary Buildings and Entrances in the 
Borough of Manhattan “B” Division” pro-
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ject. The litigation is being conducted at the 
courts of the city of New York (US).

• On 13 December 2017, Samsung C&T Cor-
poration, Obrascon Huarte Lain, S.A. and
Qatar Building Company filed a request for
arbitration at the International Chamber of
Commerce against Qatar Railways Com-
pany. The claim arose from the “Design &
Build Package 5 - Major Stations - Doha
Metro Project” agreement. OHL holds a
30% ownership interest in the construction
joint venture. The joint venture claims an
amount initially estimated at QAR 1,500
million (EUR 341.0 million).

Industrial
• Cogeneración Complejo Pajaritos, 

SAPI de CV (SAPI), a company 50%
owned by OHL Industrial, S.L. and Sen-er 
Ingeniería y Sistemas, S.A. de C.V., filed at 
the International Chamber of Commerce 
(ICC) in Mexico, a request for arbitration 
against CYDSA S.A.B de C.V (CYDSA) in 
relation to the performance of the Coatza-
coalcos II combined heat and power plant 
project. The defendant, in turn, submitted 
an initial counterclaim. Once the respec-
tive lists of claims had been submitted by 
the two parties, the amounts claimed were 
specified. SAPI specified its initial applica-
tion, requesting confirmation of the legality 
of the termination of the construction con-
tract and the payment of USD 6.6 million 
(EUR 5.36 million) for invoices not paid 
by CYDSA. The latter submitted a counter-
claim against SAPI, claiming a total amount 
of approximately USD 162 million (EUR 
130.5 million) for various items. 

These arbitration proceedings are expected 
to conclude in 2019.

• OHL Industrial, S.L. filed a claim at the 
International Chamber of Commerce (ICC) 
of New York against Energía Limpia de 
Guatemala, S.A. (ELGUA) for a final total 
of USD 19.8 million (EUR 10.5 million) for 
costs incurred and a 455-day overrun of the 
deadline in the Xacbal Delta Hydroelectric 
Facility project, arising from access being 
blocked by indigenous communities and 
problems caused by the geological condi-
tions of the land and changes in the loca- 

tion of certain key construction items.

Also, ELGUA submitted a counterclaim for 
USD 27.0 million in connection with pen-
alties (EUR 23.7 million).

The resolution of the arbitration proceedings is 
expected in 2018.

In addition to the aforementioned litigation in 
which each division is involved, the Group is 
involved in other minor lawsuits arising from 
the ordinary course of its operations, none of 
which are for a significant individual amount.

The Group has recognised sufficient provisions 
for the purpose of meeting any adverse eco-
nomic effects that might arise.

The Parent’s directors do not expect any signif-
icant additional liabilities to arise in connection 
with the litigation in progress that might affect 
the consolidated financial statements as at 31 
December 2017.

4.6.2.6 OHL México - Investigations
The current status of the various litigation and 
investigations initiated concerning OHL Méxi-
co, S.A.B de C.V. (“OHL México”) and its sub-
sidiaries can be summarised as follows:

1. 1)	 Litigation relating to Concesionaria
Mexiquense, S.A. de C.V (“ConMex”): on
20 November 2015, ConMex, as an inter-
ested third party, was informed of a claim
for protection brought by Tecnología Apli-
cada Infraiber, S.A. (“Infraiber”) against
Sistema de Autopistas, Aeropuertos, Ser-
vicios Conexos y Auxiliares del Estado de
México (SAASCAEM), claiming the inva-
lidity of the Sixth Amendment to the Con-
cession Arrangement and the effectiveness
of the provision in Infraiber’s favour in the
Fifth Amendment thereto.

Although at the date of these consolidat-
ed financial statements no ruling has been
handed down in relation to the matters
at issue, based on the actions taken in the
court proceeding and the legal opinions of
its external advisers, the Group considers
that no significant effects should arise as a
result of the final decision handed down in
relation to the litigation initiated, in which
the OHL México Group companies are not
involved.

Official internal investigations launched by
the Mexican Government (State Comptrol-
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ler): The State Comptroller is conducting 
an internal investigation into the activities 
of SAASCAEM in relation to the awards of 
certain concessions. Neither OHL México 
nor its subsidiaries are the subject of the 
investigation. At the reporting date, the 
Parent is not aware of whether the afore-
mentioned investigation has officially come 
to an end. Although the Group cannot 
foresee the final outcome of this investiga-
tion, in which none of the companies that 
form part of the OHL México Group are 
involved, it considers that the final outcome 
thereof should not give rise to adverse eco-
nomic effects.

2.	 Official internal investigations opened by 
the Secretariat of the Civil Service of the 
Government of the Republic of Mexico: 
the Secretariat of the Mexican Civil Service 
is conducting an investigation into the Sec-
retariat of Communications and Transport 
(SCT) in relation to the award procedure 
and execution of the concession arrange-
ment for the Amozoc-Perote toll road and 
the Atizapán-Atlacomulco toll road. Nei-
ther OHL México nor its subsidiaries are 
the subject of the investigation.

Although the Group cannot foresee the fi-
nal outcome of these investigations, it con-
siders that the final outcome thereof, in 
which the OHL México Group companies 
are not involved, should not give rise to ad-
verse economic effects.

3.	 Official investigations initiated by the Mex-
ican National Banking and Securities Com-
mission (CNBV): on 23 October 2015 var-
ious official letters were received notifying 
OHL México, S.A.B de C.V., Organización 
de Proyectos de Infraestructuras, S.A.P.I. de

C.V. (OPI), Concesionaria Mexiquense, 
S.A. de C.V. and certain employees and 
former employees thereof of the possible 
commission of various violations relating 
mainly to:

•	 The accounting treatment under IFRSs of 
guaranteed minimum revenue concession 
arrangements.

•	 The lack of information disclosed to the 
market on the existence of certain devia-
tions in toll road traffic.

•	 The recognition of certain transactions 

without adequate supporting information.

•	 Related party transactions.

As a result of these investigations, the 
CNBV declared the inexistence of any 
prosecutable actions pursuant to criminal 
law, but, since it also declared the exist-
ence of certain administrative inaccuracies, 
imposed penalties of MXN 71.7 million 
(EUR 3.7 million) on various Mexican sub-
sidiaries in 2016.

On 17 February 2017, a document was 
submitted to the CNBV informing it of the 
manner in which the investment in conces-
sions and the return on them would be rec-
ognised, taking into account the economic 
nature thereof and the terms and conditions 
established in the concession arrangements 
and the laws applicable thereto, pursuant 
to IFRIC 12.

On 21 February 2017, the Commission ac-
knowledged receipt of the monitoring doc-
ument; however, at the reporting date, no 
additional communication had been issued 
by the CNBV on this matter.

With respect to the recognition of the guar-
anteed minimum revenue in the consolidat-
ed financial statements of the OHL Group, 
taking into account all the aforementioned 
matters (i.e. unqualified auditor’s reports 
by Deloitte, specific reports from the other 
leading global audit firms concurring  with 
OHL’s interpretation, and the response to 
the CNMV’s request), the OHL Group 
continues to apply the same accounting 
treatment used in the consolidated finan-
cial statements for 2016. This investment 
forms part of the Group’s discontinued 
operations, which must be taken into con-
sideration when reading the consolidated 
financial statements.
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4.7 Disclosures on the payment periods to suppliers. Addition-
al Provision Three. “Disclosure obligation” provided for in Law 
15/2010, of 5 July.

Law 15/2010, of 5 July, establishes measures for combating late payment in commercial transactions, 
and the Spanish Accounting and Audit Institute (ICAC) Resolution of 29 January 2016 implements 
the disclosure obligation provided for in Additional Provision Three of the aforementioned law. This 
resolution repeals the immediately preceding resolution of 29 December 2010, which was based on 
the previous wording of Additional Provision Three of Law 15/2010, of 5 July.

The disclosures on the average period of payment, ratios of transactions settled and transactions not 
yet settled, and total payments made and outstanding at 31 December 2017 and 2016 are as follows:

The average period of payment excluding transactions with Group companies is calculated as the 
quotient whose numerator is the sum of the ratio of transactions settled multiplied by the total 
amount of the payments made plus the sum of the ratio of transactions not yet settled multiplied by 
the total amount of outstanding payments, and whose denominator is the result of adding the total 
amount of the payments made to the total amount of the outstanding payments.

The ratio of transactions settled is the sum of the products of the amount of each transaction mul-
tiplied by the number of days elapsed until payment, divided by the total amount of the payments 
made.

The ratio of transactions not yet settled is the sum of the products of the amount of each transaction 
not yet settled multiplied by the number of days until the last day of the year, divided by the total 
amount of the aforementioned payments.

The information furnished relates exclusively to the fully consolidated Spanish Group companies.

The companies which, taken separately, slightly exceed the legal limit of the ratio of transactions not 
yet settled are taking measures to comply therewith.

4.8 Remuneration of directors and senior executives Remunera-
tion of the Board of Directors

The remuneration of the Board of Directors is regulated by Article 24 of the bylaws and the Direc-
tors’ Remuneration Policy approved, as established in Article 529 novodecies of the Spanish Limited 
Liability Companies Law, by the shareholders at the Annual General Meeting held on 9 May 2017, 
for 2017 and the following three years and which established annual fixed remuneration for the di-
rectors, in their capacity as directors, for attendance at meetings of SIX HUNDRED THOUSAND 
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EUROS (EUR 600,000), with the distribution criteria that the Board of Directors itself approved 
and which it set for distribution among the independent non-executive directors. In 2017, as in prior 
years, the non-executive directors did not receive any kind of variable remuneration or benefits. This 
fixed remuneration is compatible with, and independent from, remuneration, termination benefits, 
pensions and compensation of any kind received by those members of the Board of Directors as a 
result of the employment relationship with or the rendering of services to the Parent.

The Board of Directors of the Parent, on this same date, prepared the Annual Report on Directors’ 
Remuneration, as established in Article 541 of the Spanish Limited Liability Companies Law, with  
an individualised breakdown of all items earned in 2017 by each director. Following is an individ-
ualised detail of the remuneration earned by each director in his or her capacity as such in 2017, 
excluding the remuneration earned for executive functions subsequently disclosed:

In 2017 the executive directors earned total remuneration of EUR 12,365 thousand for the perfor-
mance of their executive duties (2016: EUR 6,263 thousand), including the amount earned by the 
then CEO of the Parent until 25 October 2017, Tomás García Madrid, as express economic compen-
sation for post-contractual non-competition amounting to EUR 6,022 thousand, EUR 11 thousand 
(2016: EUR 12 thousand) for other benefits relating to life insurance policies and EUR  283 thou-
sand in employee welfare plan contributions (2016: EUR 132 thousand).

No advances or loans have been granted to the Board members.

Remuneration of senior executives
The remuneration earned by the Company’s senior executives in 2017 -excluding those who are 
also members of the Board of Directors (whose remuneration is detailed above)- amounted to EUR 
8,208 thousand (2016: EUR 4,239 thousand), of which EUR 1,904 thousand correspond to variable 
remuneration (2016: EUR 1,575 thousand).

No advances or loans have been granted to the Parent’s senior executives.

Conflicts of interest
At 31 December 2017, none of the directors had notified the Board of Directors of any direct or 
indirect conflict of interest that they or persons related to them might have had with respect to the 
Parent in 2017.
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4.9 Fees paid to auditors

The detail of the fees for financial audit and other services provided by the auditors, or by other 
companies related to the auditors, of the companies comprising the Group’s continuing operations 
in 2017 and 2016 is as follows:

The detail of the fees for financial audit and other services provided by the auditors, or by other 
companies related to the auditors, of the companies comprising the Group’s discontinued operations 
in 2017 and 2016 is as follows:

“Financial Audit Services” includes the fees for professional services performed by the auditor, nor-
mally due to regulatory requirements, such as statutory audits, internal control review reports, lim-
ited reviews of periodic public information performed at listed companies, etc.

“Other Attest Services” includes the fees for professional services in which some kind of assurance is 
expressed, but which are not regulated by any mandatory legislation, such as one-off limited reviews, 
special reports on security placement processes, agreed-upon procedures reports, covenant reports, 
etc.

“Tax Counselling Services” includes the fees for the provision of services relating to all forms of tax 
counselling.

“Other Services” includes the fees for the other professional services not included in the above line 
items which, by nature, are more akin to consultancy or independent third-party services.
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5. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

The shareholders at the Extraordinary General Meeting Held on 9 January 2018 resolved to reduce 
the Parent’s share capital by EUR 7,326,425.40 by retiring 12,210,709 treasury shares of EUR 0.60 
par value each, representing a total of 4.087% of the share capital. Consequently, following the cap-
ital reduction the share capital shall amount to EUR 171,928,973.40, represented by 286,548,289 
shares of EUR 0.60 par value each.

The capital reduction approved by the shareholders at the Extraordinary General Meeting was re-
corded in a public deed and filed at the Madrid Mercantile Registry on 6 February 2018.

The shareholders at the aforementioned Extraordinary General Meeting also resolved to approve 
the transfer of shares representing all the share capital of OHL Concesiones, S.A.U. to Global In-
fraco Spain, S.L.U. (a company controlled by IFM Investors Pty Ltd.) in connection with the sale 
agreement entered into by Obrascón Huarte Lain, S.A., OHL Concesiones, S.A.U. and Global Infra-
co Spain, S.L.U. on 30 November 2017.

The shareholders also resolved to modify the Parent’s Directors’ Remuneration Policy in force, 
bringing it in line with the provisions of Article 529 novodecies of the Spanish Limited Liability 
Companies Law, and to grant extraordinary remuneration of EUR 18 million to the CEO Juan Osu-
na Gómez for his work and leadership in the process of selling OHL Concesiones, S.A.U.

6. EXPLANATION ADDED FOR TRANSLATION TO ENGLISH

These consolidated financial statements are presented on the basis of the regulatory financial re-
porting framework applicable to the Group in Spain (see Note 2.1.). Certain accounting practices 
applied by the Group that conform with that regulatory framework may not conform with other 
generally accepted accounting principles and rules.
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APPENDIX I 

Detail of the most significant companies included in the scope of consolidation at 31 December 2017

Subsidiaries (fully consolidated)
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Detail of the most significant companies included in the scope of consolidation at 31 December 2017 
Subsidiaries (fully consolidated).
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Detail of the most significant companies included in the scope of consolidation at 31 December 2017

Joint ventures and associates (accounted for using the equity method).
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APPENDIX IV

Detail of the changes in the scope of consolidation at 31 December 2017

Subsidiaries (fully consolidated)

Joint ventures and associates (accounted for using the equity method).

Companies included in the scope of consolidation in 2016 whose situation changed in 2017
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